

Dumas, Derek C.S. (2015) Germanium on silicon photonics. PhD thesis.

http://theses.gla.ac.uk/5882/

Copyright and moral rights for this thesis are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the Author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the Author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

# Germanium on Silicon Photonics

Derek C.S. Dumas

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> School of Engineering College of Science and Engineering University of Glasgow

> > Oct 15 2014

I, Derek Dumas, declare that this thesis titled "Germanium on silicon photonics" and the contributions presented in it are my own. I confirm that:

- This work was made wholly or mainly while in candidature for a research degree at this University.
- Where any part of this thesis has previously been submitted for a degree or any other qualification at this University or any other institution, this has been clearly stated.
- Where I have consulted the published work of others, this is always clearly attributed.
- Where I have quoted from the work of others, the source is always given. With the exception of such quotations, this thesis is entirely my own work.
- I have acknowledged all main sources of help.
- Where the thesis is based on work done by myself jointly with others, I have made clear exactly what was done by others and what I have contributed myself.

Derek Dumas

June 29 2014

## Abstract

Silicon photonics technologies have the potential to overcome the bandwidth limitations inherent in electrical interconnect technology. Modulation technology which is efficient both in terms of size and energy is required if silicon photonics are to replace electronics for interconnect communications. Silicon germanium technologies have the potential to not only improve the performance of current semiconductor devices but to also extend the reach of semiconductor technology into new areas such as development of a room temperature THz laser. A novel process that allows easy fabrication of Ohmic contacts to moderately doped n-type Germanium has been developed. This process has the potential to allow the realization of new devices which have been previously hampered by non-Ohmic contacts or dopant segregation problems. This work reported in this thesis also includes the design and fabrication of Ge/SiGe QCSE devices. This barrier QCSE designs have been put forward as a potential way to produce a more energy efficient modulator. Simulations of the devices show that a design with 16 nm Ge QWs and 8 nm SiGe barriers can provide effective modulation covering the entire optical communications C band with less than 3 V DC offset and achieve a contrast ratio across the band of over 3 dB. It was also shown that despite the thin barriers the wavefunctions remain well confined to the QWs suggesting that even thinner barriers are possible. MQW structures with thin barriers were grown and photodiodes fabricated from them. While the wafers did not have barriers as thin as designed they were thinner than devices previously demonstrated. From photocurrent measurements it was shown that these MQW structures were able to effectively modulate light near the 1550 nm wavelength with better performance than devices found in the literature.

# Publications

## **Journal Papers**

**D.C.S. Dumas**, K. Gallacher, S. Rhead, M. Myronov, D.R. Leadley and D.J. Paul, "Ge/SiGe Quantum Confined Stark Effect Electro-absorption Modulation with Low Voltage Swing at  $\lambda = 1550$  nm." Optics Express 22.16 (2014): 19284-19292.

**D.C.S. Dumas** and K Gallacher, R Millar, I MacLaren, M. Myronov, D.R. Leadley, and D.J. Paul, "Silver Antimony Ohmic Contacts to Moderately Doped n-type Germanium". Applied Physics Letters, 104, 162101 (2014)

#### **Conference** Papers

**D.C.S. Dumas**, K. Gallacher, S. Rhead, M. Myronov, D.R. Leadley and D.J. Paul, "Ge/SiGe Quantum Confined Stark Effect Modulators with Low Voltage Swing at  $\lambda$ = 1550 nm". Group IV Photonics 2014

P. Velha, **D. Dumas**, K. Gallacher, R. Millar, M. Myronov, D. Leadley, and D.J. Paul, (2013) "Strained Germanium Nanostructures on Silicon Emitting at >2.2  $\mu$ m Wavelength". 2013 IEEE 10th International Conference on Group IV Photonics (GFP), 23-30 Aug 2013, Seoul, South Korea.

P. Velha, D. Dumas, K. Gallacher, R. Millar, M. Myronov, D. Leadley, and D.J. Paul, "Tuning the Electroluminescence of n-Ge LEDs Using Process Induced Strain". Group IV Photonics 2012

Robert W. Kelsall, Viet Thanh Dinh, Pavlo Ivanov, Alex Valavanis, Leon J.M. Lever,

Zoran Ikonic, Philippe Velha, **Derek Dumas**, Kevin Francis Gallacher, Douglas J. Paul, John Halpin, Maksym Myronov, and David R. Leadley, (2013) "Germanium/Silicon Heterostructures for Terahertz Emission". ECS Transactions

P. Velha, K. Gallacher, D. Dumas, D. Paul, M. Myronov, D.R. Leadley. (2013) "Long Wavelength > 1.9 um Germanium for Optoelectronics Using Process Induced Strain". ECS Transactions.

P. Velha, K. Gallacher, D. Dumas, D.J. Paul, M. Myronov, D.R. Leadley. (2013)
"Direct Band-gap Electroluminescence from Strained n-Ge Light Emitting Diodes".
ECS Transactions.

# Acknowledgments

I would like to thank First, my supervisor Prof. Douglas Paul for making this PhD possible.

The Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council for funding my scholarship and this project. Project partners from Warwick University, Dr Maksym Myronov and David Leadley for growing the wafers as well as Ian MacLaren from the Physics department for assistance with the TEM measurement and analysis of the AgSb contacts.

The technical staff at the JWNC who made it a great place to fabricate the devices required for my research.

Dr Barry Holmes and Dr Kevin Gallacher for their friendship, advice and help throughout my PhD.

Dr James Grant for helpful advice and assistance especially with wirebonding when I was destroying all my devices on the final step.

I would also like to thank the rest of our research group for immeasurable advice and assistance over the course of my research including Philippe, Antonio, Gary, Muhammad, Lourdes and Ross.

My parents for their support and encouragement.

My wife, Dr Paula Dumas, without whom I never would have even been to Scotland let alone lived there for over five years and get two wonderful little girls and a PhD.

# Contents

$\mathbf{A}$	bstra	ct ii					
Ρı	Publications i						
A	cknov	vledgments v					
Li	st of	Tables xiv					
Li	st of	Figures xv					
1	Intr	oduction 1					
	1.1	Introduction					
	1.2	Decreasing Size					
	1.3	Multi Core					
	1.4	Optical Communications					
	1.5	Optical Interconnects					
	1.6	Integration					
	1.7	Silicon Photonics					

		1.7.1	Silicon Waveguides	5
		1.7.2	Silicon Detectors	5
		1.7.3	Silicon Based Lasers	5
		1.7.4	III-V Lasers on Si	6
	1.8	Germa	anium on Silicon	6
		1.8.1	Lattice Mismatch	7
	1.9	Germa	anium Epitaxy on Silicon	10
		1.9.1	Molecular Beam Epitaxy	10
		1.9.2	Chemical Vapour Deposition	10
		1.9.3	Reduction of Threading Dislocations	11
	1.10	Therm	al Mismatch Between Ge and Si	11
	1.11	Ge/Si	Ge Devices	12
	1.12	Ge on	Si Photonics	13
	1.13	Aims o	of this Thesis	15
2	Moo	dulatic	on Technologies	18
	2.1	Direct	Laser Modulation	18
	2.2	Modul	lation Technologies	19
		2.2.1	Bragg Gratings	19
		2.2.2	Thermo-optical	21
		2.2.3	All Optical Modulation	21

		2.2.4	Organics	21
		2.2.5	Plasmons	22
	2.3	Electr	o-optic Refractive	22
		2.3.1	Mode Extinction	24
		2.3.2	Mach-Zehnder Interferometer	25
		2.3.3	Dual Channel	26
	2.4	Electr	o-optic Absorption	26
		2.4.1	Franz-Keldysh	27
		2.4.2	QCSE III-V	27
		2.4.3	QCSE SiGe	28
	2.5	Si Mo	dulator Review	30
		2.5.1	Carrier Density Modulation	30
		2.5.2	Electro-optic Absorption Modulation	31
	2.6	Summ	ary	32
3	Fab	ricatio	n	33
	3.1	Introd	uction	33
	3.2	Fabric	ation	33
		3.2.1	Facilities	33
		3.2.2	Cleaving	34
		3.2.3	Cleaning	34

	3.2.4	Patterning	34
	3.2.5	Metal Deposition	35
	3.2.6	Dry Etching	35
	3.2.7	Silicon Nitride Deposition	35
3.3	Photo	lithography	36
	3.3.1	Photoresists	36
	3.3.2	Dehydration Bake	36
	3.3.3	Resist Spinning	37
	3.3.4	Soft Bake	37
	3.3.5	Exposure	38
	3.3.6	Post Bake	38
	3.3.7	Development	38
	3.3.8	Mask Design	38
	3.3.9	Alignment	39
3.4	Electr	on Beam Lithography	40
	3.4.1	Electron Beam Lithography Tool	40
	3.4.2	Electron Beam Resists	41
	3.4.3	Proximity Effect	43
	3.4.4	Dose Testing	43
3.5	Metal	Deposition	44

		3.5.1	Thermal Evaporation	44
		3.5.2	Electron Beam Evaporation	45
		3.5.3	Metal Sputtering	46
	3.6	Etchin	g	46
		3.6.1	Wet Etching	46
		3.6.2	Dry Etching	47
		3.6.3	Dry Etching Recipes	48
	3.7	Dielec	tric deposition $\ldots$	50
	3.8	Summ	ary	50
				51
4	Silv	er Ant	imony Ohmic Contacts to n-Ge	91
4	<b>Silv</b> 4.1	er Ant Introd	uction	<b>5</b> 1
4	<b>Silv</b> 4.1	er Ant Introd 4.1.1	Theory of Contacts	51 51
4	<b>Silv</b> 4.1	er Ant Introd 4.1.1 4.1.2	Imony Office Contacts to n-Ge         uction          Theory of Contacts          Ohmic Contacts to n-Ge	51 52 56
4	<b>Silv</b> 4.1	rer Ant Introd 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3	Imony Office Contacts to n-Ge         uction         Theory of Contacts         Ohmic Contacts to n-Ge         Growth Issues	51 52 56 57
4	<b>Silv</b> 4.1	er Ant Introd 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4	Imony Office Contacts to n-Ge         uction	51 52 56 57 57
4	<b>Silv</b> 4.1 4.2	er Ant Introd 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 Silver	Imony Onmic Contacts to n-Ge         uction         Theory of Contacts         Ohmic Contacts to n-Ge         Growth Issues         Characterization of Contacts         Antimony Ohmic Contacts	51 52 56 57 57 63
4	<ul><li>Silv</li><li>4.1</li><li>4.2</li></ul>	er Ant Introd 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 Silver 4.2.1	Imony Onmic Contacts to n-Ge         uction	51 52 56 57 57 63 63
4	Silv 4.1 4.2	er Ant Introd 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 Silver 4.2.1 4.2.2	Imony Onmic Contacts to n-Ge         uction         Theory of Contacts         Ohmic Contacts to n-Ge         Growth Issues         Characterization of Contacts         Antimony Ohmic Contacts         Wafer for Contact Development         Fabrication of Contacts	51 52 56 57 57 63 63 64
4	<ul> <li>Silv</li> <li>4.1</li> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> </ul>	er Ant Introd 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 Silver 4.2.1 4.2.2 Compa	Imony Onmic Contacts to n-Ge         uction         Theory of Contacts         Ohmic Contacts to n-Ge         Growth Issues         Growth Issues         Characterization of Contacts         Antimony Ohmic Contacts         Wafer for Contact Development         Fabrication of Contacts         arison with Literature	51 52 56 57 57 63 63 63 64 68

	4.5	Summ	ary	70
5	$\mathbf{Sim}$	ulation	n of Low Voltage QCSE Designs	71
	5.1	Introd	uction	71
	5.2	Physic	es of QCSE	71
		5.2.1	Quantum Wells	72
		5.2.2	Heterojunctions	74
		5.2.3	Crystal Structure	74
		5.2.4	Band Structures	75
		5.2.5	Strain Effects	78
		5.2.6	Ge and SiGe Band Structure	79
		5.2.7	Band Structure Engineering	79
		5.2.8	Optical Absorption	81
		5.2.9	Quantum Confined Stark Effect	81
	5.3	Simula	ation of QCSE	82
		5.3.1	Numerical Simulation	83
		5.3.2	Simulation of QCSE Structures	83
		5.3.3	Simulation of Edwards Device	84
		5.3.4	Simulation of Designs	86
		5.3.5	Simulation of Grown Structures	89
	5.4	Future	e Work	95

	5.5	Summ	ary	96
6	Fab	ricated	l Low Voltage QCSE Devices	97
	6.1	Introd	uction	97
	6.2	pin Pł	notodiode	97
	6.3	Wafer	Growth	99
	6.4	Fabric	ation	100
		6.4.1	Mask Design	101
		6.4.2	Process	102
	6.5	Measu	rements	104
		6.5.1	Contact Quality	104
		6.5.2	Dark Current	105
		6.5.3	FTIR	105
		6.5.4	Measuring Absorption Efficiency	108
	6.6	Electr	ical Analysis	108
		6.6.1	Contacts	108
		6.6.2	Diode Current-voltage	109
	6.7	Electr	oabsorption Analysis	113
		6.7.1	Quantum Well Width	113
		6.7.2	Spectral Shift with Applied Bias	114
		6.7.3	Absorption Efficiency	116

		6.7.4 Contrast Ratios $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	7
	6.8	Comparison to Simulated Results	9
	6.9	Comparison to Literature	.9
	6.10	Future Work	20
	6.11	Summary	22
7	Con	clusions 12	3
	7.1	Conclusions and Future Work	23

## Bibliography

127

# List of Tables

2.1	Comparison of Si modulators demonstrated in the literature	32
4.1	The contact type that arises for a AgSb alloy on moderately doped n-Ge annealed at different temperatures. The specific contact resistivity is included for the Ohmic contacts.	66
5.1	Well and Barrier widths of QCSE as designed	87
5.2	Well and barrier widths of the QCSE wafers from measurements made by collaborators at Warwick University	91
6.1	Well and barrier widths of QCSE as designed and as grown from mea- surements made by collaborators at Warwick University.	100
6.2	Layer composition of QCSE as designed and as grown from measure- ments made by collaborators at Warwick University	101
6.3	Probability that a device with a mesa structure of the given size will contain a pit in the mesa structure.	110

# List of Figures

1.1	Decrease in cost per transistor over time and the increase in cost for as- sociated lithography tools required for fabrication. The decrease in cost per transistor has lead to increased demand, allowing for the increased investment in more advanced production tools and research required to drive down cost per transistor	2
1.2	Diagram of accommodation of lattice mismatch for a film with higher lattice constant then the substrate. a) Lattice constant for each material in bulk, b) film accommodating lattice mismatch by strain; compression parallel to surface leads to expansion orthogonal to surface, and c) film accommodating lattice mismatch by misfit dislocation; missing columns allows film to relax towards bulk lattice	7
1.3	Example of crosshatching from Ge on Si wafers. Optical microscope image of surface of wafer. The lines of the crosshatching that are visible are depressions that are the result of misfit dislocations	9
1.4	Diagram of accommodation of lattice mismatch for a film with higher lattice constant then the substrate. a) Ge film accommodating lattice mismatch by misfit dislocation is fully relaxed at growth temperature, b) Shrinkage of lattice constants due to thermal expansion when reducing temperature from growth to room temperature, Si substrate shrinks less than Ge film, c) Ge layer on Si at room temperature is tensile strained due to different thermal expansion coefficient between Si substrate and Co film	19
		$\perp Z$

2.1	Diagram of an acoustic Bragg grating modulator where the Bragg grat- ing is turned on and off by turning on and off an acoustic wave. When Bragg grating is off the incident light is not refracted (solid arrows). When the Bragg grating is on with a period of $\Lambda$ the light is refracted by an angle of $2\theta_B$ .	20
2.2	Schematic of the effect of a change in refractive index on the propagation of a light wave. An applied voltage changes the refractive index in the material as seen between a) and b) In this case b) has a slightly higher refractive index than a). This slight change in refractive index leads to a change in phase along the length of the material. c) shows the sum of the two waves at each point along the material. The peak to peak amplitude of c) is related to the phase shift between a) and b)	22
2.3	Diagram of a waveguide using electro-optic refractive effect to modulate the signal via cutoff frequency method. As voltage is applied to the top contact, $n_2$ approaches $n_3$ and confinement of optical mode decreases.	24
2.4	Diagram of an integrated Mach-Zehnder interferometer using electro- optic refractive effect to modulate the signal. Each arm contains elec- tro reflective material and electrical contact. As opposite voltages are applied to the arms each path is phase shifted in opposite directions. When the light recombines at the output the phase shift difference leads to destructive interference	25
2.5	Cross-section of an integrated Si Mach-Zehnder interferometer using electro-optic refractive effect to modulate the signal. Waveguide is com- posed of n-type $(N_D \approx 5 \times 10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3})$ and p-type $(N_A \approx 7 \times 10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3})$ doped Si connected through higher doped (N+ and P+) Si to highly doped Si contact areas (N++ and P++), on top of a buried oxide (BOX) layer	26
2.6	Side and top view of a QCSE modulator butt coupled to a SOI waveg- uide on a SOI wafer.	29
2.7	Side and top view of a QCSE modulator coupled evanescently to a SOI waveguide on a SOI wafer. Taper length and shape should be optimized to lower coupling losses.	30

3.1	Difference between negative and positive tone demonstrated by metal deposition	36
3.2	Comparison of negative and positive resist choices when creating bond pads connected to mesa tops. Resists are much thicker immediately beside a tall mesa structure. Positive resists are not fully exposed, leaving resist at the corner after development, while negative resists simply require slightly longer development time to be cleared	37
3.3	An photolithographic alignment marker as designed in L-edit. Blue areas correspond to the first layer which corresponds to metalized areas during alignment. Red areas correspond to second layer which will be transparent areas on the mask. Purple areas are areas of overlap. The large central cross is used for course alignment ( $\approx 5 \ \mu$ m) while the vernier marks are used for fine alignment (< 1 $\mu$ m)	39
3.4	Diagram of the beam column of the VB6 electron beam lithography tool available in the JWNC. The magnetic and electrostatic lenses focus the beam while the magnetic deflectors control the position on the sample.	41
3.5	Illustration of PMMA bilayer using PMMA 2041 on top of PMMA 2010. After exposure and development an undercut profile is created, improving metal liftoff reliability for small features.	42
3.6	Illustration of forward and back scattering that leads to the proximity effect during electron beam exposure of a resist. Proximity effect causes the exposed area of the resist to be wider than designed if not properly taken into account during exposure	43
3.7	Dose test for 2D array of 1 $\mu$ m radius circles patterned in HSQ. Scanning electron microscope image of circle arrays with three different doses after development. a) correct dosage, b) slightly overexposed, and c) highly overexposed	44
3.8	A schematic diagram of an electron beam metal evaporator and a ther- mal evaporator	45

3.9	Comparison of metal deposition by electron beam or thermal evapora- tion vs sputtering. Sputtering creates a conformal layer of metal cover- ing the sidewalls while evaporation deposits mainly on the top surface	40
	of a sample	40
3.10	Illustration of isotropic and anisotropic etching. Isotropic etches such as wet etches remove material in all directions at the same rate, while anisotropic etching can etch vertically.	47
3.11	Plot of the calculated reflectometry data from Matlab simulation of QCSE device. Smooth oscillations during etch though upper layers of constant composition correspond to equation 3.2 while sharp oscillations correspond to transitions between barrier and quantum well regions	49
4.1	A schematic diagram of an ideal metal-semiconductor contact. a) Energy levels for metal and semiconductor before contact. b) Energy levels for metal and semiconductor after contact in ideal case	52
4.2	Energy diagram of metal-semiconductor interface with interface states for n-type semiconductor.	53
4.3	A comparison of the three conduction regimes in a Ge contact. As doping level is increased field emission increases to the point where it is dominant over thermionic emission. Regimes of thermionic (TE), thermionic field (TFE), and field emission (FE) are shown	57
4.4	A schematic diagram of a CBKR structure. Probes are placed on the ends of each arm with the current flowing left to right while the voltage difference is measured between the upper and lower arms	59
4.5	A schematic diagram of a TLM structure. $L$ is the length of each contact, $Z$ is the width, and $d$ is the gap spacing, shown for one of the pairs of contacts.	60
4.6	A schematic diagram of a CTLM structure $L$ is the radius of the inner contact while $d$ is the gap spacing	61

4.7	An example of the measured and corrected resistance values for a CTLM structure with the linear fit used to calculate the contact resistivity and sheet resistance. The example is a Ag/Sb (99%/1%) alloy on n-Ge CTLM structure with 50 $\mu$ m radius annealed at 400 °C	62
4.8	The current density versus voltage characteristics measured at different temperatures for a 90 nm AgSb alloy on n-Ge contact annealed at 400 °C for 5 min. For comparison the room temperature IV for the NiGe contact annealed at 340 °C is displayed (black line).	65
4.9	The semi-log current density versus voltage characteristics for a 90 nm 99% Ag / 1% Sb alloy on n-Ge annealed at 300-550 °C. The NiGe sample annealed at 340 °C is also shown (black line). The AgSb on n-Ge contacts annealed at 400 and 450 °C for 5 min are clearly Ohmic.	66
4.10	Surface roughness map of the AgSb on moderately doped n-Ge contact annealed at 500 °C (left) and 550 °C (right) measured with an atomic force microscope. The smooth surface in the bottom of the figure cor- responds to an area of blank Ge	67
4.11	HAADF images of a AgSb on n-Ge contact annealed at 400 °C for 5 minutes.	68
5.1	First three wavefunctions calculated for infinite and finite (1V deep) 10 nm quantum wells. In the infinite quantum well the wavefunctions are completely confined to the well, while in the more realistic finite quantum well the wavefunctions extend into the barriers. Due to the extended size of the finite wavefunctions the energy level is lower than the energy level of the infinite well wavefunctions. The difference between corresponding wavefunctions increases as the energy approaches the top of the barrier.	72
5.2	Types of band alignment between two materials A and B, type I strad- dling, type II staggered, and type III broken. With type I alignment, if material B has a smaller bandgap than A and is between two lay- ers of A, there will be a quantum well in both the valence band and	
	conduction band in material B	74

5.3	Unit cell showing the position of atoms in a diamond crystal, such as Si, Ge or SiGe crystals	75
5.4	Calculated energy as a function of $k$ for a 1D crystal structure. The band gap is noticeable between bands 1 and 2, and 2 and 3, while the band gap between 3 and 4 exists but is barely noticeable on this plot. $U = 5 \text{ eV}$ , $d = 0.3 \text{ nm}$ , $l_{\text{max}} = 5$ . For $l_{\text{max}}$ values greater than three there was no noticeable change in the energies calculated for the first four energy bands.	76
5.5	Brillouin zone is a face centre cubic structure for diamond crystal struc- tures such as Ge, SiGe and Si. Energy minima points for the conduction band in Ge are $\Gamma$ and L points as well as on the $\Delta$ line	77
5.6	Diagram of the unit cell of a crystal showing the effects on its shape of a) hydrostatic strain, and b) biaxial strain	79
5.7	Band structure for bulk (unstrained) SiGe and Ge as calculated using nanohub's Band Structure Tool [1]. An increase in Si content increases the energy of the conduction band minimum at the $\Gamma$ point and decreases the valence band maximum leading to type I alignment between Ge and SiGe.	80
5.8	Contour plot of the calculated effect on the band structure of biaxial strain for $\operatorname{Si}_{1-y}\operatorname{Ge}_y$ alloys. The $\operatorname{Si}_{1-y}\operatorname{Ge}_y$ alloys are fully strained on a fully relaxed $\operatorname{Si}_{1-x}\operatorname{Ge}_x$ substrate. a) shows the direct band gap between the $\Gamma$ valley in the conduction band and the maximum of the valence band. b) shows the difference in energy between the heavy hole (HH) valley and the light hole (LH) valley. Positive values correspond to HH being higher than LH in energy. For compressive biaxial strain the LH band edge is higher in energy than the HH band edge while for tensile strain the HH is higher in energy than the LH.	81
5.9	The calculated wavefunctions and energy levels confined to a 14 nm Ge quantum well between 7 nm $Si_{0.05}Ge_{0.95}$ barriers in a 10 quantum well device. a) at zero applied bias, electric field is due to built-in voltage, and b) with an additional applied bias of 1 V. Conduction and valence band wavefunctions shift closer together in energy while moving further apart in space.	82

5.10	An example of the change in spectrum as tensile strain in virtual sub- strate is increased. Transitions shift to higher wavelengths (lower ener- gies) with the light hole (LH) transition changing more than the heavy	
	hole (HH)	85
5.11	Absorption spectra for QCSE devices in the Edwards paper. a) Measurement spectra replotted from Edwards [2]. b) 1 QW simulation spectra using TEM measured structure from Edwards	86
5.12	Calculated absorption spectra for MQW QCSE SiGe/Ge structures as designed, using a simulation of a single quantum well at an applied bias of 0 V	87
5.13	Wavefunctions for a) 9 nm QW and b) 16 nm QW designs shown at 1) flat band, 2) built-in voltage and 3) with 2 V applied bias. As can be seen from the slope of the band edges, designs with thinner QW and barriers have a higher electric field for the same voltage across device. Despite having a smaller electric field the larger devices have a larger energy shift and less overlap between the hole wavefunctions and the electron wavefunctions.	88
5.14	Calculated absorption spectra for 14 nm QW MQW QCSE SiGe/Ge structures as designed with multiple applied biases using a simulation of a single quantum well region.	88
5.15	Calculated absorption spectra for QW MQW QCSE SiGe/Ge structures as designed at -0.1 V and 1.1 V ( $1.2$ V swing) applied, using a simulation of a single quantum well region. The shift in absorption wavelength increases for larger QW structures.	89
5.16	Contrast ratio as a function of wavelength calculated from the simulated absorption spectra for QW MQW QCSE SiGe/Ge structures as designed at -0.1 V and 1.1 V (1.2 V swing) applied using a simulation of a single quantum well region. The shift in absorption wavelength	
	increases for larger QW structures.	90

5.17	Calculated contrast ratio from the absorption spectra for 16 nm QW MQW QCSE SiGe/Ge structures as designed with 0.3 V swing voltage with DC offset from -0.1 V to 2.7V a using a simulation of a single quantum well region.	90
5.18	Calculated contrast ratio from the absorption spectra for 12 nm QW MQW QCSE SiGe/Ge structures as designed with 0.3 V swing voltage with DC offset from -0.1 V to 2.7V a using a simulation of a single quantum well region.	91
5.19	Calculated absorption spectra for 11.3 nm QW structure from a single QW simulation. Shift in absorption peak position and decrease in height from increase in applied bias shows the QCSE.	92
5.20	Comparison of the calculated absorption spectra from the 14 nm design structure and the 13.6 nm as grown structures for both a single QW simulation and a three QW simulation	93
5.21	Comparison of the wavefunctions for a) the 14 nm design and b) the 13.6 nm as grown structures at 1) flat band, 2) built in voltage, and 3) 2 V applied	93
5.22	Energy difference between 1st $\Gamma$ energy level and either 1st heavy hole (HH1) energy level (squares) or 1st light hole (LH1) energy level (solid lines) calculated for QCSE structures from -0.1 applied bias to 3.0 applied bias using single QW simulation. The as grown 13.6 nm LH1 transition line is hard to distinguish due to being nearly overlapped by the design 12 nm HH1 transition line	94
6.1	Top: diagram of ideal pin diode with hole rich p, electron rich n and car- rier depleted i regions. Bottom: current-voltage plot of diode measured with 1 mA current limit in forward bias. The three different regimes are shown: a) reverse bias where electron and holes are pulled apart by the electric field and current is low, b) unbiased where built-in potential sets up a small electric field, and c) forward bias where electrons and	

98

6.2	Structure of the QCSE devices as grown and measured by Warwick University collaborators
6.3	TEM image of the structure of the 13.6 nm QW QCSE wafer measured by Warwick University collaborators
6.4	Design of photodiode mask from L-edit, showing alignment markers, and test structures alongside the photodiodes. A marker layer, which contains clamp areas, alignment markers, and alignment crosses for use with e-beam lithography processes is shown but was not transferred to the photomask
6.5	Schematic diagram of the steps required to fabricate a QCSE photodiode.102
6.6	Optical microscope image of a completed 100 $\mu m$ radius SiGe/Ge QCSE photodiode. Diode has been wirebonded to a leadless chip carrier 104
6.7	Calculated spectrum and interferogram of a photocurrent measurement for one and two wavelengths of light, and an example of a measure- ment from an FTIR. Measured spectrum and interferogram are from an QCSE photocurrent measurement. The one and two wavelength in- terferograms are sampled from one and two cosine functions respectively and Fourier transformed into spectra using MATLAB 106
6.8	Schematic diagram of the setup of the FTIR system used to measure the photocurrent of the QCSE photodiodes
6.9	Measured and corrected resistance values from top and bottom contact CTLM test structures on QCSE photodiodes
6.10	Optical microscope image of surface of QCSE wafer showing pits. Inset shows single pit at higher magnification
6.11	Trace of height across pit on surface of QCSE wafer before processing, using an atomic force microscope (AFM), inset shows contour map of pit also from AFM measurement. Pit depth of >400 nm is comparable to the height of the active layers of the QCSE wafers

6	.12	Comparison of current for diodes without pits, with pits on mesa and with pits under top contact.	112
6	.13	Microscope image of diodes a) with pits under top contact, b) on mesa but not under top contact, c) and without pits on mesa. $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$	112
6	.14	Photocurrent absorption spectrum for QCSE diodes at zero applied bias as measured with a FTIR	113
6	.15	Transmission spectrum of normal air, $CaF_2$ beamsplitter and output spectrum of tungsten source. Peaks due to water vapour and wave- length range of interest to this work are highlighted. With water vapour removed spectrum is flat over the wavelength range of interest	114
6	.16	Spectra for various applied biases for a QCSE device (11.3 nm QW) as measured using FTIR setup	115
6	5.17	Shift in absorption peak with applied bias for QCSE devices as measured using FTIR setup.	115
6	.18	(Left) Contrast ratios for a voltage swing of 1.0 V for DC bias voltages from 0.0 V to 2.0 V, measured using the TLS setup with 200 mW power and a 11.3 nm QW QCSE photodiode. (Right) Measurement data used to calculate contrast ratios.	118
6	5.19	Comparison between simulated absorption spectra (no marker) for 11.3 nm QW QCSE and measured absorption spectra (square markers) as measured using FTIR.	119

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

### 1.1 Introduction

Moore predicted in 1965 that the complexity of the most cost effective to manufacture integrated circuit (IC) would increase exponentially over the next 10 years [3]. This trend has continued with the number of transistors per dollar doubling approximately every two years. This trend has become known as 'Moore's Law'. The main contribution to cost reduction on a per transistor basis has been due to the reduction in the size of each transistor allowing more transistors to be fabricated on the same amount of silicon. The smaller transistors also require less power to operate and can operate at higher frequencies. The rapid increase in functionality at a given cost has been fuelled by a virtuous cycle where the increase in functionality leads to more demand which leads to more investment which leads to an increase in functionality. The increased investment is required to continue to improve the functionality because while the cost per device has decreased exponentially the cost of the lithography tools required for fabrication has increased exponentially (Fig. 1.1) [4].

#### 1.2 Decreasing Size

While the power required per transistor decreases there is an increase in total power dissipation from the smaller and more abundant passive metal interconnect layers which are used for data transmission, signalling and clocking. As the clock speed is increased this leads to more heating in the IC. As the chip features are scaled down,



**Figure 1.1:** Decrease in cost per transistor over time and the increase in cost for associated lithography tools required for fabrication. The decrease in cost per transistor has lead to increased demand, allowing for the increased investment in more advanced production tools and research required to drive down cost per transistor.

the number of transistors is increased and the total size tends to stay constant. The propagation delay per unit length will increase as the wires get smaller in cross-section [5]. The propagation delay in a single large processor will begin to cause problems as the frequency is increased. In order to limit the impact of propagation delay processor fabrication has now shifted from a single large processor running at high clock speeds to multiple independent cores running at moderate clock speeds. Increases in performance required for continued expansion are found through the addition of more cores to a processor.

### 1.3 Multi Core

Multi core processors are computing components with two or more independent processing units within a single chip[6]. Having multiple smaller independent processors instead of one large processor lowers the maximum distance a signal needs to travel within a clock cycle reducing the length of interconnects. While the shift towards multi core processors alleviates the interconnect problems in the short term, as more and more cores are added the interconnect problem will return. The interconnect problem will shift from being between transistors within a core to being between cores and other components such as memory. A potential solution is optical chip-to-chip and intra-chip interconnects which would provide much higher data throughput while not suffering from the RC propagation delay that affects electronic interconnects.

## **1.4 Optical Communications**

Optical communications is dominant in the field of long distance communications. Optical signals over optical fibres have a much lower attenuation compared to electrical signals over copper wires, as low as 0.2 dB/ km [7]. The attenuation in optical fibres is wavelength dependent. There are windows of extremely low attenuation at 1300 nm and 1550 nm. Most optical communications equipment is therefore designed to operate at or near one of these two wavelengths. Optical fibres have many advantages that allow for much higher information density than copper wires. Optical fibres are many times thinner than copper wires and do not require bulky shielding to prevent crosstalk within a bundle of fibres. In optical fibres light of different wavelengths will not interact, allowing wavelength division multiplexing where multiple wavelengths of light are used to carry independent signals through the same fibre, vastly increasing the information carrying capacity of a single optical fibre. Optical fibres currently in use can stretch for thousands of kilometres with amplification every 100 km or more and carry 100 Gbit/s per wavelength using upwards of 128 wavelengths equating to Tbit/s speeds over a single fibre. Currently the transmitters and receivers are based on III-V InP technologies and can provide 40+ wavelengths detection or transmission within a single chip [8].

## **1.5** Optical Interconnects

While long distance optical communications is a mature technology, the requirements for on chip or chip to chip communications are substantially different. The density required for chip to chip or on chip optical interconnects requires lower power dissipation, small latency, small physical size and to be integrated with Si electronics, none of which are required for or satisfied by current long distance optical communications technologies. In order to achieve optical interconnects at the chip scale, integration of all the required optical components into standard Si electronics is required. The required components are detectors, light sources, waveguides, and modulators. High quality waveguides can be fabricated from silicon on insulator (SOI) wafers using complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor (CMOS) compatible processes [9]. Compatible photodetectors can be fabricated from Ge or SiGe to operate at various wavelengths. Light sources are one of the main challenges to optical integration on Si. An electrically driven Ge laser has been demonstrated that promises to be compatible with standard CMOS processes [10]. Many different types of modulators such as the ones demonstrated in this work have the potential to work with an optical interconnect system and will be discussed in more detail in the following chapters.

## 1.6 Integration

Integration of components refers to the fabrication of multiple devices within a single discrete package. Integration has many benefits including increased performance, smaller size, lower cost, and greater utility. Components that are monolithically integrated are made on the same substrate with common processing steps. While for hybrid integration, multiple substrates are processed separately and the components are assembled afterwards [11].

To be monolithically integrated with standard electronic processors, photonic devices must be fully compatible with CMOS. CMOS compatibility requires that devices can be fabricated in CMOS fabrication facilities [11]. This restricts the materials and processes available for use in the fabrication of CMOS compatible photonic devices. The main CMOS compatibility requirement is the use of a Si wafer as the substrate. Metals such as gold and III-V semiconductors are incompatible with CMOS fabrication.

Hybrid integration allows completely different processes and materials to be used for the fabrication of different components. At the back end of fabrication the components on the two or more separate substrates are combined using integration processes such as flip chip bonding [12]. This allows greater flexibility in the processes available for different components. With hybrid integration III-V materials could be used with Si photonics, but would not benefit from the high volume fabrication processes developed for CMOS production.

### **1.7** Silicon Photonics

Guided wave components on Si were first investigated by Soref and colleagues [13, 14]. Both passive and active components such as waveguides and modulators were investigated. Si photonics has since become a promising potential solution to the problem facing electrical interconnects as device sizes shrink. Integration of Si photonics components with electrical CMOS components has been actively pursued by a number of companies. Optical data transceivers with data rates of 100 Gbit/s using silicon photonic devices are readily available and are in use for short range communications such as with server clusters and data centres. Generally these photonic integrated circuits make use of monolithically integrated Si modulators and Ge photodetectors and III-V lasers integrated via hybrid integration. One of the key components preventing full monolithic integration is a compatible Si based light source

#### 1.7.1 Silicon Waveguides

Optical waveguides can be readily fabricated from SOI wafers. An SOI wafer contains an insulating layer sandwiched between two Si layers. Any thickness for the layers can be chosen. A standard material for the insulating layer is  $SiO_2$  which has a refractive index of 1.47 for 1550 nm light (much lower than Si which is 3.48 at 1550 nm). A simple mesa structure of the correct dimensions on the surface will create a high index core which will guide light. The high index contrast allows the fabrication of small waveguideing structures. The small waveguides allow high density photonic circuits to be produced improving the economics of integration with CMOS electronics.

#### 1.7.2 Silicon Detectors

While pure silicon photodetectors can be fabricated from a simple pin structure, due to the large bandgap Si is transparent to wavelengths greater than 1100 nm [15]. The Si pin detectors are therefore not compatible with the communications wavelength bands at 1300 nm and 1550 nm. Si Schottky-barrier photodetectors are based on the absorption of light in a silicide region generating carriers which are excited across the interface into the semiconductor. With the use of a CMOS compatible metal such as Ni, devices have been fabricated which demonstrate detection across the entire communications band of wavelengths [16]. These devices show good potential for integrated detectors at 1550 nm for silicon photonics.

#### 1.7.3 Silicon Based Lasers

Several techniques for lasing on Si have been demonstrated but they are not compatible with monolithic integration. Optical pumping of a Si waveguide can produce lasing through stimulated Raman scattering processes. A pin structure is required to sweep out carriers from the waveguide to lower the free carrier absorption to allow gain [17]. The requirement for optical pumping is not compatible with large scale integration into Si CMOS. Light amplification in Er doped silicon fibres is widely used for optical communications and has been investigated for use to achieve lasing in Si. Er doped Si is highly inefficient due to strong Er carrier interaction. Er doped Si nanocrystals within SiO<sub>2</sub> matrix prevent the Er carrier interaction and allow optical gain near 1550 nm [18]. While devices of this type have demonstrated both photoluminescence and electricaluminescence, the optical gain is limited by the low solubility of Er. Injection of carriers into the Er doped Si nanocrystals requires very high electric fields which are not suitable for an efficient electrically pumped laser integrated with Si electronics.

#### 1.7.4 III-V Lasers on Si

Direct gap semiconductors have demonstrated that they can be used to produce efficient electrically pumped lasers. The vast majority of semiconductor lasers are of this type. Direct gap III-V materials can be directly grown on Si but the large lattice mismatch results in misfits and dislocations which increase optical loss. An alternative is to grow the III-V materials on a lattice matched SiGe alloy buffer grown on Si [19]. The most advanced III-V lasers make use of hybrid integration techniques. This allows the III-V lasers to be grown on an SOI wafer separately from the rest of the components then bonded together at the back end of the fabrication process. The disadvantage of these methods which make use of III-V semiconductors is that the processes are incompatible with CMOS fabrication.

#### **1.8** Germanium on Silicon

The possible design parameters for a wafer are greatly expanded by introducing Ge while still maintaining CMOS compatibility. Unlike other group IV elements the miscibility of Ge with Si is complete, allowing stable SiGe alloys with any ratio of Si to Ge. While Ge is still an indirect bandgap material the difference between the lowest indirect (0.66 eV) and the direct band gap (0.8 eV) is quite small. An energy of 0.8 eV corresponds to a wavelength of 1550 nm which allows the creation of optical devices which can use the communications wavelength. SiGe heterostructures can be engineered by changing the elemental ratios which can affect the electrical and optical properties of the material. Another dimension added to the design toolbox is the ability to control the strain by using different Ge fractions. Ge has already been incorporated into Si electronic CMOS processes; source and drain regions of p-MOSFETs use SiGe



Figure 1.2: Diagram of accommodation of lattice mismatch for a film with higher lattice constant then the substrate. a) Lattice constant for each material in bulk, b) film accommodating lattice mismatch by strain; compression parallel to surface leads to expansion orthogonal to surface, and c) film accommodating lattice mismatch by misfit dislocation; missing columns allows film to relax towards bulk lattice.

alloys to improve the mobilities in Si transistors by the addition of strain [20].

Despite the issued associated with the lattice mismatch, using Si wafers as a base for Ge technology has many benefits even for high Ge content heterostructures. Si wafers are less expensive, more durable, and of a higher purity than Ge wafers [21], and using Si wafers allows one to take advantage of some of the mature CMOS foundry technology which has been developed for Si electronics. Currently SiGe wafers cannot easily be created with any Ge concentration directly from a melt due to the differences in Si and Ge solidus liquidus curves. Some small scale experiments have shown a possibility for directly growth but only for crystals of 2 mm diameter and a ratio of 1:1 [22].

#### 1.8.1 Lattice Mismatch

In general there will be a lattice mismatch between two different materials such as Si and Ge or SiGe alloys of different Ge concentrations (Fig. 1.2). For the growth of a single crystal film on a substrate the mismatched lattice constant will be dealt with in one of several ways depending on what is more energetically favourable. For growth of Ge on top of Si the underlying substrate is assumed to be much thicker than the film and retain its bulk properties. Since Ge has a larger lattice constant than Si, the Ge film will be deformed in one of the following ways to accommodate the lattice difference [23]:

- Film accommodation by strain. The film grows pseudomorphically, matching the in-plane lattice constant but with an increased lattice constant normal to the surface. The strain will break the symmetry of the normal crystal structure of the film resulting in the splitting of normally degenerate energy bands.
- Film accommodation by misfit dislocations at the interface. Some atomic planes in the substrate do not have matching planes in the film. This allows the film to relax towards its bulk lattice constant. A film can be partially relaxed by misfit dislocations and be partially strained. A higher density of misfit locations will increase the relaxation of the film.
- Morphological relaxation. Surface undulations create an uneven surface and non-uniform crystal orientation.
- Cracks. Large breaks in the material can form, rendering the material unsuitable for device fabrication.

Any thin film with a higher lattice constant than the substrate will accommodate the mismatch in one or more of these ways. If the lattice constant of the film is less than that of the substrate accommodation by strain will result in a decrease in the lattice constant normal to the surface, and accommodation by misfit dislocations will result in some atomic planes in the film not having matching planes in the substrate. Morphological relaxation and cracking will still be possible forms of mismatch accommodation.

The form that the accommodation takes depends on the thickness of the film, the lattice mismatch between the film and the substrate, and the temperature at which the film is grown. For a given set of substrate and film materials there will be a critical thickness below which the material will be fully strained and above which relaxation can occur. A meta-stable region of lattice mismatch and thicknesses exists in which unrelaxed layers beyond the critical thickness can be grown at low temperatures. An unrelaxed layer grown in the meta-stable region can relax if the temperature is increased sufficiently. For Si<sub>(1-x)</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> alloys grown on a Si (001) substrate the critical thickness is ~600 nm for x = 0.10, ~300 nm for x = 0.20, ~150 nm for x = 0.32, ~50 nm for x = 0.40 and ~20 nm for x = 0.52 [24]. The exponential decrease in critical thickness as a function of Ge content means that higher Ge content heterostructures will have significant dislocation densities for even extremely thin layers if grown directly on Si substrates.

When a series of thin layers of different lattice constants are grown on a thick substrate there is another critical thickness which is the critical thickness of the heterostructure



**Figure 1.3:** Example of crosshatching from Ge on Si wafers. Optical microscope image of surface of wafer. The lines of the crosshatching that are visible are depressions that are the result of misfit dislocations.

as a whole [25]. The critical thickness of the entire heterostructure is roughly equal to the critical thickness of a layer with a Ge content equal to the average Ge content of the heterostructure. Therefore, if the average Ge content of the entire heterostructure is equal to the Ge content of the fully relaxed substrate or virtual substrate, then as long as each individual layer is less than its own critical thickness, the entire structure will not relax. Designing a structure in this way is known as strain symmetrization or strain balancing.

A misfit dislocation is not a single missing atom but a line segment of missing atoms across the surface of the interface. If the line does not reach the edge of the wafer it will at some point create threading dislocations which thread upwards towards the surface at  $60^{\circ}$  angles on the (111) plane. The misfit dislocations due to strain relaxation form lines of misfits along the two <110> directions. This leads to a cross hatch pattern on the surface of the wafer [26] (Fig. 1.3). The roughness due to the crosshatching can be detrimental to devices and device fabrication [27]. Crosshatching can be suppressed by growth techniques that confine dislocations to buffer layers [28]. A high density of threading dislocations is detrimental to electronic and optoelectronic devices since they leave dangling bonds which alter the electrical properties of the material, leading to, for example, higher dark currents in photodiodes.

### 1.9 Germanium Epitaxy on Silicon

In order to produce Ge on Si wafers the Ge is epitaxially grown on to a Si wafer. While the Si wafer is sliced from a cylinder formed from molten Si in a standard and inexpensive process, the Ge and SiGe layers must be grown layer by layer in a precisely controlled chamber. Two major techniques are available for growth of Ge on Si wafers.

#### 1.9.1 Molecular Beam Epitaxy

In molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) the layers are grown by producing a beam of molecules which impinges and sticks to the surface of the wafer [29]. MBE is performed in an ultra clean chamber at an ultra high vacuum. Temperature controlled effusion cells are used to create uniform beams of the desired material. Shutters are used to start and stop the beam without changing the temperature to allow precise control over deposition thicknesses. Independent molecular beams for Si, Ge, and dopants allow the growth of doped and intrinsic SiGe of any composition. Deposition rates for MBE can be varied arbitrarily depending on the maximum flux of material from the sources and layers as thin as two atomic monolayers can be grown. A major disadvantage of MBE is the build up of wall deposits which can peel off as fine particles which would be detrimental to high precision growth [30].

#### 1.9.2 Chemical Vapour Deposition

Chemical vapour deposition (CVD) uses gaseous compounds as the source of the material for growth. As the gases are released into a chamber containing the wafer they adsorb onto the surface. The molecules react with the surface, building up the layers and releasing volatile molecules which desorb from the surface [31]. Gases used include SiH<sub>4</sub>, GeH<sub>4</sub> for Si and Ge respectively and PH<sub>3</sub> and B<sub>2</sub>H<sub>6</sub> for n-type and p-type dopants. Different pressures and temperatures can be used which effect the quality of the structures grown. The growth rate and elemental ratio of the layers are dependent on the pressure, gas ratios, and temperature during growth and cannot be independently varied.

Reduced pressure CVD (RPCVD) ( $\approx 20 \text{ mTorr}$ ) was the method used for the growth of the wafers used in this work. In the RPCVD method the chamber pressure is reduced allowing lower temperature growth while maintaining an oxygen free surface to allow
high quality growth. The wafers used in this work were grown using an Epsilon 2000E commercial CVD tool operated by collaborators at Warwick University. Using a two temperature growth method thick layers of pure Ge are grown directly on top of a Si wafer. This is followed by a reverse graded layer down to the virtual substrate alloy concentration. Since the thick layers of Ge and the virtual substrate (> 1 $\mu$ m) are well beyond the critical thickness of Ge on Si, the layers fully relax during the growth process [32]. The process produces a fully relaxed virtual substrate of the chosen alloy concentration. The alloy concentration of the virtual substrate is chosen to minimize the strain in the active layers above to allow fully strained growth of thick structures.

### **1.9.3** Reduction of Threading Dislocations

Ge layers well beyond the critical thickness for Ge growth on Si will be fully relaxed due to misfit formation. Each threading dislocation that reaches the surface will cause a defect in the surface. Therefore, reducing the number of threading dislocations that reach the surface will produce a higher quality surface on which to grow the active layers. Threading dislocation densities for thick Ge grown directly on Si can be as high as  $10^8$  to  $10^9$  per cm. Threading dislocations can be prevented from reaching the surface if they reach the edge of the wafer or they can be annihilated through interaction with another thread. Annealing of a wafer at high temperature and increasing the thickness can reduce the density of dislocations reaching the surface [21]. Using selective growth techniques can decrease the dislocation density by decreasing the lateral distance a thread can travel before reaching an edge. Two temperature growth processes have been developed which improve the surface quality of a wafer. A thin layer grown slowly at a low temperature is followed by a thicker and faster high temperature growth. This process has been shown to produce a low threading dislocation density ( $3 \times 10^6$  per cm) [33].

## 1.10 Thermal Mismatch Between Ge and Si

Ge epitaxial growth on a Si substrate occurs at high temperature (> 500 °C). A Ge layer that is fully relaxed on Si at 500 °C will have tensile strain at room temperature. As the wafer is cooled from growth temperature to room temperature the number of misfit dislocations will not change but the natural lattice constant of both the Si and the Ge will change due to thermal expansion. The thermal expansion coefficients of Si and Ge are not equal and the Ge lattice will shrink by a higher percentage than



**Figure 1.4:** Diagram of accommodation of lattice mismatch for a film with higher lattice constant then the substrate. a) Ge film accommodating lattice mismatch by misfit dislocation is fully relaxed at growth temperature, b) Shrinkage of lattice constants due to thermal expansion when reducing temperature from growth to room temperature, Si substrate shrinks less than Ge film, c) Ge layer on Si at room temperature is tensile strained due to different thermal expansion coefficient between Si substrate and Ge film.

the Si lattice constant. The effect of thermal mismatch on a virtual substrate is that the parallel lattice constant will be larger than expected if a fully relaxed layer was assumed. This extra tensile strain should be taken into account when designing devices since, for example, in a Ge/SiGe QCSE device the extra tensile strain will shift the absorption peak to higher wavelengths.

A simple example of a thick Ge layer grown on Si at 800 K is used to explain the effect. The Ge will be fully relaxed at 800 K and its lattice constant will be 5.67684 Å the lattice constant of the Si substrate will be 5.44096 Å [34]. This difference will be compensated for by a number of misfit dislocations. As the sample is cooled to 300 K (room temperature), the lattice constant of the Si substrate will shrink to 5.43109 Å a decrease of 0.18 %, while the Ge lattice constant will want to shrink to 5.65795 Å a decrease of 0.34 %. This difference will be accommodated by the Ge film becoming tensile strained (Fig. 1.4).

## 1.11 Ge/SiGe Devices

Many different high performance devices can benefit from incorporating Ge or SiGe alloys into the design. One of the first major applications for SiGe heterostructures was the heterostructure bipolar transistor. SiGe alloys have a lower bandgap than Si does; therefore, replacing the base of a Si bipolar transistor with SiGe allows one to control the relative barrier for holes and electrons. The first patent on this technology was issued in 1977 and the first device fabricated in 1987 [23].

Si transistors can take advantage of the increase in carrier mobilities when the Si layer is epitaxially grown on relaxed a SiGe layer. Due to the lattice mismatch the Si layer will experience biaxial tensile strain which will reduce carrier scattering which increases the mobility [35]. Investigations revealed that uniaxial process induced strain provide better performance than the biaxial strain from the relaxed SiGe layer. Compressive uniaxial strain which is utilized in modern n-channel transistors can be created by using SiGe embedded into the source and drain of the transistor. p-channel transistors require tensile strain which is induced by a capping layer [36].

While resonant tunneling diodes have demonstrated improvement in logic and memory operations when integrated with transistors compared to CMOS technology, most of the demonstrations have been with III-V technology which is incompatible with Si CMOS. Recently, resonant tunneling diodes fabricated from Si and SiGe have been shown to operate as random access memory. Operation was shown at a temperature of 77 K since these device were unable to operate at room temperature. With improvements to the passivation and etching processes to allow room temperature operation they have the potential for improved performance over current memory technology due to low power operation [37].

## 1.12 Ge on Si Photonics

Ge on Si photonics is an active field of research and many devices have been demonstrated. Ge detectors have been created using a p-type region - intrinsic region - n-type region (pin) structure that operate well between 650 nm and 1300 nm with decreasing efficiency above 1500 nm. Ge on Si photodetectors have high response times due to the high carrier drift time in Ge. Ge on Si avalanche photodetectors (APD) have also been demonstrated and provide improved sensitivity compared to pin structures. APD devices combine the excellent optical absorption properties of Ge in the telecommunications wavelengths (1300 nm, 1550 nm) with the carrier multiplication ability of Si. In the high electric field gain region of the Si the carriers photogenerated in the Ge undergo a series of impact ionizations which multiply the current generated from each photon. The benefits of using a Ge on Si structure is that a pure Ge single photon avalanche diode would suffer from much higher dark current in the high field carrier multiplication region due to the smaller bandgap relative to Si, but without the Ge absorber region 1550 nm light would not be absorbed. Ge on Si avalanche diode detectors capable of detecting single photons at the communications wavelength of 1550 nm have been demonstrated. The structure consists of a three layer pin structure in Si with an intrinsic Ge layer capped with a p-type Ge layer [38]. The device is operated at reverse bias with an extremely high electric field across the Si region and a lower electric field across the Ge region.

Due to the absorption depth of 1550 nm light in Ge, surface normal devices require a thick absorption region in order to increase the total absorption of a device. A thicker absorption region increases the distance between anode and cathode which decreases the electric field for a given bias. The lower electric field lowers the carrier drift velocity, decreasing the maximum operating frequency. Fortunately, these devices can be incorporated into a waveguide structure where the absorption can be increased by increasing the length without increasing the thickness. The detectors can be incorporated into a waveguide either by being butt coupled to the end of the waveguide or directly alongside the waveguide. In a butt coupled configuration the light directly enters into the detector. If the detector is directly alongside the waveguide the evanescent tail of the light couples into the detector.

Photonic integrated circuits currently utilize III-V lasers integrated on to Si. Recent progress has been made in the fabrication of Ge on Si lasers. In 2010 Liu *et al.* [39] reported on the first demonstration of a laser from the direct gap of Ge on Si. Tensile straining and n-type doping of the Ge allowed laser operation through optical pumping. The tensile strain lowers the difference between the direct ( $\Gamma$ ) and indirect (L) conduction valleys while the high n-type doping increases the electron population in the  $\Gamma$  valley, enhancing direct gap light emission. Electrically pumped lasers have additional sources of loss making their realization more difficult. Camacho-Aguilera *et al.* demonstated in 2012 [10] an electrically pumped Ge on Si laser was possible by increasing the dopant concentration. This design is not suitable as an on-chip source due to the very large threshold current.

Integration of optical modulators onto integrated circuits is another area currently being researched. Many different technologies are being investigated including Ge/SiGe MQWs as investigated in this work. As QCSE modulators are the main focus of this work, the various modulator technologies will be discussed in more detail in the following chapter.

## 1.13 Aims of this Thesis

One of the goals of this thesis is the development of an Ohmic contact process for moderately doped n-type Ge. Previous processes demonstrated for Ohmic contacts to n-type Ge rely on either high *in-situ* doping, ion implantation of dopants, or ultra thin insulator layers between the Ge and metal layers. For potential technologies based on Ge which rely on intrinsic active layers between n-type contact layers (nin), the high *in-situ* doping or ion implantation methods are detrimental to the performance of the device and the quality of ultra thin insulator method is highly dependent on layer thickness. The process developed will allow Ge nin devices to be fabricated with Ohmic contacts without the issues associated with other Ohmic n-type Ge contact methods.

The main focus of this thesis is the development of improved QCSE modulator technology. Integrated Si photonics has the potential to revolutionize processor interconnect technology by removing the current roadblock faced with electrical interconnects. While integrated Si light sources still require development, improvements to the efficiency of integrated modulators are an important area of research heading towards large scale integration of Si photonics. The absorption characteristics of low voltage QCSE designs are simulated and devices based on the designs are fabricated. This work has shown the potential for low voltage QCSE modulation based on thin barrier MQW designs.

The following is a brief outline of the remaining chapters of this thesis.

### **Chapter 2: Modulation Technologies**

This chapter consists of a discussion of modulation technologies. These include the two main modulation types, electro-optic refractive and electro-optic absorptive, as well as a variety of other types of modulation. This chapter provides necessary background information required to understand and evaluate the potential of modulation technologies such as the QCSE designs investigated in this thesis.

#### **Chapter 3: Fabrication**

This chapter details the techniques and tools required for the fabrication of the devices and structures. It includes an overview of the different processes used during fabrication followed by detailed descriptions of some of the more complex fabrication processes and tools. The structures and devices discussed in the following chapters required precision processing.

### Chapter 4: Silver Antimony Ohmic Contacts to n-type Ge

This chapter describes the development and analysis of Ohmic contact to moderately doped n-type Ge. The reason behind the difficulty encountered when producing Ohmic contacts to n-type Ge is discussed, current methods are compared, and the need for an alternate method is explained. The development of the AgSb Ohmic contact process is detailed and the quality of the contacts are analysed. The use of these contacts has the potential to allow the fabrication of novel devices which require low doped n-type Ge bottom contact layers.

#### Chapter 5: Simulation of Low Voltage QCSE Designs

This chapter details the work on simulating low voltage MQW QCSE designs in order to calculate the effect of the QCSE on the absorption. It includes discussion of the physics required for understanding the quantum confined stark effect as well as demonstrations and analysis of the results from simulations of SiGe/Ge MQW structure designs. The simulation results show the potential for low voltage QCSE devices which can operate as modulators near 1550 nm.

#### Chapter 6: Fabricated Low Voltage QCSE Devices

This chapter details the fabrication and testing of the low voltage QCSE devices. First, the wafer structure is described, followed by a detailed description of the fabrication process. Next, the measurement techniques are discussed and the measured results analysed. The results of the measurements of these devices show that thin barriers can provide sufficient confinement for the QCSE, allowing more energy efficient QCSE designs to be realized.

### Chapter 7: Conclusions

The conclusions about the results achieved from this work are presented and future work which could follow from this research is discussed.

# Chapter 2

# Modulation Technologies

A optical modulator is a device that allows a control signal to impart information on to a light wave by temporarily varying one of its properties. A number of different technologies exist which allow one to modulate an optical signal. Two main categories of electrically controlled modulation exist: electro-optic refractive which, works by directly changing the phase; and electro-optic absorptive, which directly changes the amplitude of the light at the output of the component. Other technologies include all-optical techniques, in which an optical signal is used to control the transmission, grating technologies, which use refraction to control the angle of the output light, thermo-optical refractive index changed by heating, and acoustic modulation, which uses vibrations to modulate the signal. The main focus in this chapter will be on electro-optic absorption technologies including the QCSE modulator technology used in this work.

# 2.1 Direct Laser Modulation

Conceptually the simplest method to modulate a light beam is direct laser modulation. In this method the laser is directly modulated such that a signal controls the frequency or amplitude of the laser output. Amplitude modulation of the laser is performed by having a current equal to the threshold current of the laser and imposing the control signal on top. The small change in current due to the control signal switches the laser from slightly above to slightly below the threshold for lasing. The frequency of the laser can be modulated by changing the optical size of the cavity in which the laser is operating. A change in the refractive index of the gain medium will change the optical distance between the two ends of the laser cavity, changing the optical modes of the cavity and resulting in a different frequency of light from the laser.

# 2.2 Modulation Technologies

A major disadvantage of using direct modulation of the laser is that it will introduce chirp to the signal. Chirp is the effect in which the frequency of the light changes as the laser is turned on and off. As the modulation frequency increases the distortion due to the chirp becomes increasingly destructive. Chirp in the signal can be avoided through the use of an external modulator. The two main forms of external modulation used to modulate optical signals are electro-optic refractive, and electro-optic absorptive techniques. There are other methods that have been shown to be able to modulate a light. A sampling of them is discussed here.

## 2.2.1 Bragg Gratings

A Bragg grating is a surface or volume with a periodic variation in optical path length. With a Bragg grating if light is incident on the grating at the Bragg angle  $\theta_B$  the angle of maximum reflection or refraction is equal to  $2\theta_B$ . The angle  $\theta_B$  depends on the spacing and phase difference between the two parts of the grating.

### Acoustic Bragg Grating

An acoustic Bragg grating uses an acoustic wave to setup a periodic strain in the semiconductor material. Since the index of refraction in the material will vary with the strain in the material, the acoustic wave will create a periodic index of refraction. The acoustic wave can be modulated to modulate the Bragg angle of the grating or to turn the grating on and off. A thick grating with a period of  $\Lambda$  (thickness  $\gg \frac{\lambda^2}{\Lambda}$  where  $\lambda$  is the wavelength of light) is modulated by turning on and off an acoustic wave. Light incident on the grating at an angle  $\theta_B = \frac{\lambda}{2\Lambda}$  will be refracted by an angle of  $2\theta_B$  when the grating is active (Fig. 2.1). When the grating is removed by stoping the acoustic wave the light will not be Bragg refracted and will exit at the same angle it entered.



**Figure 2.1:** Diagram of an acoustic Bragg grating modulator where the Bragg grating is turned on and off by turning on and off an acoustic wave. When Bragg grating is off the incident light is not refracted (solid arrows). When the Bragg grating is on with a period of  $\Lambda$  the light is refracted by an angle of  $2\theta_B$ .

### Electro-optic Bragg Grating

Interdigitated contacts can be used to periodically modify the index of refraction of the semiconductor underneath the contacts. Changing the voltage difference between the two contacts will change the refractive index in the semiconductor. In this technique the period of the Bragg grating is fixed during fabrication by the periodicity of the contacts and the relative phase shift will be determined by the magnitude of the refractive index difference.

### Micro-mechanical Bragg Grating

A Bragg grating can also be modulated using micro-mechanical techniques. An array of grating lines are fabricated that can be moved perpendicular to the surface as a function of applied voltage using electrostatic actuators [40]. As they are moved the phase difference between light reflected off the grating and the surface between the gratings is modified, changing  $\theta_B$ . Modulation of over 100 kHz was demonstrated using electrostaticly actuated gratings.

### 2.2.2 Thermo-optical

A variation of the refractive index of a material with temperature is known as the thermo-optical effect. A thermo-optical modulator has been demonstrated using a Si Fabry-Perot etalon with resistive heaters to control the refractive index in the etalon and therefore the transmission. Due to the inherently slow process of heating and cooling a device, this method would only be useful for applications where a high modulation speed is not required [41].

## 2.2.3 All Optical Modulation

A variety of different all optical methods have been developed. These techniques allow the modulation of a light beam to be controlled by a second light beam. The ability to modulate a light power using a second light source opens up the possibility of all optical information processing.

### 2.2.4 Organics

Non-linear processes in organic photonic crystals change the bandgap of the material, resulting in large changes in transmission of light near the bandgap energy. Modulation of a light at a wavelength of 1620 nm using a 532 nm laser as the control was demonstrated using dye-doping of a liquid crystal [42]. The dye is highly absorbent at 532 nm allowing the control laser to be used to heat the liquid crystal. The absorption spectrum of the liquid crystal is temperature dependent with an absorption edge near 1620 nm. When heated by the pulse the absorption edge of the liquid crystal shifts to higher wavelengths allowing the 1620 nm light to be transmitted.

A second method which utilizes organics is gain switching. A polymer laser operating at 650 nm has been modulated using pulses of 1300 nm light. The laser operates normally before a pulse arrives and on arrival of a pulse the polymer is excited into higher energy states. The excited polymer is absorptive at the operating wavelength which quenches the gain, effectively turning the laser off. After the pulse the polymer laser returns to its normal operating state [43].



**Figure 2.2:** Schematic of the effect of a change in refractive index on the propagation of a light wave. An applied voltage changes the refractive index in the material as seen between a) and b) In this case b) has a slightly higher refractive index than a). This slight change in refractive index leads to a change in phase along the length of the material. c) shows the sum of the two waves at each point along the material. The peak to peak amplitude of c) is related to the phase shift between a) and b).

### 2.2.5 Plasmons

All optical modulation has also been achieved using plasmonic excitation of CdSe quantum dots [44]. The infrared light beam to be modulated is incident on a metal surface with a slit and a grove separated by an area filled with CdSe quantum dots. The transmission of the infrared beam through the slit is controlled by a visible light beam. The beams each create surface plasmon polaritons which interact, decreasing the transmission of the infrared beam.

## 2.3 Electro-optic Refractive

With electro-optic refractive technologies the refractive index of a material is controlled using an electrical signal. This imparts a phase shift onto the light (Fig. 2.2) which can be used directly to encode information on to the phase or polarization or used within other components to modulate the amplitude of the light. The main electro-optic refraction effects that are useful in semiconductors are the Pockel's effect and the Kerr effect. Many different materials can be used which take advantage of the Pockel's effect including  $\text{LiNbO}_3$ , polymers and III-V semiconductors. With the Pockel's effect the refractive index of a material changes linearly as a function of an applied electric field [45]. The geometry of the crystal structure of the Group IV semiconductors prevents the Pockel's effect so it is not an option for Si electro-optic refraction [14]. With the Kerr effect the change in refractive index is proportional to the square of the change in the applied electric field. While this effect is present in Si it is much weaker than the free carrier density effect. In devices which use these effects the refractive index is modulated by modulating an applied voltage which controls the electric field across the material.

The refractive index of Si can be modulated by modulation of the free carrier density [46]. Both the real and the imaginary parts of the index of refraction will depend on the free carrier density. As the number of carriers is increased the refractive index will decrease and as the number of carriers is decreased the refractive index will increase. The change in the real part of the refractive index  $\Delta n$  at a wavelength of 1550 nm is related to the change in electron  $\Delta N_e$  and hole carriers  $\Delta N_h$  by [13]:

$$\Delta n = -[8.8 \times 10^{-22} \Delta N_e + 8.5 \times 10^{-18} (\Delta N_h)^{0.8}]$$
(2.1)

Si devices that take advantage of this effect are constructed out of a pn junction, a pin junction, or a capacitive structure formed by a pin junction with an insulating barrier in the centre of the intrinsic region [47]. Designs based on the pin junction are referred to as carrier injection devices. The intrinsic region in which the light travels is initially free from carriers and the carrier injection devices increase the free carrier density by continuously injecting carriers into the junction. In capacitive structure designs the carrier concentration is increased by applying a forward bias to the device which increases the free carrier density by charging up the capacitive structure. This allows faster switching speeds than the carrier injection method which is limited by the relatively long minority carrier lifetimes. Carrier depletion methods make use of a pn junction design which is also not limited by minority carrier lifetimes. The application of a reverse bias across the junction will create a depletion zone in the junction which lowers the carrier density. In all of the methods the change in the free carrier density creates a change in refractive index which can be used with one of the following methods to create an optical amplitude modulator.



Figure 2.3: Diagram of a waveguide using electro-optic refractive effect to modulate the signal via cutoff frequency method. As voltage is applied to the top contact,  $n_2$  approaches  $n_3$  and confinement of optical mode decreases.

### 2.3.1 Mode Extinction

For the mode extinction technique a waveguide is fabricated using electro-optic refractive material. The waveguide is designed so that the frequency of the light to be modulated is just above the cutoff frequency of the waveguide. The refractive index of the waveguide  $n_2$  is higher than but close to  $n_3$ , the refractive index of the substrate (Fig. 2.3). This allows the light to be guided through the waveguide when no voltage is applied. When a voltage is applied to the electro-optic material the index of refraction of the waveguide will decrease, changing the cutoff frequency [48]. The refractive index change is large enough that the frequency of the light is now below the new cutoff frequency and therefore the light will not propagate along the waveguide. The changing cutoff frequency imposes an amplitude modulation on the light wave. If the waveguide is not fully guiding at zero voltage a negative voltage can be applied to increase the refractive index of the waveguide to increase transmission for the on state. Kawabe et al. [49] demonstrated an ion beam etched LiNbO<sub>3</sub> ridge waveguide that was able to modulate 633 nm light using the cutoff frequency technique with an on voltage of -10 V and off voltage of +10 V. The following issues with this type of modulator mean it is not commonly used [45]:

- 1. The small change in refractive index ( $\Delta n$ ) obtained by the electro optic effect means that high voltages are required. With LiNbO<sub>3</sub> and contacts separated by 10  $\mu$ m, 100 Volts applied yields only a  $\Delta n$  of  $1.6 \times 10^{-4}$ .
- 2. The small  $\Delta n$  achievable means that the waveguide must be very close to mode cutoff in the on state in order to switch the signal off. This means the losses will be high in the on state.



**Figure 2.4:** Diagram of an integrated Mach-Zehnder interferometer using electro-optic refractive effect to modulate the signal. Each arm contains electro reflective material and electrical contact. As opposite voltages are applied to the arms each path is phase shifted in opposite directions. When the light recombines at the output the phase shift difference leads to destructive interference.

## 2.3.2 Mach-Zehnder Interferometer

In a Mach-Zehnder interferometer optical modulator the waveguide carrying the light wave splits into two paths with equal amplitude which recombine at the output. Each path contains a section of electro-optic refractive material and either one or both contains a contact to apply voltage. Ideally, at zero applied voltage the optical path difference between the two paths will be equal and the signal will recombine constructively. The signal voltage is used to impart a relative phase shift on to the two paths. The optical path difference between the two paths determines whether the light combines constructively or destructively at the output. In general, the two paths are not exactly equal and therefore there will be some loss of power when no voltage is applied. This can be compensated for by having a non-zero applied voltage for the transmission setting or through the use of a balanced bridge approach [50].

State of the art silicon Mach-Zehnder interferometers have been recently demonstrated by Streshinsky *et al.* [51]. The modulators were fabricated from a standard SOI wafer of 220 nm Si on top of 2  $\mu$ m SiO<sub>2</sub> above a high resistivity Si substrate. Doping was added during fabrication by implantation and rapid thermal annealing. Operating at 1300 nm with a contrast ratio of 3.4 dB, they have a modulation frequency of 50 Gbps using a swing voltage of 1.5 V and a bias of 0 V. In addition to the 3 mm long electro-optic phase shifters on each of the arms the design also uses thermal phase tuners on each of the arms to align the zero optical path difference point with the zero applied bias point. A cross section of the waveguide and electro-optic phase shifters is shown in figure 2.5.



Figure 2.5: Cross-section of an integrated Si Mach-Zehnder interferometer using electrooptic refractive effect to modulate the signal. Waveguide is composed of n-type  $(N_D \approx 5 \times 10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3})$  and p-type  $(N_A \approx 7 \times 10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3})$  doped Si connected through higher doped (N+ and P+) Si to highly doped Si contact areas (N++ and P++), on top of a buried oxide (BOX) layer.

## 2.3.3 Dual Channel

Another method to modulate the intensity of the light is to use a dual channel waveguide setup. When two waveguides are closely spaced the light energy will periodically switch between waveguides. The distance required for the light to completely transfer from the first waveguide to the second depends on the spacing between and the refractive index of the waveguides. The dual channel waveguide is designed so that when no voltage is applied the light will complete an even number of transfers and be completely within the original waveguide. When a voltage is applied the refractive index of one of the waveguides is changed and the period for light to make a single transfer changes. If the refractive index change is such that there is an odd number of transfers the light will be completely in the second waveguide. This design is essentially a controllable power splitter and can also be used for fabrication of optical switches.

## 2.4 Electro-optic Absorption

An applied voltage can be used to directly modify the absorption spectrum of a material using the Franz-Keldysh or the quantum confined Stark effect.

### 2.4.1 Franz-Keldysh

The Franz-Keldysh (FK) effect manifests as a change in minimum absorption energy as a function of applied electric field for a bulk material. The absorption in a material has an exponential tail towards lower energies due to electric field induced ionization of the exciton [45]. The FK effect is due to the dependence of this exponential tail on the applied field. For wavelengths slightly below the wavelength of the bandgap the absorption can be modulated by changing the electric field in the material. The magnitude of the FK effect decreases for wavelengths further from the bandgap. The bandgap in Si is near 1.1  $\mu$ m and therefore the FK effect in Si is quite weak for the important communications wavelengths of 1300 nm and 1550 nm [52]. Ge has a direct band gap at the energy of a 1550 nm photon and therefore the FK effect in Ge or high Ge content SiGe should be able to better modulate the absorption near 1550 nm. The effect has shown potential for modulation when using SiGe alloys in place of Si. SiGe devices have recently been demonstrated showing 3dB bandwidths of > 40 GHz using the FK effect at 1550 nm but requiring 2.8 V swing voltage [53].

## 2.4.2 QCSE III-V

Electro-optic absorption based on the quantum confined Stark effect was demonstrated and theoretically explained by Miller et al. using GaAs/AlGaAs multiple quantum well structures [54]. While it was demonstrated using III-V materials it was acknowledged that the effect should be reproducible in any material system which provides type I band alignment. Devices fabricated from III-V materials have shown the ability to modulate optical signals in the communications bands. In 1994 Ido et al. demonstrated an InGaAs/InAlAs MQW structure showing good modulation at 1550 nm [55]. High speed operation in InGaAlAs/InAlAs MQW structures has been demonstrated producing > 50 Ghz modulation of 3 dB with voltage swing of 1.1 V [56]. Efficient integrated laser and modulation has been demonstrated using InGaAlAs MQW structures for both laser diodes (LD) and QCSE modulators. The two devices can be monolithically integrated on InP substrates by epitaxial growth of the LD structure followed by selective removal and replacement of the LD structure by etching and growth of the QCSE structure [57]. Since III-V materials are not CMOS compatible they cannot take advantage of CMOS fabrication facilities. Monolithic integration with Si CMOS electronics is therefore not possible and while hybrid integration is a possibility they cannot take advantage of the CMOS facilities which are required for high volume production [58].

### 2.4.3 QCSE SiGe

Ge and SiGe alloys are compatible with and are currently in use in CMOS production facilities. The compatibility allows for the potential monolithic integration of Ge/SiGe optical components with CMOS electronics. Ge/SiGe hybrid integration solutions would benefit from the high volume production possible in CMOS production facilities.

In 2005 Kuo *et al.* demonstrated the first Ge/SiGe QCSE (2005) which showed modulation near a wavelength of 1450 nm [59]. The shift from a wavelength of 1550nm which is seen in bulk Ge is due to confinement of the wavefunctions in quantum wells and compressive strain in the material.

### 1300 nm

To operate at the 1300 nm low loss optical fibre window it is required that the absorption edge is shifted to shorter wavelengths. This can be achieved during growth by having a higher level of compressive strain in the QW, thinner QWs, or GeSi wells in place of Ge wells [60]. Lever *et al.* experimentally demonstrated 1300 nm modulation from Ge/Si<sub>0.4</sub>Ge<sub>0.6</sub> MQW structures grown on Si<sub>0.22</sub>Ge<sub>0.78</sub> [61]. This design uses increased compressive strain to shift the absorption edge. Later improved electro-optic absorption at 1300 nm using QCSE structure was demonstrated using Ge/Si<sub>0.35</sub>Ge<sub>0.65</sub> on Si<sub>0.21</sub>Ge<sub>0.79</sub> [62].

### $1550~\mathrm{nm}$

In 2006 Kuo *et al.* demonstrated the QCSE in SiGe at 1550 nm wavelengths [63]. This was achieved by a decrease in compressive strain, confinement energy and using a substrate temperature of 90 °C. Using selective area growth of a Ge/Si<sub>0.15</sub>Ge<sub>0.85</sub> MQW structure Ren *et al.* demonstrated QCSE close to 1550 nm at room temperature with 8.0 V applied bias [64]. It has been demonstrated that the absorption wavelength in Ge QWs can be shifted to longer wavelengths by tensile strain induced reduction of the direct band gap energy [65].



**Figure 2.6:** Side and top view of a QCSE modulator butt coupled to a SOI waveguide on a SOI wafer.

### Waveguide Integration

Monolithic integration of modulators coupled on chip to waveguides allows integration with other optical functions such as detection, propagation, and emission. Options to integrate waveguides and QCSE modulators include butt coupling the two components and evanescent coupling.

Integration of QCSE optical modulators with silicon on insulator (SOI) waveguides via butt coupling (Fig. 2.6) using selective area growth has been proposed [66] and demonstrated [67]. A SOI wafer is patterned and etched using a dual layer spacer approach leaving a protective oxide layer on the side walls of the etched areas. The Ge/SiGe MQW structure is epitaxially grown in the etched areas only. The oxide prevents growth from the side walls. The active layers of the MQW structure are now at the same height as the SOI layers so that after fabrication they are butt coupled together.

For modulators that are grown above the level of the waveguides, evanescent coupling can be used to transfer light into and out of the modulator. When the evanescent tail of the optical mode in the waveguide overlaps with the QCSE modulator evanescent coupling occurs [68]. Tapering of the QCSE modulator is used to improve insertion and extraction losses between the waveguide and modulator (Fig. 2.7). Edwards *et al.* have shown through optical simulations that this effect can provide efficient waveguide integration for QCSE modulators [2].



Figure 2.7: Side and top view of a QCSE modulator coupled evanescently to a SOI waveguide on a SOI wafer. Taper length and shape should be optimized to lower coupling losses.

# 2.5 Si Modulator Review

For the benefits of silicon photonics to be realized modulators which are compatible with Si CMOS fabrication processes are required. In Si the only potential mechanism for optical modulation for light at the communications bands is carrier depletion / injection. The Pockel's effect is non-existant and the Kerr and Franz-Keldysh effects are weak in Si at 1300 nm and 1550 nm wavelengths. The addition of Ge and SiGe alloys into the design allows more options for modulation while maintaining Si compatibility.

### 2.5.1 Carrier Density Modulation

Manipulating the carrier density of Si will alter its refractive index, allowing modulation when incorporated into one of the designs mentioned in the electro-optic refractive section. Designs for carrier injection devices on Si predicted modulation speeds of up to 5 GHz as early as 2004 [69]. Modulators based on the capacitive structure design were the first Si modulators to demonstrate > 1 GHz modulation monolithically integrated onto Si [70]. A Mach-Zehnder interferometer design was used and required a 10 mm long phase shifting segment on each arm to modulate a 1540 nm signal. Optimizations of this design have produced modulators that require phase shifter lengths of only 480  $\mu$ m and a modulation frequency of 10 GHz.

Carrier depletion designs were proposed in 2005 which offered a potential modulation

frequency of 50 GHz. Devices similar to the proposed design were realized in 2007 which could operate at a modulation frequency of 20 GHz. This device used a 3 mm long phase shifter in a Mach-Zehnder interferometer to achieve modulation using a 6.5 V swing voltage [71].

### 2.5.2 Electro-optic Absorption Modulation

While both the FK effect and the QCSE allow modulation of the absorption edge of a material, the QCSE is more abrupt and stronger changes in the absorption spectra occur due to the discretization of the density of states and the stronger exciton effects [72]. The strong absorption of the QCSE requires very small thickness on the order of 1  $\mu$ m which enables vertical devices to be effective. The weaker FK effect requires waveguide structures in order to achieve the required interaction lengths. Efficient optical modulation near 1550 nm via the FK effect was demonstrated using high Ge content SiGe in place of Si for the modulation region of the waveguide. A FK modulator with a small 55  $\mu$ m long active region was demonstrated which showed modulation at 1550 nm with a modulation frequency > 40 GHz with a swing voltage of 2.8 V [53].

The much higher absorption shift due to the QCSE as compared to the FK effect allows much higher contrast ratios with lower requirements for swing voltage. In 2005 Kuo et al. [59] demonstrated the first Ge/SiGe QCSE which showed modulation near a wavelength of 1450 nm. A MQW structure with 10 Ge QW ( $Si_{0.15}Ge_{0.85}$  barriers) with a thickness of 10 nm (16 nm) were grown on a  $Si_{0.1}Ge_{0.9}$  fully relaxed virtual substrate. A 3 V change in applied voltage resulted in a contrast of 5 dB in absorption at 1438 nm. A design using a similar MQW structure was reported in 2012 demonstrating a high contrast ratio of 9 dB between applied biases of 3 V and 4 V [73]. Using the same alloy composition but with wider 12 nm QWs grown by selective area growth, modulation in the communications band near 1550 nm was demonstrated in 2011. The modulator demonstrated a contrast ratio of 3 dB at 1525 nm between 7 V and 8 V applied bias [67]. Most recently Edwards et al. have demonstrated a Ge/SiGe QCSE modulator with the ability to cover the entire communications band with a 6 dB contrast ratio and a 1 V swing [2]. This design used 5 Ge QWs 14 nm wide with 18 nm wide barriers  $Si_{0.19}Ge_{0.81}$  on a  $Si_{0.12}Ge_{0.88}$  virtual substrate. The low swing voltage modulation was achievable due to the small intrinsic region due to having only 5 QWs in the structure, and thinner spacer regions between the contacts and the QWs. Table 2.1 shows a summary of some of the features of the various Si based modulator technologies.

Reference	$\lambda \ (\Delta \lambda)$	f	$\Delta V$	Contrast	notes
CD[74]	1550nm	50  Gbit/s	6 V	5  dB	1 mm long phase
					shifter
FK[53]	1550  nm (35  nm)	40.7 GHz	2.8 V	6  dB	55 $\mu$ m long
					waveguide
QCSE[59]	1438 nm (10 nm)		3 V	5  dB	
QCSE[73]	$1435~\mathrm{nm}$	23 GHz	1 V (3 V)	9 dB	1 V swing con-
					trast ratio much
					less for other off-
					sets
QCSE[67]	1425 - 1540 nm	3.5 GHz	1 V (0 V-7 V)	3  dB	

Table 2.1: Comparison of Si modulators demonstrated in the literature.

# 2.6 Summary

There are multiple methods available for the modulation of optical signals. The main ones that are compatible with Si are free carrier modulation of the refractive index, which requires long waveguide to produce sufficient phase shift, and Franz-Keldysh absorption modulation, which is extremely weak near the communications bands. The incorporation of Ge onto Si extends the options for modulation in the communications bands. SiGe FK modulators have been shown to work at 1550 nm and require relatively short waveguides. Ge/SiGe QCSE devices have demonstrated the potential to allow modulation at both 1300 nm and 1550 nm. This work investigates QCSE using Ge/SiGe MQW structures designed to operate near 1550 nm. The benefits of these structures are that they use CMOS compatible materials which would allow the production to benefit from the high volume and low cost fabrication currently utilized in Si CMOS processor production. It also opens up the possibility of monolithic integration of these devices onto Si electrons, creating a potential solution to the electric interconnect problems facing the Si electronics industry. Compared to other Si compatible technologies QCSE have the promise of small physical size and low swing voltage requirements. The potential of the QCSE designs used in this work for use as modulators is investigated using computer simulations and photocurrent measurements of fabricated devices. Photodiode devices are used to measure the change in absorption of the structures under an applied bias. The photodiodes are fabricated from QCSE wafers grown by collaborators at Warwick University. The QCSE devices used in this work are fabricated in a cleanroom environment at the James Watt Nanofabrication Centre at the University of Glasgow. The techniques and processes used during device fabrication are described in the following chapter.

# Chapter 3

# Fabrication

## 3.1 Introduction

Fabrication of devices is explained in this chapter, including process flow and explanations of the reasons for various steps and any changes required during the development of the processes.

Fabrication processes are required in order to transform wafers into devices that can be characterized both electrically and optically. The devices are created by removing and adding different materials in a controlled manner. While each type of device uses a different fabrication process, a generalized overview of device fabrication is useful. The particular processes for fabricating AgSb contacts and QCSE photodiodes will be detailed separately.

# 3.2 Fabrication

## 3.2.1 Facilities

The majority of the work in fabricating devices was done in the James Watt Nanofabrication Centre (JWNC). The JWNC is a cleanroom facility which houses state of the art nanofabrication tools within a mixture of class 1000, class 100 and class 10 cleanrooms. The cleanroom level is the equal to the maximum number of particles larger than 0.5  $\mu$ m in diameter per cubic foot of air. For comparison purposes a typical clean indoor environment can contain 500000 particles larger than 0.5  $\mu$ m per cubic foot of air [75]. As particles in the environment can contaminate the surface of a sample during fabrication, therefore potentially ruining devices, a clean room facility was essential for fabrication of the devices used in this work.

## 3.2.2 Cleaving

Each wafer used for fabrication in this work consists of epitaxially grown layers of SiGe and Ge on top of 525  $\mu$ m thick Si (001). Each wafer is cleaved or diced into a number of small samples approximately 1 cm square. Each sample can then be processed separately. The small sample sizes means that many samples can come from each wafer. Before cleaving the wafer is covered with a resist on the top surface in order to protect the surface from particles created during the cleave. The wafers can either be diced into a uniform pattern of squares using an automated wafer dicer, or cleaved by hand as needed using a scribe pen. The scribe pen makes a small nick in the edge of a wafer and the wafer is placed over an edge and pressed down until it cracks along an atomic plane. The atomic planes of Si (001) wafers in the vertical direction are at right angles to each other allowing square samples to be cleaved.

## 3.2.3 Cleaning

In order to improve the quality and yield of each process step the sample needs to be as clean as possible. The standard two solvent cleaning process for a newly cleaved sample is an ultrasonic clean in acetone followed by 2-Propanol (IPA). The sample is then blown dry using nitrogen gas. While the acetone removes oils and organic residues from the surface, acetone residue is left on the surface after drying. The two solvent process is used because IPA dries clean without leaving residue but does not clean the surface as well as acetone. For subsequent cleaning processes the ultrasonic bath is avoided to prevent destruction of already fabricated structures.

### 3.2.4 Patterning

Patterning is used to determine which areas of the sample will be exposed to a later processing step. Both photolithography and electron beam lithography (EBL) can be used to define a pattern onto the surface of a sample. A combination of resist and developer solution is used such that the areas that are exposed to ultraviolet (UV) light or high energy electrons will dissolve in the developer at a different rate then the unexposed areas.

### 3.2.5 Metal Deposition

Metal deposition is used to create a thin layer of metal on the exposed surface of the sample. There are two main types of metal deposition: evaporation and sputtering. Evaporation applies a non-conformal layer of the chosen metal or metals straight down on to the sample. Sputtering of metal is more conformal and therefore has better step coverage due to the wider range of delivery angles of the metal atoms.

### 3.2.6 Dry Etching

Dry etching is used to remove material from exposed areas of a sample in a controlled manner. A patterned sample is loaded into a dry etch tool and a specific recipe and time are chosen. The dry etch tool processes include high energy ions for physical bombardment of the surface, chemical reactions to create volatile molecules from the atoms on the surface, and protection layers in various ratios to control the speed and sidewall angle of the etch. The etch can be monitored *in-situ* by a laser reflectometer which can be used to determine etch stop times. The individual dry etch tools and recipes used will be detailed with their specific device processes.

### 3.2.7 Silicon Nitride Deposition

Silicon nitride deposition applies a conformal layer of  $Si_3N_4$  over the surface of the sample. This provides a protective and insulating layer which allows larger bond pads to be deposited for the top contact without electrically contacting the bottom contact layer. The deposition parameters can be modified to deposit a nitride film with a chosen level of stress. The compressive stress in the nitride layer will apply tensile stress to the semiconductor layer beneath.

## 3.3 Photolithography

### 3.3.1 Photoresists

Photolithography utilizes light sensitive polymers know as photoresists in order to transfer a pattern from a photomask to the substrate. The two main categories of photoresist are distinguished by their tone which can be either negative or positive. The tone is determined by how the chemicals that makes up the resist react when exposed to UV light. With positive resists the exposed areas become more soluble in the developer solution while with negative resists the exposed areas become less soluble in the developer solution. The solubility of the resists can also be affected by exposure to heat. A schematic of the difference between positive and negative photoresists exposed to the same pattern is shown in figure 3.1. After exposure, development, and metal deposition the negative resist produces the inverse pattern to that of the positive resist. Both types of resist were used for the fabrication of devices, primarily Shipley Microposit S1818 positive photoresist and AZ2070 negative photoresist.



Figure 3.1: Difference between negative and positive tone demonstrated by metal deposition.

### 3.3.2 Dehydration Bake

In order to promote adhesion of the resist to the substrate a dehydration bake is performed. This drives off solvents or moisture that could be on the sample. The sample is placed in a 120°C oven for 10 minutes, after which the sample is allowed to cool before the resist is spun on.



Figure 3.2: Comparison of negative and positive resist choices when creating bond pads connected to mesa tops. Resists are much thicker immediately beside a tall mesa structure. Positive resists are not fully exposed, leaving resist at the corner after development, while negative resists simply require slightly longer development time to be cleared.

### 3.3.3 Resist Spinning

Resist is applied to the substrate though a process call spin coating. The sample is placed onto a spinner and held in place by a vacuum. Resist is applied by dropper on to the sample and then the sample is spun at a high rate of speed. The length of time and the speed of the spin can be varied to change the thickness of resist after the spin is complete. Lower viscosity resists require a longer spin in order to have the same uniformity of thickness. The S1818 resist uses a spin rate of 4000 RPM and a time of 30 s in order to produce a resist thickness of 1.8  $\mu$ m, while AZ2070 resist uses a spin rate of 4000 RPM and a time of 60 s in order to produce a resist thickness of 10  $\mu$ m. Multiple layers of resist or of different resists can be applied to the sample same with a soft bake between spinnings.

### 3.3.4 Soft Bake

After spinning is complete a soft bake is required to prepare the resist for exposure. The samples are placed on a temperature controlled hot plate to evaporate the solvent that is in the resist and solidify the resist. For S1818 the soft bake is 120 s at 85 °C and for the AZ2070 it is 90 s at 110 °C.

### 3.3.5 Exposure

The exposure of the resist is performed using a Karl Suss Microtech MA6 mask aligner / exposure tool (MA6). The MA6 allows the operator to position the sample underneath a photomask and align with micrometer precision. The sample is then brought in to contact with the photomask and illuminated through the windows in the mask with UV light for a set exposure time. The exposure time required depends on the thickness and type of resist used. The S1818 resist requires 4.4 s exposure, while the AZ2070 requires a 20 s exposure.

### 3.3.6 Post Bake

After exposure some resists require an additional bake before development known as a post bake. The S1818 resist does not require a post bake, but one is required for AZ2070. The post bake hardens the exposed areas in the AZ2070 preventing them from being dissolved in the developer.

### 3.3.7 Development

In order to remove the resist from selected areas on the sample a specific developer is required. The developer will preferentially dissolve the exposed (unexposed) resist for positive (negative) photoresists. The side wall shape will depend on the exposure profile and the resist type. The choice of which resist to use will depend on what process is required for the pattern.

### 3.3.8 Mask Design

The photolithography masks are quartz plates with patterned chromium on one surface. The chromium is opaque to UV light while the quartz is transparent. To create the pattern in the chromium it is covered with an electron beam resist and exposed using a 100 keV electron beam from a Vistec VB6 electron beam lithography tool. The pattern is then developed and the exposed chromium etched away. The pattern written by the VB6 is controlled using computer data files that contain the patterns required. The patterns required for the fabrication of a device are designed using computer aided design (CAD) software such as L-edit by Tanner EDA. Each lithography step tends to require a different pattern.

### 3.3.9 Alignment

In order to create a device with multiple lithography steps, which most devices require, all other exposures need to be precisely aligned to the first exposure. In order to align multiple layers the first layer creates alignment markers on the sample. All other patterns have matching alignment markers on the photomask. There are three degrees of freedom for the position of the sample relative to the photomask, x, y, and  $\theta$ , which can be manually adjusted using the MA6. Each marker contains a cross for coarse alignment ( $\approx 5 \ \mu$ m) and vernier markers for fine alignment ( $< 1 \ \mu$ m) (Fig. 3.3). To allow accurate alignment in  $\theta$ , alignment markers are placed on both the left and right of the sample and photomask. The further apart the markers are the more accurate the angular alignment can be. The maximum angular misalignment ( $\phi$ ) can be calculated using equation 3.1.

$$\phi = (\delta y_1 + \delta y_2) / \Delta x \tag{3.1}$$

Where  $\delta y_i$  is the maximum error in the alignment in the y direction for the *i*th marker and  $\Delta x$  is the distance between the two markers. For a 1 cm<sup>2</sup> sample the markers can easily be 8 mm apart. By aligning the vernier markers an accuracy of better than 1  $\mu$ m for each marker can be achieved yielding a maximum angular misalignment of  $2.5 \times 10^{-4}$  radians. Once the angle of the photomask is aligned to the sample a single marker can be used for alignment in the x and y directions.



Figure 3.3: An photolithographic alignment marker as designed in L-edit. Blue areas correspond to the first layer which corresponds to metalized areas during alignment. Red areas correspond to second layer which will be transparent areas on the mask. Purple areas are areas of overlap. The large central cross is used for course alignment ( $\approx 5 \ \mu$ m) while the vernier marks are used for fine alignment ( $< 1 \ \mu$ m).

# **3.4** Electron Beam Lithography

Electron beam lithography (EBL) is the process of patterning a substrate using a beam of high energy electrons to expose a resist that is coating a substrate. The patterned resist is then developed leaving resist only where required. The high energy electron beam has a much lower wavelength than the UV light used in photolithography, allowing much smaller features to be patterned. Unlike photolithography, which exposes the entire pattern simultaneously, EBL is a serial process where only one point is exposed at a time and therefore requires longer write times for exposing larger areas. Similar to photomasks, patterns to be written using the EBL tool are designed using the L-edit CAD software. In addition the design needs to be fractured into trapezoidal shapes that can be written by the EBL tool. Write settings such as dose per area, beam size, and grid spacing need to be chosen depending on resist type and pattern feature size. Incorrect choice of settings can result in unnecessarily long write times or poor reproduction of the designed pattern.

## 3.4.1 Electron Beam Lithography Tool

The electron beam lithography tool available in the JWNC facility is a Vistec VB6 UHR EWF [76] (Fig. 3.4). The electron source is a Schottky emission gun, which uses a zirconium oxide coated tungsten cathode heated to 1800 K. The electrons are accelerated up to 100 keV by an electrostatic lens C1. Magnetic deflection coils are used to tilt and shift the beam to align it to the electron optical axis of the following lenses. Apertures are used at various positions in the column to limit divergence of the beam. The C2 lens is a magnetic condenser lens which allows a zoom lens function by C1 and C2. The final lens C3 provides the main focus for the beam onto the substrate. The beam is turned off and on during writing by use of a beam blanker, which turns the beam off by electrostatic deflection of the beam into an aperture. Between the final lens and the condenser lenses is the deflection unit assembly. It is comprised of sets of magnetic coils which create fields transverse to the beam to shift the beam in the x and y axis. The assembly consists of two sets of deflectors: main deflectors for large scale movements, and subfield deflectors for fine control. The deflectors can cover an area of 1.3mm by 1.3 mm. For patterns beyond that size the stage holding the substrate is moved during the writing process. The apertures can be adjusted to control the current and beam size used for writing the patterns. Large areas can be written quickly using large currents and beam sizes of up to 45 nm at 131 nA, while small features can be produced using small currents and beam sizes as low as 4 nm at 1

nA. Alignment between layers is controlled by use of alignment markers. The position of each marker is recorded in the data file used to write the pattern and the position on the substrate is measured automatically using a built-in electron microscope function of the VB6.



Figure 3.4: Diagram of the beam column of the VB6 electron beam lithography tool available in the JWNC. The magnetic and electrostatic lenses focus the beam while the magnetic deflectors control the position on the sample.

## 3.4.2 Electron Beam Resists

Like photoresists, electron beam resists also can be of negative or positive tone. The resists used in this work were poly-methyl methacrylate (PMMA) a positive tone resist and hydrogen silsesquioxane (HSQ) a negative tone resist.

### PMMA

PMMA is a positive tone electron beam resist which, due to the serial nature of electron beam exposure, is ideal for patterns that require large areas of the substrate covered after development. PMMA is applied to the substrate by spin coating in a similar process to photoresist with a spin speed of 5000 rpm for 60 s. In the JWNC PMMA is available in two types and various dilutions. The two types are 2010 and 2041 and have different sensitivities to electron beam exposure. The 2041 resist is less sensitive than the 2010 resist. The different dilutions allow different thicknesses of resist to be applied to a substrate. After a layer of resist is spin coated the sample is soft baked on a temperature controlled hotplate for 120 s at 154 °C to evaporate the solvent and solidify the resist.



Figure 3.5: Illustration of PMMA bilayer using PMMA 2041 on top of PMMA 2010. After exposure and development an undercut profile is created, improving metal liftoff reliability for small features.

The 2010 and 2041 resist can be sequentially applied to a sample in order to create a bi-layer of PMMA. With the 2041 resist on top of the 2010 an undercut is created after development that is more reliable for metal liftoff than a single layer of PMMA (Fig. 3.5). The ideal thickness of PMMA depends on the subsequent process that utilises the pattern. Thinner PMMA layers require less exposure and allow higher resolutions but limit the amount of metal that can be reliably lifted off. PMMA is developed, which removes the exposed resist, using a 1:1 solution of methyl isobutyl ketone (MIBK) and iso-propanol (IPA). The solution is temperature controlled to 23 °C in a water bath during development. After 60 s of being lightly agitated in the solution the sample being developed is placed into a beaker of IPA to stop the development process and then blown dry in N<sub>2</sub>.

### HSQ

HSQ is a negative tone electron beam resist and therefore is ideal for patterns that require large areas of the substrate to be free from resist. HSQ also has a higher selectivity for etching most materials than PMMA. HSQ is spun coated in a similar process to the other resists using a spin speed of 3000 rpm for 60 s. The thickness of the HSQ layer can be controlled by dilution with methyl isobutyl ketone (MIBK). A 1:1 ratio was used throughout this work which results in a resist thickness of 300 nm. After spin coating the resist is soft baked on a temperature controlled hotplate for 120 s at 90  $^{\circ}$ C.

### 3.4.3 Proximity Effect

The proximity effect in electron beam lithography is the effect by which the exposure of an area of resist causes nearby areas of resist to also receive some exposure [77] (Fig. 3.6). This effect is due to forward scattering of the electrons in the resist and back scattering of electrons from the substrate back into the resist [78] and can be modelled by two Gaussians or more accurately through Monte Carlo simulations [79]. In order to correct for the proximity effect a process called proximity error correction is used. This process changes the relative exposure dose at each point so that the total dose received on areas that are required to be exposed will be equal. In general, the dose is increased for areas of low density and decreased for areas of high density. The relative doses are then multiplied by a constant factor to get the actual exposure dose which is determined by doing a dose test.



Figure 3.6: Illustration of forward and back scattering that leads to the proximity effect during electron beam exposure of a resist. Proximity effect causes the exposed area of the resist to be wider than designed if not properly taken into account during exposure.

### 3.4.4 Dose Testing

The correct dose to fully expose an area of resist will depend on many different factors, including the substrate below the resist, the thickness and type of resist, the density of the pattern, the developer solution, development time and temperature, and temperatures and times of soft bake and post bake. In order to determine the best dose to use for a new pattern a dose test is required. The new pattern or a large part of the new pattern is repeated multiple times on a single sample. Each copy of the pattern is exposed at a higher dose then the previous pattern. After development the sample can be examined to determine which dose provided the best pattern as in figure 3.7. This dose can then be used for exposure of the pattern for device fabrication.



Figure 3.7: Dose test for 2D array of 1  $\mu$ m radius circles patterned in HSQ. Scanning electron microscope image of circle arrays with three different doses after development. a) correct dosage, b) slightly overexposed, and c) highly overexposed.

# **3.5** Metal Deposition

Metal deposition is the process of creating a layer of metal on the surface of a sample. The metal can be patterned by etching or liftoff. Metal patterning was done throughout this work by the liftoff process. With metal etching the metal is first deposited over the entire surface of the sample. It is then coated with resist and patterned by photo- or electron beam lithography. After development of the resist the exposed metal is removed by wet or dry etching. The metal liftoff process begins with lithographic patterning of resist on the surface and is followed by the metal deposition. In the exposed areas the metal contacts and adheres to the surface while in the unexposed areas the metal lies on top of the resist. When the resist is removed the unwanted metal is removed as well.

### 3.5.1 Thermal Evaporation

In the JWNC the thermal evaporator is used to deposit metals that are not available in the electron beam evaporation systems. It was exclusively used in this work for the evaporation of a silver-antimony alloy (99% Ag 1% Sb). In the thermal evaporator the sample is placed upside-down above the metal target and the chamber is pumped down to high vacuum. The metal target is a thin wire coil of the desired material placed into a tungsten boat. A current is passed through the tungsten boat and it is heated through Joule heating. The metal target is heated through contact with the tungsten boat. The evaporated metal travels from the target to the sample where it cools down on contact and adheres to the surface. The metal film created by thermal evaporation is non-conformal. The metal thickness is controlled by monitoring a crystal frequency. As metal is evaporated onto the sample, some is also evaporated onto the crystal. As the crystal accumulates metal the resonant frequency of the crystal decreases allowing accurate measurement of deposition rates and totals. The deposition rate is controlled manually by adjusting the current through the tungsten boat.

### **3.5.2** Electron Beam Evaporation

Like metal deposition by thermal evaporation, metal deposition by electron beam evaporation produces a non-conformal layer of metal with little to no sidewall coverage. Inside a vacuum chamber an electron beam is used to heat the surface of a metal target which vapourizes. The metal atoms travel to the sample, hitting the surface, cooling down, and sticking to the surface. The use of an electron beam to heat the target is an improvement over the thermal evaporation method. The electron beam causes a more localized heating which allows the crucible holding the metal target to be water cooled, preventing contamination from the heating of non-target metal. This allows a highly pure film to be deposited on to the sample.





Thermal Evaporator

Figure 3.8: A schematic diagram of an electron beam metal evaporator and a thermal evaporator.

### 3.5.3 Metal Sputtering

Another method used to deposit metal was metal sputtering. A DC sputtering system like the one used in this work is composed of two planar electrodes. The target to be sputtered is placed on the cathode and the substrate on the anode. Argon gas is fed into the system and ionized and accelerated towards the cathode, striking the metal target and displacing metal atoms which can hit the substrate and adhere [80]. Metal sputtering creates a conformal layer of metal on the sample. This is useful when creating bond pads that are connected to the tops of mesas. The sputtering tool was exclusively used in this work to deposit aluminum bond pads. Figure 3.9 illustrates the difference between metal films deposited by sputtering and evaporation.



**Figure 3.9:** Comparison of metal deposition by electron beam or thermal evaporation vs sputtering. Sputtering creates a conformal layer of metal covering the sidewalls while evaporation deposits mainly on the top surface of a sample.

# 3.6 Etching

The removal of material from a sample is referred to as etching. There are two main types of etching: wet etching, in which a sample is placed in a liquid which chemically attacks the surface which tends to etch isotropically, and dry etching, which is done in specialized tools using plasma to chemically and physically etch the surface.

### 3.6.1 Wet Etching

To wet etch a surface a chemical etchant is chosen that has a high selectivity between the material to be removed and the underlying material or patterned resist. Due to the


Figure 3.10: Illustration of isotropic and anisotropic etching. Isotropic etches such as wet etches remove material in all directions at the same rate, while anisotropic etching can etch vertically.

purely chemical nature of wet etching, the etch is usually isotropic. One of the most common etchants used in the work is hydrogen fluoride (HF). HF is used before metal deposition onto Si or Ge to remove the native oxide that grows on the Si or Ge surface. HF etches silicon oxide and germanium oxide at very high rates while having virtually no interaction with Si or Ge surface. For a detailed study of the etch rates for many combinations of etchant and material please refer to [81] and [82]. The correct choice of etchant can quickly etch away the unwanted material without damaging underlying material.

## 3.6.2 Dry Etching

When high aspect ratio features or precise etch depths are required dry etching is the preferred method. Dry etching tools can use chemical etching, chemical passivation, and physical etching to control the etch results. Anisotropic etches allow high aspect ratio features while computer control and fast switching allow precise control of etch depths. Two main types of dry etch tools are available in the JWNC: reactive ion etching (RIE) and inductively coupled plasma (ICP) machines.

#### RIE

In RIE tools a single power source is used for both plasma generation and for creating a bias. RF power is applied to two parallel plates generating a plasma of reactive ions and the table bias that accelerates the ions towards the sample. Therefore, any increase in plasma power to increase the etch rate will also increase the ion energy which lowers selectivity and increases damage.

#### ICP

ICP tools have a loop outside the chamber that inductively creates an e-field within the chamber, as well as an RF generator to control the table bias, allowing separate control over the plasma density and e-field. This allows for separate control over the ion density and ion energy. Higher etch rates are achievable with low damage and high selectivity since the ion density can be high and ion energy low.

#### Reflectometry

Etch depth can be monitored *in-situ* by laser reflectometry. A 632.8 nm laser is reflected off the surface being etched and the returned power is monitored. Prior to etching the sample an in-house Matlab program is used to simulate the reflectivity as a function of etch depth. During the etch the reflectivity is monitored to determine when the etch should be stopped. The reflectivity of the surface for 632.8 nm oscillates as a function of etch depth, d, following equation 3.2.

$$d = \lambda/2n \tag{3.2}$$

where  $\lambda$  is the laser wavelength (632.8 nm) and *n* is the refractive index of the material being etched. For Ge with a refractive index of 5.47 at 632.8 nm [83] this equates to one oscillation every 58 nm. Another effect that is more relevant for multiple quantum well structures is periodic change in reflectivity due to the change in Si and Ge content as the wells and barriers are etched through (Fig. 3.11).

## 3.6.3 Dry Etching Recipes

Different recipes are available depending of the material to be etched, the underlying material and the resist used for patterning. The chosen recipe effects the selectivity, the etch rate, and the side wall angle.

#### Si/Ge Etches

For the QCSE devices created in the work a mesa structure is etched into the sample to define the active area of the device. AZ2070 was used as an etch mask and a Surface



**Figure 3.11:** Plot of the calculated reflectometry data from Matlab simulation of QCSE device. Smooth oscillations during etch though upper layers of constant composition correspond to equation 3.2 while sharp oscillations correspond to transitions between barrier and quantum well regions.

Technology Systems (STS) ICP-RIE etch tool was used to etch the material. A mixture of SF<sub>6</sub> and C<sub>4</sub>F<sub>8</sub> gasses was used with an etch rate of 130 nm/min. The SF<sub>6</sub> etches the Si and Ge while the C<sub>4</sub>F<sub>8</sub> produces a non-volatile film which protects the sidewalls but is removed from the bottom surface by the physical etching of the plasma. This combination produces an anisotropic etch with a slight undercut profile. The etch is required to stop once the bottom contact region has been reached. The QCSE devices do not have an etch stop layer so the etch is monitored using reflectometry to determine the correct etch time.

#### Silicon Nitride Etches

Silicon nitride is etched using an 80+ RIE etch tool. The gases used are CHF<sub>3</sub>/O<sub>2</sub> which etches silicon nitride at a rate of 50 nm/min. The silicon nitride etches are used to create via holes to allow contact to the top and bottom contact layers from the bond pad. The underlying material for the QCSE devices during the via hole etch is Pt which acts as an etch stop for the silicon nitride etch. The Pt etch stop allows the etch time to be increased to ensure the silicon nitride is completely removed without fear of over etching negating the need for reflectometry.

# 3.7 Dielectric deposition

Dielectric deposition is used to create a protective insulating layer on the substrate. Silicon nitride films are deposited with an ICP tool using precursor gases  $SiH_4$  and  $N_2$ [84]. The insulating layer allows for the deposition of large bond pads to allow wirebonded connections to top contact layers on small devices. Silicon nitride deposition can also be used for process induced strain. Silicon nitride layers that are compressively strained on top of the substrate will impart tensile strain into the substrate. The strain imparted will affect the electrical and optical properties of the material, opening up another method for controlling device properties.

# 3.8 Summary

In order to create useful devices from wafers various fabrication techniques are required. The device is built up using both additive and subtractive processes. Each process is comprised of many steps, each of which is important to be able to repeatably produce working devices. The following chapter will discuss the development and analysis of a metal contact process, which utilizes a number of the techniques discussed in this chapter, that was developed for creating Ohmic contacts to moderately doped n-type Ge layers.

# Chapter 4

# Silver Antimony Ohmic Contacts to n-Ge

## 4.1 Introduction

An important part of Ge-on-Si photonic devices is creating electrical contacts to semiconductor layers. High quality electrical contacts improve the power efficiency of fabricated devices. There is an increasing interest in using Ge for both electronic and optical devices on Si substrates to expand the functionality of Si technology. Ge is an attractive material for use in many different technologies including end-of-roadmap complementary metal-oxide semiconductor (CMOS), where its higher carrier mobilities compared to Si would potentially allow for reduced power operation [85]. Ge integration has benefits for Si photonics devices [86] such as photodetectors [87], single photon avalanche detectors [38], modulators [59] and Ge lasers [10]. Ge has also been used for spintronic devices [88] along with thermoelectrics [89] and there have been proposals for Ge/SiGe quantum cascade lasers (QCLs) [90]. Poor electrical contacts to n-Ge are a potential roadblock to the majority of these applications. Since non-Ohmic contacts require electrons to be thermally excited to overcome the barrier they result in 'hot' electrons entering the semiconductor. n-type Ge/SiGe QCLs are precisely designed such that the path of the electrons through the quantum wells leads to population inversion allowing gain via stimulated emission [91]. The 'hot' electrons from non-Ohmic contacts are detrimental to such devices since the higher energy electrons lead to excess current not along the prescribed path. With Ohmic contacts the number of high energy electrons is reduced since the electrons do not require excess energy to overcome a barrier.



**Figure 4.1:** A schematic diagram of an ideal metal-semiconductor contact. a) Energy levels for metal and semiconductor before contact. b) Energy levels for metal and semiconductor after contact in ideal case.

Low resistive Ohmic contacts to n-Ge are difficult to achieve because of strong Fermi level pinning at the charge neutral level (0.08 to 0.09 eV), [92, 93] just above the valence band. This produces a large Schottky barrier height at the metal-Ge interface [94], which is relatively independent of the metal work function (pinning factor S=0.02 to 0.05) [92, 93]. While the cause of the Fermi level pinning is not fully understood, multiple methods to overcome the pinning and form an Ohmic contact have been suggested. Degenerately *in-situ* P doped n-Ge can support Ohmic contacts to annealed Ni [95, 96]. The large dopant concentration required to achieve Ohmic behaviour results in segregation of the n-type dopants during chemical vapour deposition (CVD) which is detrimental for many vertical devices since any other epitaxial layers subsequently grown will be unintentionally doped [97]. Other methods investigated include lowering the barrier height by ion implantation [98, 99, 100], inserting an interfacial layer, [94, 101, 102, 103] and the deposition of Yb capped with SiO<sub>2</sub> [104]. AgSb alloys have been shown to form Ohmic contacts to low Ge concentration n-type Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> alloys, [105] leading to the investigation of AgSb for this moderately doped n-Ge layer.

## 4.1.1 Theory of Contacts

To connect a circuit to a semiconductor device electrical contacts are required. This requires a metal-semiconductor junction. According to Schottky theory [106] the barrier height will be equal to the difference in the work function in the metal ( $\phi_m$ ) and the electron affinity ( $\chi$ ) in the semiconductor (Fig 4.1). Therefore ideally it should be possible to create an Ohmic contact to an n-Ge layer simply by choosing a metal with the correct work function such that the barrier height is zero. Experimentally it has been seen that the barrier height is actually relatively independent of the metal work function. This effect is known as Fermi level pinning.



**Figure 4.2:** Energy diagram of metal-semiconductor interface with interface states for n-type semiconductor.

#### Fermi Level Pinning

There are two main competing theories for the cause of Fermi level pinning: surface interface states, and metal induced gap states (MIGS).

#### Surface Interface States

In surface interface state theory it is assumed that there is an interface layer between the semiconductor and the metal which is an intrinsic part of the semiconductor and therefore independent of the metal. The charge neutral level (CNL) is the energy level  $(q\phi_0 \text{ above the valence band})$  within the semiconductor band gap above which the states are acceptor like and below which the states are donor like. If the semiconductor is acceptor type then the Fermi level is above the CNL as shown in figure 4.2. The interface is assumed to be thin enough that it is transparent to electrons, *ie.* electrons can tunnel through with 100 percent probability, but able to support a potential drop. The interface trap charge  $Q_{ss}$  and the depletion layer charge in the semiconductor  $Q_{sc}$ are given by [107]

$$Q_{SS} = -qD_{it}(E_g - q\phi_0 - q\phi_b)$$
(4.1)

and

$$Q_{SC} = \sqrt{2q\epsilon_s N_D \left(\phi_B - \phi_n - \frac{k_B T}{q}\right)} \tag{4.2}$$

where  $D_{it}$  is the interface trap density and  $N_D$  is the dopant concentration. For thin interfacial layers where space-charge effects are negligible an equal and opposite charge  $Q_M$  develops on the surface of the metal.

$$Q_M = -(Q_{SS} + Q_{SC}) \tag{4.3}$$

The potential  $\Delta$  across the interfacial layer from Gauss' law is:

$$\Delta = -\frac{\delta Q_M}{\epsilon_i} \tag{4.4}$$

where  $\epsilon_i$  and  $\delta$  are the permittivity and thickness respectively of the interfacial layer. From the energy band diagram (Fig. 4.2) and using the fact that the Fermi level must be constant throughout the system at thermal equilibrium  $\Delta$  can be equated with other energies in the system.

$$\Delta = \phi_m - (\chi + \phi_B) \tag{4.5}$$

The barrier height  $\phi_B$  can be solved for by equating the right hand sides of equations 4.5 and 4.4 then substituting in equations 4.3, 4.2, and 4.1. Rearranging the equation, introducing C, and making some simplifying assumptions gives:

$$\phi_B = C(\phi_m - \chi) + (1 - C) \left(\frac{E_g}{q} - \phi_0\right)$$
(4.6)

$$C = \frac{\epsilon_i}{\epsilon_i + q^2 \delta D_{it}} \tag{4.7}$$

The two limiting cases are when  $D_{it} \to \infty$  which leads to C = 0

$$\phi_B = \frac{E_g}{q} - \phi_0 \tag{4.8}$$

or when  $D_{it} \to 0$  which leads to C = 1

$$\phi_B = \phi_m - \chi \tag{4.9}$$

In the first case, where the interface trap density goes to infinity, corresponds to a barrier height which is completely independent of the metal work function. The Fermi level is completely pinned. In the second case, where the interface trap density is zero, the barrier height is equal to the difference between metal work function and semiconductor electron affinity. This is the ideal case with no Fermi level pinning. In this model, the interface trap density determines the level of pinning. The Fermi level pinning of a semiconductor is quantified using the pinning factor S.

$$S = \frac{\delta \phi_B}{\delta \phi_m} \tag{4.10}$$

The pinning factor is the rate of change in barrier height with change in metal work function, where S = 0 corresponds to a completely pinned semiconductor, and S = 1corresponds to the ideal case of no pinning.

#### Metal Induced Gap States

According to MIGS theory, electron states in the metal have exponentially decaying tails in the band gap of the semiconductor [108]. The states that are above the CNL will be empty while the states below will be filled, leading to either a positive or negative net charge at the interface which has qualitatively the same effect as the surface interface states as discussed above. The Fermi level is then pinned at the CNL, creating a barrier height which is independent of the metal work function.

#### Experimental Barrier Height of Metal-Ge Contacts

It has been shown experimentally that metal-Ge contacts have a near zero pinning factor (S = 0.02 to 0.05) [92, 93]. In Ge the CNL is just (0.08 to 0.09 eV)[92, 93] above the valence band, leading to large Schottky barrier heights (around 0.55 eV) for n-type Ge contacts and low barrier heights for p-type Ge contacts.

#### **Conduction Mechanisms**

The conduction across a barrier is categorized into three different regimes which depend on the dominant emission. Which regime the conduction is in depends on the size of the barrier between the metal and semiconductor. For a semiconductor with a low doping concentration the conduction will be in the thermionic emission regime. In the low-doped regime the carriers are unable to tunnel through the barrier and require enough energy to overcome the barrier. The total current density in the thermionic regime  $(J_{TE})$  for a forward bias V can be expressed as follows:

$$J_{TE} = A^* T^2 \exp\left(\frac{-q\phi_B}{k_B T}\right) \exp\left(\frac{-qV}{k_B T}\right)$$
(4.11)

where  $A^*$  is the Richardson constant which is 143 Acm<sup>-2</sup>K<sup>-2</sup> for n-Ge[93]. In this regime the current density is effectively independent of the doping density. As the doping increases the barrier becomes thinner and because the band edge is curved the barrier is thinner near the top than at the bottom. At moderate doping densities the conduction transitions into the thermionic field emission regime  $(J_{TFE})$ . In this regime carriers with sufficient energy are able to tunnel through the barrier.

$$J_{TFE} = \frac{A^*T\sqrt{\pi E_{00}q(\phi_B - \phi_n - V_F)}}{k_B \cosh\left(E_{00}/k_B T\right)} \exp\left(\frac{-q\phi_n}{k_B T} - \frac{q(\phi_B - \phi_n)}{E_0}\right) \exp\left(\frac{qV_F}{E_0}\right)$$
(4.12)

where

$$E_{00} = \frac{q\hbar}{2} \sqrt{\frac{N_D}{m^* \epsilon_s}} \tag{4.13}$$

$$E_0 \equiv E_{00} \coth\left(\frac{E_{00}}{k_B T}\right) \tag{4.14}$$

At extremely high doping levels the carriers are able to tunnel through the barrier without requiring any energy above the conduction band. When this happens the conduction enters the field emission regime in which the dominant conduction mechanism is the tunnelling of carriers through the barrier. There is therefore very little temperature dependence relative to the other regimes. When the contact is in the field emission regime the conduction will be Ohmic.

$$J_{FE} \approx \frac{A^* T \pi \exp(-q(\phi_B - V_F)/E_{00})}{c_1 k_B \sin(\pi c_1 k_B T)}$$
(4.15)

where

$$c_1 \equiv \frac{1}{2E_{00}} \log\left(\frac{4(\phi_B - V_F)}{-\phi_n}\right) \tag{4.16}$$

Comparing  $E_{00}$  to  $k_BT$  allows one to determine the conduction regime. If  $E_{00} \gg k_BT$  then the conduction will be in the field emission regime, if  $E_{00} \ll k_BT$  then the conduction will be in the thermionic emission regime. Otherwise the conduction will not be dominated by either field emission or thermionic emission and therefore be in the thermionic field emission regime. The regime therefore depends on both the temperature and the doping density. The difference in the three regimes can be seen in figure 4.3 where the thermionic and field emission current densities are plotted for each of the three regimes as a function of doping concentration.

## 4.1.2 Ohmic Contacts to n-Ge

Previous work done in this group has shown that degenerately *in-situ* P doped n-Ge can support Ohmic contacts to annealed Ni [95, 96]. The large dopant concentration required to achieve Ohmic behaviour results in segregation of the n-type dopants during chemical vapour deposition (CVD) which is detrimental for many vertical devices since any other epitaxial layers subsequently grown will be unintentionally doped [97]. Other methods which have been investigated include lowering the barrier height by ion implantation [98, 99], inserting an interfacial layer [94, 100, 102, 103], and the deposition of Yb capped with SiO<sub>2</sub>[104].



**Figure 4.3:** A comparison of the three conduction regimes in a Ge contact. As doping level is increased field emission increases to the point where it is dominant over thermionic emission. Regimes of thermionic (TE), thermionic field (TFE), and field emission (FE) are shown.

## 4.1.3 Growth Issues

Ideally an n-type Ohmic contact in Ge would be created by highly doping [95] ( $N_D > 1 \times 10^{19} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ ) the semiconductor contact layers during epitaxial growth. A high enough dopant level such that electron transport between the metal and the semiconductor would be in the field emission regime would allow low resistivity NiGe contacts to be used. While this is useful for top contact layers, this is not possible for contacts layers that are below active regions that are required to be intrinsic. The n-type dopants in germanium will diffuse due to the high temperatures [109] experienced during growth. The high level of dopants required for standard n-type Ohmic contacts below the active layers will cause these layers to be unintentionally doped due to the high diffusivity of the n-type dopants in Ge which increases with higher doping concentrations [97, 110, 111].

## 4.1.4 Characterization of Contacts

To determine the quality of the contacts, test structures are fabricated and measurements are made. Test structures fabricated to characterize the contacts consist of circular transfer length method (CTLM) structures [112] to determine contact resistivity, lines of contacts for structural characterization, and two terminal wirebonded contacts for low temperature measurements.

#### Low Temperature Measurements

As conduction by field emission has a low temperature dependence, and thermionic emission has high temperature dependence, the resistance of the contacts as a function of temperature can be used to determine the conduction regime. As the temperature is decreased the average energy of the electrons will decrease and less electrons will have enough energy to surmount the barrier. This results in less conduction due to thermionic emission. Field emission, on the other hand, has comparatively less dependence on temperature as the energy distribution of the electrons has very little effect on the tunnelling probability. Therefore, if the dominant conduction mechanism at room temperature is field emission there will be little change in conduction as the temperature is decreased, if the dominate conduction mechanism is thermionic emission the conduction will decrease exponentially as the temperature decreases.

#### Specific Contact Resistivity

The specific contact resistivity is a standard metric for the quality of a Ohmic contact which is independent of contact size. A lower specific contact resistivity contact process results in a lower total resistance when comparing contacts of equal size. Test structures are required to extract the specific contact resistivity for a contact. Test structures that can be used to determine the specific contact resistivity include cross bridge Kelvin resistors structures, transfer length method structures and circular transfer length method structures.

#### Cross Bridge Kelvin Resistor

A cross bridge Kelvin resistor (CBKR) is a four probe technique used to measure the contact resistance. Two adjacent arms of the cross are formed by a mesa in the semiconductor, and the opposite two arms are formed by metal with contact between them forming a square in the centre (Fig. 4.4). The measurement is setup so that the current flows in one semiconductor arm through the contact and out the opposite metal arm, while the voltage is measured from the remaining arms. Since ideally no current flows through the voltage arms the voltage difference measured will be the voltage difference of the contact, eliminating parasitic resistances from the measurement. The



Voltage Tap 2

Figure 4.4: A schematic diagram of a CBKR structure. Probes are placed on the ends of each arm with the current flowing left to right while the voltage difference is measured between the upper and lower arms.

contact resistance  $R_C$  for a current I will therefore be

$$R_C = \frac{V_1 - V_2}{I} \tag{4.17}$$

where  $V_1 - V_2$  is the voltage difference between the two voltage measurements. The specific contact resistivity  $\rho_c$  can then be calculated from  $R_C$  and the contact area A.

$$\rho_c = R_C \times A \tag{4.18}$$

This calculation for the contact resistivity assumes that the arms are perfectly aligned and the contact area covers the entire centre area. For real devices there will be a non-zero misalignment between the two layers which will lead to some current flow within the voltage arms. This causes the voltage difference between the arms to be higher than the voltage drop across the contact. The misalignment will cause the resistivity to be over estimated by this method. Another factor is that fabrication of a CBKR requires four lithography steps: a mesa layer, a contact layer, a via hole layer, and a layer for the metal arms. A passivation layer is also required. Contact pads for all four arms can be deposited simultaneously with the metal arms.



Figure 4.5: A schematic diagram of a TLM structure. L is the length of each contact, Z is the width, and d is the gap spacing, shown for one of the pairs of contacts.

### Transfer Length Method

Another type of structure used to determine the specific contact resistivity of a contact is known as a transfer length method (TLM) structure. A series of identical rectangular contacts of width Z and length L is fabricated with increasing gap spacing d between each pair of contacts (Fig 4.5). The area is isolated electrically by a mesa etch surrounding the series of contacts. TLM structures have a simpler fabrication process than CBKR structures requiring only one metal deposition step and one mesa etch. The total resistance ( $R_T$ ) between contacts with spacing d is

$$R_T(d) = \frac{R_{\rm sh}d}{Z} + 2R_C \tag{4.19}$$

Therefore the contact resistance is equal to half the measured resistance for a gap spacing of zero. While this cannot be measured directly it can be extrapolated by measuring  $R_T$  for multiple gap spacings and using a linear fit. The specific contact resistivity can then be calculated using equation 4.18 where A = LZ.

While TLM structures do not suffer from the accuracy problems for low specific contact resistivity values [113] that CBKR structures do, they still suffer from alignment issues. If there is a gap between the edge of the contact and the edge of the mesa there will be some spreading of current which will effect the measurement.

Both of these methods have the disadvantage of requiring multiple lithography steps. Having multiple lithography steps adds to the time and complexity of the fabrication. It also introduces alignment errors which lead to errors in the extracted specific contact resistivity. CTLM structures require only a single lithography step, eliminating layer to layer alignment issues. They can also be easily added as test structures within a device fabrication process (ideally in the same steps as the device contacts).



Figure 4.6: A schematic diagram of a CTLM structure L is the radius of the inner contact while d is the gap spacing.

A CTLM structure consists of an inner circular contact surrounded by an annular gap within a larger contact area. Each measurement set contains multiple CTLMs with varying gap sizes. In order to measure the contact resistivity, the resistance due to the contact must be isolated from the other components of the measured resistance. To remove any resistance in the wires or probes from the measured resistance the four-point measurement technique is used. One pair of probes supplies a voltage and measures the current while the second pair are current limited to measure the difference in voltage between the two contact areas. The total resistance measured  $(R_m)$  can be expressed as [114]

$$R_m = \frac{R_{\rm sh}}{2\pi} \left( \ln\left(\frac{L+d}{L}\right) + \frac{L_T I_0(L/L_T)}{LI_1(L/L_T)} + \frac{L_T K_0((L+d)/L_T)}{(L+d)K_1((L+d)/L_T)} \right)$$
(4.20)

where  $I_0$ ,  $I_1$ ,  $K_0$  and  $K_1$  are the modified Bessel functions,  $L_T$  is the transfer length, L and d are the radius and gap spacing as shown in figure 4.6. When  $L > 4L_T$  then  $\frac{I_0(L/L_T)}{I_1(L/L_T)}$  and  $\frac{K_0((L+d)/L_T)}{K_1((L+d)/L_T)}$  can be approximated by unity, simplifying equation 4.20 to

$$R_m = \frac{R_{\rm sh}}{2\pi} (d + 2L_T)C \tag{4.21}$$

where

$$C = \frac{L}{d} \ln \left( 1 + \frac{d}{L} \right) \tag{4.22}$$

For each contact resistivity measurement the resistance of multiple CTLM structures with different gap spacings (d) is measured.  $R_m$  is a non-linear function of d but  $R_m/C$  will yield a linear function of d with a slope of  $\frac{R_{\rm sh}}{2\pi}$  and with  $d = -2L_T$  when



Figure 4.7: An example of the measured and corrected resistance values for a CTLM structure with the linear fit used to calculate the contact resistivity and sheet resistance. The example is a Ag/Sb (99%/1%) alloy on n-Ge CTLM structure with 50  $\mu$ m radius annealed at 400 °C.

 $R_m/C = 0$ . The sheet resistance and transfer length can then be extracted from the linear fit to  $R_m/C$ . Figure 4.7 shows an example of measured resistance data as a function of gap spacing, the corrected data  $(R_m/C)$  and a linear fit to the corrected data. From the linear fit the values of  $L_T$  and  $R_{\rm sh}$  can be extracted, and the contact resistivity  $(\rho_c)$  can be calculated:

$$\rho_c = \mathcal{L}_T^2 \times \mathcal{R}_{\rm sh} \tag{4.23}$$

### **Structural Characterization**

Analysis of the physical structure of the contact is performed using scanning transmission electron microscopy (STEM) and atomic force microscopy (AFM). STEM work was performed with the help of Dr Ian McLaren of the physics department at the University of Glasgow.

For STEM thin cross sections of the contact are removed from the sample using a focused ion beam (FIB) lift-out process. Samples to be measured with a STEM must be less than 40 nm thick. They are then able to be placed into the STEM. In a STEM an electron beam is used to scan across the surface of the sample. High-angle annular dark-field (HAADF) images and dual electron energy loss spectroscopy are used to characterize the sample. HAADF images are constructed by collecting the electrons that have been scattered at high angles from the sample. The scattering is dependent on the atomic mass of the atoms. Dual electron energy loss spectroscopy gives information about the elemental composition of the sample at the beam location.

When a beam of electrons with a narrow range of energies is focused onto a small area of the sample, some of the electrons will interact with the sample and lose some energy. Each element creates a unique set of energy loss edges at known energies. The edges are named by the initial state of the atomic electron involved and is the minimum energy needed to remove an electron. If the first shell is involved the edge is K; for the second shell the edge is  $L_i$ , where *i* is 1, 2 or 3 for the 2s,  $2p^{1/2}$  and  $2p^{3/2}$  orbitals respectively. M, N, and O are for shells 3, 4 and 5. For some initial orbitals the transition energy is too closely spaced to differentiate so the labels are combined. For example, for the  $3d^{3/2}$  and  $3d^{5/2}$  orbitals the edge is  $M_{4,5}$ . The energies, shapes, and relative intensities for most atoms are well known; for example, Ge  $L_{2,3}$  (the  $L_{2,3}$  of Germanium) is 1217 eV [115]. This information can be used to determine the composition of a given volume of the sample. The electron beam is moved along the surface of the cross section to create a map of the composition.

With AFM a height map of the surface of a sample can be made. The AFM tool uses an atomically sharp tip to precisely measure the height of the surface at a given point. As the tip scans across the surface the height of the tip is controlled in order to keep the force between the tip and the surface constant using a feedback mechanism. The applied force that is required to maintain the required height is the signal that is used to measure the height [116].

# 4.2 Silver Antimony Ohmic Contacts

Wafers with Ge/SiGe QCL designs and highly doped n-type top and bottom contacts have been investigated and showed no signs of the resonance tunnelling expected from the designs. The diffusion of dopants from the bottom contact through the active layer was believed to have contributed to the failure of the design, so designs with moderately doped bottom contacts were designed and fabricated. As the bottom contact layer was not highly doped enough to support NiGe Ohmic contacts another process was required. Since AgSb contacts have been shown to work in low Ge content SiGe the alloy was investigated for use with an n-type Ge contact layer.

## 4.2.1 Wafer for Contact Development

To develop and test AgSb contact processes with a moderately phosphorus doped Ge contact layer samples with a similar structure to a QCL but without the active layers

above the bottom contact were used. The n-Ge was epitaxially grown using an ASM Epsilon 2000E low pressure CVD tool on a p<sup>-</sup> Si(001) wafer [21]. The Ge layer was 2  $\mu$ m thick and a phosphane precursor produced an *in-situ* P doping of 1 × 10<sup>18</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>. The Mott criteria for Ge:P is 2.5 × 10<sup>17</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup> [117], indicating that the sample is metallic with a doping level that is a factor of 4 above the metal-insulator transition.

## 4.2.2 Fabrication of Contacts

The wafer was first cleaved in to a number of  $15 \text{ mm}^2$  chips. The chips for electrical measurements were prepared by first cleaning in acetone, followed by a rinse in IPA, and then blown dry in  $N_2$ . Circular transfer length method (CTLM) structures [112] as well as linear contact regions were then patterned in PMMA using a Vistec VB6 electron beam lithography tool to produce devices with a placement accuracy of  $\sim 1$  nm. The samples were developed using a 1:1 solution of (MIBK): (IPA) for 60 s followed by a rinse in IPA and then blown dry in  $N_2$ . The samples were then dipped in a 5:1 buffered HF solution to remove any native oxide before immediately being placed into a metal evaporator which is then pumped down to  $< 1 \times 10^{-6}$  mbar, where 90 nm of a mixed Ag/Sb (99%/1%) alloy was deposited by thermal evaporation. The standard process for thermal evaporation had to be modified to ensure antimony deposition. In the standard process for thermal evaporation the sample shutter is closed while the metal warms up until a deposition rate of around 0.30 nm/s is obtained. Due to the differing melting points between Ag and Sb this process resulted little to no Sb deposited onto the sample. Instead the sample shutter was open during the metal warm up phase of the thermal evaporation resulting in sufficient Sb deposition. Following lift-off, the samples were annealed for 5 minutes in  $N_2$  in a rapid thermal annealer at temperatures from 300-550 °C.

#### Low Temperature Measurement

In order to measure the resistance of the contacts at cryogenic temperatures samples were fabricated that consisted of two AgSb contacts wirebonded to a leadless chip carrier (LCC). The LCC was placed on the cold head of a cryostat. The devices were connected through the cryostat to an Agilent B1500A semiconductor device analyser. The cryostat chamber was placed under a vacuum of  $< 1 \times 10^{-7}$  mbar and had a minimum temperature of 6.5 K. The IV characteristics of the contact were measured as a function of sample temperature; this is shown in Fig. 4.8. It is clear that the



Figure 4.8: The current density versus voltage characteristics measured at different temperatures for a 90 nm AgSb alloy on n-Ge contact annealed at 400  $^{\circ}$ C for 5 min. For comparison the room temperature IV for the NiGe contact annealed at 340  $^{\circ}$ C is displayed (black line).

contact remains Ohmic down to the base temperature of the measurement cryostat of 6.5 K. There is noticeable improvement in the current conduction for the IVs at 6.5 K and 77 K compared to room temperature, which can be explained from an increase in conductivity for the as-grown n-Ge at lower temperatures [118]. The Ohmic behaviour at 77 K and below and the minimal temperature dependence is an indication that field emission is the dominant conduction mechanism at 300 K.

### **CTLM** Measurements

Each chip contained multiple CTLM structures with inner radii ranging from 50 to 100  $\mu$ m, more than four times the transfer length [112] (around 7.5  $\mu$ m), with gap spacings ranging from 2  $\mu$ m to 100  $\mu$ m, comparable in size to others[119], the outer contact was contained within an 800  $\mu$ m × 800  $\mu$ m square. The CTLM structures were characterised using a four connection (separate force and sense for voltage and current) DC configuration with a voltage sweep from -2 to 2 V using an Agilent B1500 semiconductor parameter analyser. When a contact is Ohmic the voltage sweep shows a linear relation between the voltage difference and the current applied. Contacts annealed at 350 °C and below showed non-Ohmic behaviour, contacts annealed at 400 and 450 °C showed Ohmic behaviour (Fig. 4.9), and contacts annealed at 500 °C and above where unable to be measured due to poor surface quality.

For each of the CTLM measurements from the Ohmic contacts the resistance was calculated by taking the slope of a linear fit to the current as a function of voltage. The specific contact resistivity was then calculated using equation 4.23. Table 4.1



**Figure 4.9:** The semi-log current density versus voltage characteristics for a 90 nm 99% Ag / 1% Sb alloy on n-Ge annealed at 300-550 °C. The NiGe sample annealed at 340 °C is also shown (black line). The AgSb on n-Ge contacts annealed at 400 and 450 °C for 5 min are clearly Ohmic.

Anneal (°C)	Contact	$\rho_c \; (\Omega \text{-cm}^2)$
$\leq 350$	Schottky	-
400	Ohmic	$(1.1 \pm 0.2) \times 10^{-5}$
450	Ohmic	$(1.7 \pm 0.3) \times 10^{-5}$
$\geq$ 500	Agglomerated	-

**Table 4.1:** The contact type that arises for a AgSb alloy on moderately doped n-Ge annealed at different temperatures. The specific contact resistivity is included for the Ohmic contacts.

summarizes the results of the CTLM measurements.

### Structural Characterization

The agglomerated surfaces of the samples annealed at 500 and 550 °C were investigated using an AFM. From the height map of the surface of the contacts it can be seen that instead of the continuous surface the unannealed and lower anneal temperatures contacts had, the metal film is broken up with areas where there is no metal (Fig. 4.10). The 500 °C sample shows that mounds of metal have formed and the 550 °C sample shows much smaller and more numerous peaks of metal. These anneal temperatures are unable to provide good contacts for a device due to the poor surface morphology.

Linear contacts of AgSb annealed at 400 °C were fabricated to allow structural characterization of the contact. With the help of Dr Ian McLaren of the physics department at the University of Glasgow, cross sectional samples were prepared by the focused



Figure 4.10: Surface roughness map of the AgSb on moderately doped n-Ge contact annealed at 500  $^{\circ}$ C (left) and 550  $^{\circ}$ C (right) measured with an atomic force microscope. The smooth surface in the bottom of the figure corresponds to an area of blank Ge.

ion beam (FIB) lift-out process using a FEI Nova Nanolab 200 Dualbeam FIB microscope. STEM characterisation was then performed on the resulting sections using a JEOL ARM200F microscope equipped with a cold field emission gun electron source and a Gatan GIF Quantum electron energy loss spectrometer. Characterisation was performed using electrons accelerated to 200 kV, with images recorded using the high-angle annular dark-field (HAADF) mode and dual electron energy loss spectrum (DualEELS) images recorded over an energy range up to 2100 eV covering the edges for Ag  $M_{4,5}$ , Sb  $M_{4,5}$  and Ge  $L_{2,3}$ , as well as C K. Quantification was performed using a new convolution-based approach provided by Gatan Inc. (Pleasanton, USA) based on earlier work by Verbeeck *et al.*[120, 121] which fits the fine structure at the absorption edges based on the low loss spectrum and thus accounts for multiple scattering explicitly through the use of the whole DualEELS dataset.

The HAADF image of figure 4.11 shows a cross-section of a contact annealed at 400 °C for 5 minutes. The distribution of the Ag, Sb, and Ge are shown both separately and as a multicoloured overlay map. In both the image and the maps, it is clear that, unlike Ni<sub>x</sub>Ge<sub>y</sub> contacts [95], the AgSb forms a predominately flat contact on the surface, with just the occasional dip into the Ge. It is also observed that the Sb has diffused to a depth of ~5 nm at a concentration of a few percent. This corresponds to a doping density of ~5 × 10<sup>19</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>. This is significant enough to consider the Ge highly doped. The top surface of the contact is rougher. This is most likely due to the fact that the contact is polycrystalline with nanosized grains. The estimates from the DualEELS quantification suggest an approximate 75% Ag / 25% Sb composition, confirming that Sb is preferentially evaporated from the target, enriching it significantly in the film.



Figure 4.11: HAADF images of a AgSb on n-Ge contact annealed at 400 °C for 5 minutes.

# 4.3 Comparison with Literature

YbGe contacts to low doped n-type Ge  $(N_D \approx 1 \times 10^{15} \text{cm}^{-3})$  have been demonstrated that produce a contact resistivity of  $2.4 \times 10^{-5} \ \Omega - \text{cm}^2[104]$ . This technique requires Yb which is highly reactive with oxygen and therefore requires an additional protective layer.

Interfacial layers such as TiO<sub>2</sub> have been used to reduce the electron barrier height, but also introduce addition tunnelling resistance. Specific contact resistivies as low as  $1.3 \times 10^{-6} \ \Omega - \text{cm}^2$  have been demonstrated[101], but with highly doped n-type Ge  $(N_D \approx 3 \times 10^{19} \text{cm}^{-3})$ . ZnO has been used as well and has better specific contact resistivies, as low as  $1.4 \times 10^{-7} \ \Omega - \text{cm}^2$  [94] on n-type Ge  $(N_D \approx 2.5 \times 10^{19} \text{cm}^{-3})$ . The resistivity depends greatly on the thickness of the interfacial layers which adds to the difficulty of the method as compared to AgSb co-deposition.

Ion implantation can also be used to highly dope a contact layer, allowing Ohmic contact through conventional metal deposition and annealing techniques. Two disadvantages of ion implantation is the damage caused by the ions and the diffusion of the dopants during the required activation anneals. Laser annealing can be useful for high dopant activation [99] with low diffusion of dopants. Again this technique has addition complexities compared to the AgSb co-deposition process.

NiGe contacts annealed using a rapid thermal annealer on highly doped epitaxially grown n-Ge  $(N_D > 1 \times 10^{19} \text{cm}^{-3})$  have shown specific contact resistivities as low as  $2.3 \times 10^{-7} \ \Omega - \text{cm}^2$ . The requirement of highly doped epitaxial layers makes this

process incompatible with wafer designs requiring an Ohmic n-type bottom contact with intrinsic regions above.

## 4.4 Future Techniques

A fuller analysis of AgSb contacts to n-type Ge could be achieved by investigation into the minimum *in-situ* doping required for Ohmic contacts. All the contacts fabricated so far have been on n-type Ge with a doping density of  $N_D = 1 \times 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. Fabrication of AgSb contacts on a series of wafers with varied doping densities would allow determination of the effect of the *in-situ* dopant concentration on the contact resistivity.

Controlling the amount of Sb deposited proved challenging. The difficulty is due to the different melting points between Ag and Sb. The evaporation of a AgSb alloy results in preferential evaporation of the Sb which enriches the Ag content of the target during the evaporation. Initial processes resulted in no Sb being deposited on the sample because the small amount that was in the target was evaporated during the outgassing phase before the shutter was opened. Another issue is that the small amount of Sb being evaporated is less than can be measured via the crystal monitor used in the evaporation chamber. Improved results could be obtained by optimizing the ratio and thicknesses of Ag and Sb. Use of separate Ag and Sb targets could allow better control of the ratio to be deposited and allow optimization of the evaporation process.

While AgSb was able to produce Ohmic contacts the specific contact resistivity was relatively high. Substituting the Ag in the alloy with other metals could make use of Sb to increase the dopant concentration while forming lower resistivity contacts. To date NiGe contacts have been shown to produce one of the lowest specific contact resistivities, but only on highly doped layers which are incompatible with epitaxially grown active layers above due to dopant diffusion during growth. The process used for NiGe Ohmic contacts could be modified to include a co-deposition of Sb during the Ni deposition. A co-deposition of Ni and Sb followed by an anneal could potentially allow for an Ohmic contact to moderately doped n-Ge with extremely low contact resistivities. Finding the optimal anneal time and temperature would require experimentation. Dopant segregation during NiGe formation, known as the snowplough effect, could potentially increase the dopant concentration and lead to better contacts.

## 4.5 Summary

To reduce n-type dopant diffusion during epitaxial growth, n-type Ge Ohmic contact layers grown below nominally undoped active layers require lower doping concentrations than those required to produce low  $\rho_c$  Ohmic contacts. The NiGe Ohmic contacts to n-type Ge requires a highly doped layer (N<sub>D</sub> > 1 × 10<sup>19</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>), otherwise a Schottky contact forms. Other processes that have been demonstrated require additional steps, adding to the complexity of the contact scheme. A process for the creation of Ohmic contacts to moderately doped n-type Ge ( $N_D = 1 \times 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ ), which requires only a AgSb alloy deposition and an anneal, has been demonstrated. A deposition of a AgSb alloy followed by a 400 °C anneal for 5 minutes can produce an Ohmic contact with a  $\rho_c$  of  $(1.1 \pm 0.2) \times 10^{-5} \Omega$ -cm<sup>2</sup> on n-type Ge layers doped to a factor of four above the metal insulator transition. The contacts remained Ohmic down to 6.5 K, indicating that field emission is the main electrical conduction mechanism. As this contact process can produce Ohmic contacts to moderately doped n-type Ge they could prove useful for the fabrication of Ge photonic devices such as n-type Ge/SiGe THz QCLs.

The main work in this thesis is on quantum confined Stark effect (QCSE) devices made from Ge/SiGe MQW pin structures which use a p-type bottom contact, and n-type top contact both of which can be highly doped without significant dopant diffusion into the intrinsic region. Simple NiGe deposition allowed Ohmic contact to both the top and bottom contact layers for these devices. The following chapter will introduce the physics of QCSE with a focus on the SiGe material system and discuss results based on numerical simulations of QCSE designs.

# Chapter 5

# Simulation of Low Voltage QCSE Designs

# 5.1 Introduction

The quantum confined Stark effect (QCSE) is the effect on the absorption of light in a quantum well due to a change in electric field. The QCSE can be used in semiconductor devices to modulate the optical absorption using an applied voltage. As well as optical modulators as mentioned in the previous chapter, wavelength tunable photodetectors can be fabricated from MQW structures in which the detection edge is switchable by an applied voltage due to the QCSE [122]. This chapter will begin with an overview of the physics required to understand the QCSE with details focused on the Ge and SiGe material system. This will be followed by discussion and analysis of the results from numerical simulation of low voltage Ge/SiGe MQW QCSE designs.

# 5.2 Physics of QCSE

The QCSE is an effect that changes the absorption spectra of a QW as a function of the electric field across the QW. An understanding of the physics of QW confined wavefunctions is required to understand the QCSE. Designing these QW structures requires knowledge of the band structures of Ge and SiGe and how they are affected by strain. How to relate the wavefunctions and energy levels to the optical absorption is critical to understanding how the QCSE can be used to modulate the amplitude of



**Figure 5.1:** First three wavefunctions calculated for infinite and finite (1V deep) 10 nm quantum wells. In the infinite quantum well the wavefunctions are completely confined to the well, while in the more realistic finite quantum well the wavefunctions extend into the barriers. Due to the extended size of the finite wavefunctions the energy level is lower than the energy level of the infinite well wavefunctions. The difference between corresponding wavefunctions increases as the energy approaches the top of the barrier.

a light wave. This section will detail the physics of QWs, band structures, and optical absorption to provide the background knowledge required for QCSE device design and simulation.

## 5.2.1 Quantum Wells

A quantum well is a potential well with dimensions that are small enough to quantize the allowed energies of electrons within the well. The ideal well is known as a onedimensional infinite square well (1DSW) and provides a good understanding of more complicated, realizable wells. The potential V as a function of position z for a 1DSW is:

$$V(z) = \begin{cases} \infty, & \text{if } z < 0\\ 0, & \text{if } 0 < z < a\\ \infty, & \text{if } z > a \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

where a is the width of the quantum well. This is a quantum well surrounded by barriers with an infinite height. To determine the allowed wavefunctions  $(\psi(z,t))$  of an electron in the well the Schrödinger equation can be solved.

$$i\hbar\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\psi(z,t) = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2}\psi(z,t) + V(z)\psi(z,t)$$
(5.2)

where  $\hbar$  is the reduced Plank's constant and m is the mass of the electron. Since there is no force on the electron in the well its wavefunction inside the well is the same as a free particle

$$\psi(z,t) = [A\sin(kz) + B\cos(kz)]e^{-i\omega t}$$
(5.3)

where A and B are arbitrary complex numbers, k is the wavenumber and  $\omega$  is the angular frequency. As the potential is infinite outside of the well the wavefunction must be equal to zero outside the boundaries. The wavefunction must not have discontinuities so the wavefunction must also be zero at the boundaries. Solving for the boundary conditions leaves the following for  $\psi(z,t)$ ;

$$\psi(z,t) = \begin{cases} A\sin(kz)e^{-i\omega t}, & \text{in the well} \\ 0, & \text{outside the well} \end{cases}$$
(5.4)

where

$$k = \frac{n\pi}{a}$$
, where  $n = \{1, 2, 3, 4...\}$  (5.5)

k is quantized, it can only take on certain discrete values. The energy of the electron can be calculated from the dispersion equation:

$$E = \frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m} \tag{5.6}$$

Substituting in the discrete values for k gives a set of discrete values for energy.

$$E = \frac{\hbar^2 n^2 \pi^2}{2ma^2}$$
(5.7)

These are the energy levels that are allowed within an infinite square well. Figure 5.1 shows a comparison of the wavefunctions and energy levels between a 10 nm 1DSW and a 10 nm quantum well with a finite barrier height. For holes in the valence band a well has a higher potential than the barriers. This is due to holes having a negative mass.

When the barrier height surrounding the quantum well is finite the wavefunctions will be non-zero in the barrier region. For non-ideal potentials the wavefunction and energy levels are calculated by solving the Schrödinger equation numerically.



**Figure 5.2:** Types of band alignment between two materials A and B, type I straddling, type II staggered, and type III broken. With type I alignment, if material B has a smaller bandgap than A and is between two layers of A, there will be a quantum well in both the valence band and conduction band in material B

## 5.2.2 Heterojunctions

When different semiconductor materials are in contact there will be a discontinuity in the valence and conduction bands. This is known as a heterojunction. There are three different types heterojunctions based on the alignment of the bands (Fig. 5.2): straddling (type I), staggered (type II) and broken (type III).

When two materials have type I alignment, that allows the creation of quantum wells in the valence band and conduction band in the same location. If the wells are not in the same location the matrix element (overlap integral) between the valence and conduction band wavefunctions will be negligible.

## 5.2.3 Crystal Structure

The unit cell of a crystal structure is the smallest volume that when repeated in space forms the full crystal structure. Each atom in a Si, Ge, or SiGe alloy crystal requires four nearest neighbours to support the four covalent bonds required. These elements therefore form crystals with a cubic diamond structure (Fig. 5.3). The diamond structure is equivalent to two face centred cubic (FCC) lattices which are offset by 1/4 of the lattice constant. The crystal structure is highly symmetric being invariant under many different rotations, any permutation of the x, y, and z axes, and mirroring of the x, y, and z axes. The lattice constant is the length of an edge of the unit cell. For unstrained bulk crystals at room temperature the lattice constant of Si is 5.431 Å, Ge is 5.658 Å, and SiGe is function of the Ge content. A similar crystal structure known as zinc-blend is used by III-V materials such as GaAs. In a zinc-blend crystal each FCC sub-lattice is limited to a single element.



Figure 5.3: Unit cell showing the position of atoms in a diamond crystal, such as Si, Ge or SiGe crystals.

## 5.2.4 Band Structures

The periodic structure of a semiconductor crystal leads to a periodic Coulomb potential that is felt by electrons. The periodicity of the potential requires wavefunctions that are also periodic. The nearly free electron model is useful for calculating the theoretical band structure of a semiconductor. While free electrons are free from external forces, nearly free electrons are influenced by the crystal's periodicity and, due to Bragg reflections, there are energies in which they cannot exist, creating an energy gap.

A simple one dimensional model can be used to demonstrate the origin of the band gap. We shall consider an electron in a potential V(x) which is periodic with a period d such that V(x + d) = V(x) such as;

$$V(x) = 2U\cos(gx) \tag{5.8}$$

where  $g = 2\pi/d$ . Solving the stationary Schrödinger equation

$$-\frac{\hbar^2}{2m}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^2}\Psi(x) + V(x)\Psi(x) = E\Psi(x)$$
(5.9)

In order to normalize the wavefunction, we consider a finite crystal of length Ndand use periodic boundary conditions on the wavefunction  $\Psi(x) = \Psi(x + Nd)$ . The wavefunction can then be expanded in a discrete Fourier series

$$\Psi(x) = \sum_{q} a_q \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}qx} \tag{5.10}$$

where q is an integer multiple of  $2\pi/Nd$ . The periodicity introduced by the finite crystal length can be eliminated by taking  $N \to \infty$ . Substituting equation 5.10 into



Figure 5.4: Calculated energy as a function of k for a 1D crystal structure. The band gap is noticeable between bands 1 and 2, and 2 and 3, while the band gap between 3 and 4 exists but is barely noticeable on this plot. U = 5 eV, d = 0.3 nm,  $l_{\text{max}} = 5$ . For  $l_{\text{max}}$  values greater than three there was no noticeable change in the energies calculated for the first four energy bands.

the stationary Schrödinger equation yields

$$\sum_{q} \left( \frac{\hbar^2 q^2}{2m} e^{iqx} + U e^{i(q+g)x} + U e^{i(q-g)x} \right) a_q = E \sum_{q} e^{iqx} a_q$$
(5.11)

For non-trivial solutions of this equation to be true for all x, terms with equal complex exponents must be equal

$$\frac{\hbar^2 q^2}{2m} a_q + U a_{q-g} + U a_{q+g} = E a_q \tag{5.12}$$

The q values can be grouped into N sets in which each q value is separated by an integer multiple of g. Each set can be written as q = k + lg where l is an integer and k is chosen to be the element in the set between  $-\pi/d$  and  $\pi/d$ . This k is known as the wavevector of the electron. Setting  $a_q = a_{k+lg} = a_l^{(k)}$  we have

$$\frac{\hbar^2 (k+lg)^2}{2m} a_l^{(k)} + U a_{l-1}^{(k)} + U a_{l+1}^{(k)} = E a_l^{(k)}$$
(5.13)

which is an infinite set of equations for each k. It can be solved as a standard eigenvalue problem if it is assumed that  $a_l^{(k)} = 0$  for  $|l| > l_{\max}$ . The solution to the eigenvalue problem will provide  $(2l_{\max}+1)$  energies for each k corresponding to a different energy band. When solved for each value of k the energies form a smooth band (Fig. 5.4). For certain energies there are no solutions, forming energy gaps between the energy bands.



Figure 5.5: Brillouin zone is a face centre cubic structure for diamond crystal structures such as Ge, SiGe and Si. Energy minima points for the conduction band in Ge are  $\Gamma$  and L points as well as on the  $\Delta$  line.

Semiconductor materials are in reality three dimensional (3D) crystal structures. This requires 3D versions of the above equations to calculate the band energies. Furthermore, the k values are now a 3D vector and, instead of being limited to a line segment, they are confined to a volume in reciprocal space known as the Brillouin zone. Each point in the volume of the Brillouin zone (Fig. 5.5) represents a k value which has a corresponding energy for each band. In order to visualize the data, the energies along certain lines through the Brillouin zone which connect points of high symmetry are plotted. A common way of representing the data is to plot the energies as a function of position along a line that is composed of the line segment from the L point to the  $\Gamma$  point and from the  $\Gamma$  point to the X point.

When a semiconductor film is grown on a substrate with larger (smaller) lattice constant below the critical thickness, the film becomes strained and the crystal structure will be compressed (expanded) in the plane parallel to the interface and expanded (compressed) normal to the interface. As the strain changes the periodicity of the crystal lattice it will also change the energy of the bands. Strain will also lower the symmetry of the crystal which can cause bands that are degenerate in an unstrained crystal to split in energy.

### 5.2.5 Strain Effects

Diamond cubic semiconductor crystals such as unstrained Si, Ge, or SiGe are highly symmetrical. The symmetry in the crystal structure leads to symmetry in the energy bands in the Brillouin zone. The symmetry results in multiple bands with the same energy. The number of bands depends on the degree of symmetry. A crystal that is expanded or contracted uniformly in all directions is hydrostatically strained. For cubic crystal semiconductors hydrostatic strain will not break the symmetries and therefore will not lift the band degeneracies. If compressive hydrostatic strain is applied to a cubic crystal the unit cell will shrink but the shape will still be cubic (Fig. 5.6a). As the crystal lattice shrinks the periodicity of the crystal will decrease which will increase the separation between the energy bands. If tensile hydrostatic strain is applied the distance between the atoms is increased and the separation between the energy bands will decrease.

A general strain induced into crystal structures is a combination of hydrostatic and shear strain. When shear strain is applied to a crystal structure the shape of the crystal is deformed. Shear strain can be biaxial, in a plane, or uniaxial, along a line. For a cubic crystal structure under biaxial strain in the xy plane the cell edge along the z-axis will shorten or lengthen relative to the x and y edges. This will change the shape of the unit cell of the crystal reducing the degree of symmetry in the structure (Fig. 5.6b). The conduction band energies which were previously degenerate due to the symmetry of the system may no longer be degenerate. This will cause a splitting of the energy bands in the semiconductor. Biaxial strain will split the six fold degenerate conduction band minimum at the  $\Delta$  valley in Si into two groups with two and four fold degeneracy known as the  $\Delta_2$  and  $\Delta_4$  valleys respectively. In Ge the biaxial strain will not split the conduction band minimum which is the four fold degenerate L valley since the strain affects each of them identically. From figure 5.5 it can be clearly seen that despite a reduction in symmetry a compression or expansion in the xy plane will affect all the L points in identical ways. In the valence band the heavy hole and light hole valleys are both at the  $\Gamma$  point which is a single point unlike the  $\Delta$  and L points which are multiple points in reciprocal space. While the HH and LH valleys are degenerate in energy they are from separate bands which are affected to different degrees by the change in crystal shape. Uniaxial strain can also be applied to a crystal; if it is along one of the primary axes the effect will be the same as with biaxial strain. An example of uniaxial strain would be compression along the [110] axis. This deforms the unit cell such that the top and bottom faces are no longer rectangular and they become rhombic. In this case the effect will not be identical at the L points. The L point valleys will be split into two doubly degenerate pairs [123]. The uniaxial strain



Figure 5.6: Diagram of the unit cell of a crystal showing the effects on its shape of a) hydrostatic strain, and b) biaxial strain.

will also cause splitting of the  $\Delta$  valleys and between the HH and LH valleys. The minimum  $\Gamma$  valley in the conduction band consists of a single band. Since there is no degeneracy due to symmetry, because there is only one  $\Gamma$  point, there will be no splitting of the conduction band  $\Gamma$  valley.

## 5.2.6 Ge and SiGe Band Structure

The band structure of Ge has three conduction band minima, the  $\Gamma$  point, the L point, and along the  $\Delta$  line near the X point (Fig. 5.7). SiGe alloys have the minima at the same three points but at different energies which depend on the Ge fraction. The valence band maxima is at the  $\Gamma$  point and contains two bands that are degenerate in energy at the  $\Gamma$  point but with different curvatures called the heavy (HH) and light hole (LH) bands. In unstrained pure Ge the band gap is 0.66 eV between conduction band minimum at the L point and the valence band maximum. The direct band energy gap is 0.80 eV. In a SiGe alloy, if the Ge fraction is below about 0.85 then the material is Si like with the conduction band minimum along the  $\Delta$  line near the X point. As Ge content decreases the direct band gap increases as the valence bands decrease and the  $\Gamma$  point conduction increase in energy. SiGe and Ge heterojunctions therefore have a type I alignment at the  $\Gamma$  point allowing electron and hole QWs to be coincident in space.

## 5.2.7 Band Structure Engineering

By controlling the Ge fraction of SiGe during the growth of a wafer different heterostructures can be realized. The strain in the different layers can also be used to engineer the properties of the layers and heterostructure. The problem of energy bands in semiconductors is simplified by looking only at a few local extrema near the bandgap



**Figure 5.7:** Band structure for bulk (unstrained) SiGe and Ge as calculated using nanohub's Band Structure Tool [1]. An increase in Si content increases the energy of the conduction band minimum at the  $\Gamma$  point and decreases the valence band maximum leading to type I alignment between Ge and SiGe.

and utilizing an effective mass for the electron or hole. The energy at the extrema are used to define the band edges used to calculate wavefunctions. The effective mass which replaces the electron mass in the calculations is a function of the curvature of the band at the extrema. For the light hole and heavy hole the differences in effective mass leads to differences in energy levels as shown by substituting effective mass for mass into equation 5.7. Strain in the semiconductor will also lift the degeneracy in the energies of the light and heavy hole maxima.

#### Calculated Band Structure Values

The band valley extrema have been calculated as a function of Ge content and parallel lattice constant using nextnano software. The calculation used a thin  $\operatorname{Si}_{1-y}\operatorname{Ge}_y$  film which was fully strained to a substrate with a lattice constant equal to a fully relaxed bulk  $\operatorname{Si}_{1-x}\operatorname{Ge}_x$ . The band edges were calculated as the Ge content in both the substrate, x, and the film, y, was varied from 0 to 1 by steps of 0.05. Figure 5.8 shows the calculated direct band gap and valence band splitting as a function of Ge content of the film and substrate. The diagonal of the plots corresponds to unstrained values while for the top left and bottom right halves the film is under compressive and tensile strain respectively. Since relaxation would be detrimental to the quality of the active layers, all layers grown above a virtual substrate will be fully strained to have parallel lattice constants equal to that of the virtual substrate. Therefore a heterostructure design can only make use of the band edges which are calculated for the same parallel lattice value.



**Figure 5.8:** Contour plot of the calculated effect on the band structure of biaxial strain for  $\operatorname{Si}_{1-y}\operatorname{Ge}_y$  alloys. The  $\operatorname{Si}_{1-y}\operatorname{Ge}_y$  alloys are fully strained on a fully relaxed  $\operatorname{Si}_{1-x}\operatorname{Ge}_x$  substrate. a) shows the direct band gap between the  $\Gamma$  valley in the conduction band and the maximum of the valence band. b) shows the difference in energy between the heavy hole (HH) valley and the light hole (LH) valley. Positive values correspond to HH being higher than LH in energy. For compressive biaxial strain the LH band edge is higher in energy than the HH band edge while for tensile strain the HH is higher in energy than the LH.

## 5.2.8 Optical Absorption

When a photon is absorbed by a material, the energy of the photon is transferred to an electron in the material [124]. In a quantum well the discretization of electron energies means that only photons with specific energies can be absorbed. When a photon is absorbed in a quantum well an electron is moved from the valence band to the conduction band, effectively creating a hole state in the valence band and an electron state in the conduction band. The difference in energy between the hole state and the electron state must be equal to the photon energy. In a quantum well an exciton can also be created which is a particle that is composed of an electron and hole bound to each other [125]. The creation of the exciton requires less energy than moving an electron from the valence band to the conduction band and therefore allows for the absorption of light with slightly less energy than without excitons.

## 5.2.9 Quantum Confined Stark Effect

When a potential is applied across a quantum well an electric field is created perpendicular to the wells and the band edges are angled due to the potential (Fig. 5.9). While the centre of the quantum wells remain the same distance apart the minimum of the conduction band and maximum of the valence band move closer together in energy. This change in the quantum well will naturally change the energy and wavefunction of the confined states. Hole states will be shifted up in energy and electron



Figure 5.9: The calculated wavefunctions and energy levels confined to a 14 nm Ge quantum well between 7 nm  $Si_{0.05}Ge_{0.95}$  barriers in a 10 quantum well device. a) at zero applied bias, electric field is due to built-in voltage, and b) with an additional applied bias of 1 V. Conduction and valence band wavefunctions shift closer together in energy while moving further apart in space.

states will be shifted down in energy. The transition between the two states requires less energy and therefore light of a longer wavelength can be absorbed. As well as shifting in energy, the shape of the wavefunction also changes due to the change in the QW shape. The peak amplitude of the wavefunctions will shift in opposite directions, lowering the overlap between the first energy state in the two bands. The decrease in overlap will decrease the absorption efficiency of the transition. These two processes are known as the quantum confined Stark effect (QCSE). While the overlap between the first confined wavefunctions decreases, the overlap between wavefunctions that normally have minimal overlap as enumerated by selection rules will increase. Simulation software is utilized to accurately account for all of these effects on the optical absorption spectrum.

## 5.3 Simulation of QCSE

In order to calculate the absorption spectra for a QCSE device design, the structure is simulated. Specialized semiconductor simulation software called *nextnano* [126] is used to calculate the wavefunctions and energy levels within the quantum wells, as well as the absorption spectrum.
# 5.3.1 Numerical Simulation

The *nextnano* software simulation is controlled through use of input files in which the material geometry is defined and the simulation program flow is controlled. Many options are available allowing many different semiconductor devices to be simulated. For the simulation of a QCSE device the following process flow is used. An in-plane lattice constant for the virtual substrate is chosen and the heterostructure is strained to match. From the strain in the structure the approximate band-edges are calculated and used as a starting point for the next step. A self-consistant Poisson-Schrödinger equation is solved for the strained structure using an 8 band k.p Hamiltonian to determine the wavefunctions and band-edges. Finally, the absorption spectrum is calculated from a 961 k-point discretization of the Brillouin zone. The software then outputs the absorption spectrum for a given polarization of light, band edges, and electron and hole wavefunctions and energies. When the simulation is repeated for the same structure using different applied electric fields the effect of the QCSE can be seen in the change in absorption spectrum, band edges, and wavefunctions.

# 5.3.2 Simulation of QCSE Structures

QCSE structures were simulated using *nextnano* in order to determine the expected absorption spectrum of devices fabricated from wafers with the structure. The time required for a simulation is proportional to the square of the number of grid points used to describe the structure to be used in the calculation. To maintain sufficient accuracy the number of grid points per quantum well or barrier is fixed. To simulate a full 10 QWs and 11 barrier device, the simulation time will be  $(21/3)^2 \approx 49$  times that required to simulate a single QW between two barriers. As a single simulation for a single bias voltage of one QW and two barriers requires approximately 8 hours of processing time on a modern computer a full simulation was impractical. While the wavefunctions are not completely confined to a single quantum well the extent of the wavefunction will not be significant beyond the nearest neighbour quantum wells. Therefore accurate results should be obtained using a three (or less) QW simulation.

#### Simulation Parameters

In order to accurately simulate the QCSE structures accurate values for the physical properties of the material are required. The *nextnano* software contains a large database of parameter values for many different materials. The parameters define the physical properties of the material used for calculations performed during the simulation. The default values contained can be modified by the user and some of the physical properties were modified for this work. The input parameters used for the simulation in this work were obtained from published sources and where possible are values that have been experimentally derived or measured directly [127].

For each simulation it is assumed that the epitaxially layers are fully strained to match the in-plane lattice of an underlying substrate layer. For QCSE wafers grown on virtual substrates the lattice constant of the virtual substrate is used. This is calculated from the Ge content x and the residual strain  $\epsilon$  expected or measured for the virtual substrate. The in-plane lattice constant a for SiGe is calculated using

$$a = (0.5431 + 0.01992x + 0.002733x^2)(1+\epsilon)$$
(5.14)

where a positive  $\epsilon$  corresponds to tensile strain in the layer. The lattice constant can be modified by changing either the strain or the Ge content or both.

#### Effect of Virtual Substrate Strain

The in-plane lattice constant of the virtual substrate will determine the strain in the MQW region. The in-plane lattice constant is a function of the alloy concentration and the strain in the virtual substrate. An increase in tensile strain will increase the in-plane lattice constant and shift the absorption peak to higher wavelengths. It will affect the light hole (LH) transitions to a higher degree than heavy hole (HH) transitions (Fig. 5.10). This is due to the LH band edge having a larger shift in energy with strain then the HH band edge. The in-plane lattice size can also be increased by increasing the Ge concentration in the virtual substrate.

#### 5.3.3 Simulation of Edwards Device

In order to confirm the accuracy of the simulation a design from Edwards *et al.* [2] was simulated using the *nextnano* software. The published paper had experimental absorption spectra for the QCSE design as well as a TEM measurement of the structure. The structure to be simulated was the QCSE structure which was taken from the TEM measurements.



**Figure 5.10:** An example of the change in spectrum as tensile strain in virtual substrate is increased. Transitions shift to higher wavelengths (lower energies) with the light hole (LH) transition changing more than the heavy hole (HH).

The structure was simulated using a single QW simulation region and the calculated spectra was compared to the spectra in the Edwards paper. While the simulated absorption edge for low applied voltages matches the measured spectrum quite accurately, as the voltage is increased the simulated spectra shifts further than the measured spectra (Fig. 5.11). The accuracy of the low voltage absorption edge is evidence of the accuracy of the physical parameters chosen for Ge and Si used in the simulation. The difference in peak shift as a function of voltage can be explained by the details of how the potential drop across the QWs is calculated for the simulation. The potential drop is calculated by adding the applied voltage directly to built in voltage and dividing by the size of the intrinsic region. Any resistance in the contacts is not taken into account, leading to a larger QCSE shift in the simulation than would be measured. Due to the limited precision of the measurements there will also be a difference between the reported widths of the layers measured using the TEM and the true widths. This will lead to slight changes in the spectra and QCSE between simulation and measurement.

The comparison between the spectra measured by Edwards *et al.* and the simulations performed shows that the simulated absorption spectra are sufficiently accurate to allow the design of SiGe/Ge MQW QCSE modulators. The material and calculation parameters used in this simulation were kept constant for subsequent simulations. The changes made for different simulations was limited to the applied voltage and number of QWs and barriers in the simulation region, and parameters that are determined by design and growth such as the alloy concentrations, virtual substrate strain, and well and barrier thicknesses.



Figure 5.11: Absorption spectra for QCSE devices in the Edwards paper. a) Measurement spectra replotted from Edwards [2]. b) 1 QW simulation spectra using TEM measured structure from Edwards.

### 5.3.4 Simulation of Designs

The energy efficiency of a QCSE modulator can be improved by lowering the voltage swing required to switch the modulator on and off. A low voltage SiGe/Ge MQW QCSE device has been designed which should improve on the efficiency of QCSE modulators. The lower voltage requirement is achieved by decreasing the width of the barriers between the quantum wells. With thin barriers a higher fraction of the potential drop across the device will be across a quantum well and therefore contribute to shifting the absorption peak. The designs are based on the SiGe/Ge MQW system where the wells are pure Ge and the barriers are Si<sub>0.15</sub>Ge<sub>0.85</sub>. The designed structure uses a virtual substrate of Si<sub>0.05</sub>Ge<sub>0.95</sub> which is assumed to be tensile strained at 0.18% due to full relaxation at growth temperature followed by tensile strain due to thermal expansion. This results in an in-plane lattice equivalent to the bulk lattice of Si<sub>0.01</sub>Ge<sub>0.99</sub>. Each of the active layers above are grown below their critical thickness and are of the same average Ge content as the virtual substrate for strain balancing. As such they will be fully strained to the virtual substrate. The Ge wells will be slightly compressively strained while the barriers will be tensile strained.

The design is a pin structure with the MQW within the central intrinsic region with highly doped p-type layer below and n-type layer above. The intrinsic MQW region comprises 11 barriers and 10 QWs. The barrier and well thickness for the MQW region are shown in table 5.1. For each design the barrier width is half the thickness of the QW. This means that 66 percent of the potential drop across the MQW region is across the QWs. The design also incorporates intrinsic spacer layers to prevent dopant diffusion into the MQW region. Since the spacers, like the MQW region, are intrinsic, part of the potential drop will be across the spacers.



Table 5.1: Well and Barrier widths of QCSE as designed.

**Figure 5.12:** Calculated absorption spectra for MQW QCSE SiGe/Ge structures as designed, using a simulation of a single quantum well at an applied bias of 0 V.

Simulations of the designed QCSE structures was performed focusing on a single quantum well within the device. The pin structure creates a built-in voltage of  $\sim 0.756$  V across the intrinsic region of the device. The applied voltage to be simulated is added to the built-in voltage before the electric field is calculated. The electric field is calculated assuming a linear potential drop across the intrinsic region. As the QW width is increased the wavelength of the absorption peak shifts to higher wavelengths (Fig. 5.12). As the calculation of the absorption spectrum of a single QW is relatively quick it can be easily calculated for multiple bias voltages to see how the QCSE affects the absorption. The absorption spectrum for a few applied voltages for one of the designs (14 nm QWs) is also calculated for a three QW simulation to confirm that a single QW simulation is sufficient to understand the physics. Any perturbation from the single QW calculation due to wavefunctions extending into neighbouring wells is seen to be small and will not qualitatively change the understanding (Fig. 5.20).

The shift in the wavefunctions position and energy due to the changing electric field can be seen from the simulations (Fig. 5.13). Due to the difference in the overall size of the intrinsic region for the designs with wider QWs a given applied voltage will result in a lower electric field across the wider QWs. As a function of electric field the QCSE will cause a smaller shift in thin QW than in wide QWs. Which of these two effects will be dominant depends on the thicknesses of the intrinsic layers. With the current designs the wider QW designs show a faster shift in energy with change in applied



Figure 5.13: Wavefunctions for a) 9 nm QW and b) 16 nm QW designs shown at 1) flat band, 2) built-in voltage and 3) with 2 V applied bias. As can be seen from the slope of the band edges, designs with thinner QW and barriers have a higher electric field for the same voltage across device. Despite having a smaller electric field the larger devices have a larger energy shift and less overlap between the hole wavefunctions and the electron wavefunctions.



**Figure 5.14:** Calculated absorption spectra for 14 nm QW MQW QCSE SiGe/Ge structures as designed with multiple applied biases using a simulation of a single quantum well region.

bias than the thinner QWs. As the electric field is increased the barrier between the QW and the continuum decreases lowering the confinement. At high enough electric fields the wavefunctions are no longer well confined to the QW.

While the calculation of the wavefunctions of the structures at the  $\Gamma$  point allows for a qualitative understanding of the change in optical absorption, a more detailed calculation is used to determine the full absorption spectrum. The absorption spectra are calculated using a 961 point discretization of the Brillouin zone near the  $\Gamma$  point to include absorption by electrons with non-zero k values. A separate spectrum is calculated for each applied bias which shows the QCSE in action (Fig. 5.14). As the applied bias increases the low energy absorption peak will shift to lower energies since the HH1 to  $\Gamma$ 1 transition energy is decreasing. The total absorption from the HH1-



**Figure 5.15:** Calculated absorption spectra for QW MQW QCSE SiGe/Ge structures as designed at -0.1 V and 1.1 V (1.2 V swing) applied, using a simulation of a single quantum well region. The shift in absorption wavelength increases for larger QW structures.

 $\Gamma$ 1 transition will decrease since the overlap between the two wavefunctions decreases with applied voltage.

Despite a lower electric field for a given applied bias the QCSE is more pronounced for the larger QW structures (Fig. 5.15). The calculated absorption peak shifts for the 9 nm, 12 nm, 14 nm, and 16 nm QW designs are 15 nm, 23 nm, 28 nm, and 32 nm respectively. The relative height of the peak between -0.1 V and 1.1 V also decreases as the QW width is increased. The absorption contrast ratio as a function of wavelength for the above calculated absorption spectra is shown in figure 5.16. Despite the differences in the absorption shift due to QW and intrinsic region thickness, the contrast ratios for the different are quite similar in shape and height. Simulations show that these designs can provide good absorption contrast with low voltage swing. The 16 nm QW design shows that full coverage of the C wavelength band (1535 nm to 1565 nm) with a contrast ratio > 3 dB is possible with a swing voltage of only 0.3 V and DC offset < 3 V (Fig. 5.17). Devices with 12 nm or slightly smaller QW designs could cover the L wavelength band (1460 nm to 1530 nm) with a contrast ratio > 3 dB with a swing voltage of only 0.3 V and DC offset < 3 V (Fig. 5.18).

# 5.3.5 Simulation of Grown Structures

The designs above were sent to be grown by collaborators at Warwick University using a reduced pressure CVD tool. After growth the wafers were examined at Warwick University using transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and measurements for the



**Figure 5.16:** Contrast ratio as a function of wavelength calculated from the simulated absorption spectra for QW MQW QCSE SiGe/Ge structures as designed at -0.1 V and 1.1 V (1.2 V swing) applied using a simulation of a single quantum well region. The shift in absorption wavelength increases for larger QW structures.



**Figure 5.17:** Calculated contrast ratio from the absorption spectra for 16 nm QW MQW QCSE SiGe/Ge structures as designed with 0.3 V swing voltage with DC offset from -0.1 V to 2.7V a using a simulation of a single quantum well region.



**Figure 5.18:** Calculated contrast ratio from the absorption spectra for 12 nm QW MQW QCSE SiGe/Ge structures as designed with 0.3 V swing voltage with DC offset from -0.1 V to 2.7V a using a simulation of a single quantum well region.

as grown structure were taken. The devices fabricated from the wafers grown at Warwick University will be examined in more detail in the following chapter. Results from the simulation of the as grown structures as measured by TEM will be discuss here.

The differences between the design structure and the as grown wafers are as follows. The virtual substrate had a slightly higher Ge content at  $Si_{0.04}Ge_{0.96}$  still with 0.18% strain, the barriers had a lower Ge content at  $Si_{0.18}Ge_{0.82}$ , and the well and barrier widths were different. The lower Ge content in the barriers should increase the barrier height which would increase the confinement, while the virtual substrate is now of the same in-plane lattice constant as bulk Ge, meaning the wells should be fully relaxed, and the barriers strained higher than in the design. The QW thicknesses of the structures as grown are smaller than designed and the barriers are thicker. The absorption edge will be shifted to lower wavelengths due to the thinner QWs and the electric field across the intrinsic region will be smaller for a given applied bias due to the MQW region being wider overall.

 Table 5.2:
 Well and barrier widths of the QCSE wafers from measurements made by collaborators at Warwick University.

Wafer	QW Measured	Barrier Measured
13-307	$6.6 \pm 0.9 \text{ nm}$	$8.2 \text{ nm} \pm 0.7 \text{ nm}$
13-308	$9.7{\pm}0.7$ nm	$10.3 \text{ nm} \pm 0.2 \text{ nm}$
13-309	$11.3\pm0.3$ nm	$11.5 \text{ nm} \pm 0.6 \text{ nm}$
13-310	$13.6{\pm}0.3~\mathrm{nm}$	$12.5~\mathrm{nm}{\pm}0.4~\mathrm{nm}$

Simulations using the measured wafer structure were performed, again focusing on



**Figure 5.19:** Calculated absorption spectra for 11.3 nm QW structure from a single QW simulation. Shift in absorption peak position and decrease in height from increase in applied bias shows the QCSE.

a single QW to calculate the absorption spectra for the structures as a function of applied bias. The absorption spectra for the 11.3 nm QW structure for multiple biases is shown in figure 5.19. The spectra for one of the structures (13.6 nm QW) was also calculated using a 3 QW region simulation for a few applied biases to determine the effect of a neighbouring QW on the wavefunctions. A comparison between the absorption spectra of a single QW simulation and that of a three QW simulation is shown in figure 5.20. The single and three QW absorption spectra of the 14 nm design structure and the 13.6 nm as grown structure were calculated for both 0 V and 2 V applied bias. Increasing the simulation to include three QW slightly changes the absorption spectra without appreciably changing the absorption edge.

Due to the differences between the structure as designed and as grown a direct comparison for each design is not useful. Instead the two wafers which are most similar (the 14 nm design and the 13.6 nm as grown wafers) will be compared. For each bias voltage the wavefunctions are calculated using the 8x8  $k \cdot p$  method calculated at only the  $\Gamma$  point of the Brillouin zone. From this calculation the wavefunctions for the HH, LH, and c $\Gamma$  valleys are calculated. While the difference in QW size is only 0.4 nm the difference in barrier thickness is 5.5 nm. The wavefunctions of the as grown structure should therefore be less perturbed by neighbouring QWs. Another difference which will have an effect on the wavefunctions for the two structures are compared in figure 5.21. The effect of the higher barriers is that there is less penetration of the wavefunction into the barrier region. The lower strain in the Ge well means that the LH and HH bands are nearly degenerate in the well.



**Figure 5.20:** Comparison of the calculated absorption spectra from the 14 nm design structure and the 13.6 nm as grown structures for both a single QW simulation and a three QW simulation.



Figure 5.21: Comparison of the wavefunctions for a) the 14 nm design and b) the 13.6 nm as grown structures at 1) flat band, 2) built in voltage, and 3) 2 V applied.



**Figure 5.22:** Energy difference between 1st  $\Gamma$  energy level and either 1st heavy hole (HH1) energy level (squares) or 1st light hole (LH1) energy level (solid lines) calculated for QCSE structures from -0.1 applied bias to 3.0 applied bias using single QW simulation. The as grown 13.6 nm LH1 transition line is hard to distinguish due to being nearly overlapped by the design 12 nm HH1 transition line.

The difference in energy between the highest valence band energy level and the lowest conduction band energy level at the  $\Gamma$  point determines the energy of the absorption edge. The transition energy between the HH1 and  $\Gamma$ 1 energy levels and the LH1 and  $\Gamma$ 1 energy levels has been calculated as a function of bias for each of the different QW widths. The energy levels of the valence and conduction band states are calculated near the  $\Gamma$  point using the 8x8  $k \cdot p$  method. The transition energy is the difference between  $\Gamma$ 1 energy level and the HH1 or LH1 energy level and is seen to be a quadratic function of the bias voltage. Figure 5.22 shows the transition energies for both the designed and as grown structures. Both the  $\Gamma$ 1-HH1 and the  $\Gamma$ 1-LH1 transitions are shown. The HH1 transitions in the as grown structures show a lower dependence on the applied voltage compared to the LH1 transitions and both the transitions in the design structures. For the as grown structures the  $\Gamma$ 1-HH1 and the  $\Gamma$ 1-LH1 energies cross near 3 V. For the designed structures the  $\Gamma$ 1-HH1 transition is at a lower energy than the  $\Gamma$ 1-LH1 transition over the entire simulated voltage range.

Despite the accuracy seen in the absorption edge peak of the simulations as compared to the measured spectra from the Edwards paper, the higher energy part of the spectrum and the size of the low energy tail do not match. When the as grown simulated spectra are compared to the spectra of the measured devices a greater discrepancy is seen. One possible source of difference between the simulated and measured results would be absorption in the device from outside of the quantum well region. Another possible source of discrepancy between the simulated spectra and the measure spectra is due to uncertainty in the measurement of the layer thicknesses and variation in the layer thicknesses (especially the thicknesses of the QWs). Variation in the QW thicknesses in the devices would lead to a superposition of different spectra from all of the QWs. The simulation calculates the absorption from a single well. This would result in a spreading of the absorption peaks not taken into account in the simulation. Since there is uncertainty in the measurement of the layers the true layer thickness could be much larger or smaller than the layer thickness. The nominally 6.6 nm QW structure has an uncertainty of  $\pm 0.9$  nm. The difference between the absorption edge of a 5.7 nm QW and a 7.5 nm QW will be quite substantial. The thickness of the intrinsic region of the device also has an effect on the simulated absorption since the electric field across the device depends on both the applied voltage and the size of the intrinsic region. Improved simulation results could be obtained by taking into account the absorption outside of the QW region. A better match between the simulated spectra and the measured spectra could be obtained by changing the structure parameters while staying within the uncertainty of the measurement. If the variation in thickness in the structure as grown is sufficiently low it should be possible to determine the parameters by matching multiple features in the spectra.

Another potential avenue of investigation would be to determine the minimum barrier thickness which is able to confine the wavefunctions sufficiently to allow absorption modulation via the QCSE. This could lead to designs that have the minimum swing voltage required while maintaining good absorption and contrast ratios. For the designed structures to be realizable they must take into account the requirements of strained epitaxial growth to prevent relaxation of the active layers. Another option to investigate would be MQW structures in which small groups of wells with thin barriers are separated from other groups by larger barriers or asymmetric QWs. This could result in QCSE devices which have an increased peak shift near voltages in which alignment between adjacent wells occurs.

# 5.5 Summary

The comparison of the absorption and QCSE from the simulations of the structures published in the Edwards paper to the published experimental results shows the results of the simulations are useful for predicting the absorption edge and QCSE for SiGe/Ge MQW designs. Having shown that the absorption spectra for SiGe/Ge MQW devices can be accurately calculated using the simulation, novel designs were simulated.

Low voltage QCSE devices have been designed by using thin barriers to separate the QWs. The designs were all based on the same  $Si_{0.05}Ge_{0.95}$  virtual substrate with Ge wells and  $Si_{0.15}Ge_{0.85}$  barriers. The barriers were chosen to be half the width of the wells which provides strain balancing allowing large heterostructures to be grown without relaxation. From simulations of the structure of a three quantum well region it has been shown that the thin barriers provide for wavefunctions that are mostly confined to a single quantum well; therefore, there should be little interaction between wavefunctions in neighbouring quantum wells. The computational resources required to perform a simulation of a single QW region is significantly lower than that of a multiple QW region. The accuracy of a one QW simulation was compared to a three QW simulation in order to determine if the simulation was reasonably accurate. It was shown that a single QW calculation of the absorption spectra of SiGe/Ge MQW structures with barriers half the width of the QWs provides an accurate picture of the QCSE. While the shape of the absorption spectrum between a one QW simulation and a three QW simulation differed, the absorption edge was nearly coincident. The structure of the wafers received from Warwick University varied significantly from the design so the absorption spectra of the as grown structures were also simulated. The structure of the wafer was measured by collaborators at Warwick University using TEM and the measured parameters used for the as-grown simulations. From the simulations it was seen that the shift in the absorption peak as a function of applied bias should be less than for the designed structures. It was also revealed that the LH and HH transition are much closer in energy and move closer as the applied voltage is increased. In the next chapter the calculated spectra for the as grown structures will be compared to the experimentally measured spectra from photodiodes fabricated from the wafers.

# Chapter 6

# Fabricated Low Voltage QCSE Devices

# 6.1 Introduction

Integration of optical communications monolithically into Si electronic chips requires CMOS compatible processes. Ge and SiGe alloys are currently in use within CMOS production for the fabrication of electrical transistors. One requirement for on chip optical communications is an optical modulator. CMOS compatible SiGe/Ge MQW QCSE modulators have the potential to be incorporated into an integrated optical communications system. The SiGe/Ge MQW QCSE modulators rely on the electooptic absorption effect where a change in applied voltage changes the absorption edge of the material. The absorption spectra of a QCSE device can be measured by using a pin structure, fabricating a photodiode, and measuring the photocurrent spectrum as a function of applied bias.

# 6.2 pin Photodiode

A semiconductor device with an intrinsic layer sandwiched between heavily doped ntype and p-type layers is known as a pin diode. The p-type layer has majority hole carriers while the n-type layer has majority electron carriers. When no bias is applied the built-in bias will form due to the diffusion of carriers into the intrinsic region. When a positive voltage is applied to the p-type side holes in the p-type region and electrons in the n-type region travel to the intrinsic region and combine, allowing current to flow, this is known as a forward bias. When a negative voltage is applied to the p-type side holes in the p-type region and electrons in the n-type region travel away from the intrinsic region, increasing the size of the depletion region and preventing current from flowing, this is known as reverse bias. In reverse bias there is still a small amount of current flow due to minority carriers and non-idealities; this is known as the leakage or dark current (Fig. 6.1).



**Figure 6.1:** Top: diagram of ideal pin diode with hole rich p, electron rich n and carrier depleted i regions. Bottom: current-voltage plot of diode measured with 1 mA current limit in forward bias. The three different regimes are shown: a) reverse bias where electron and holes are pulled apart by the electric field and current is low, b) unbiased where built-in potential sets up a small electric field, and c) forward bias where electrons and holes are pulled together and recombine in the intrinsic region allowing a current to easily flow.

A pin diode is operated in reverse bias when used as a photodiode. When a photon is absorbed in the intrinsic region of the photodiode it will create an electron-hole pair. In reverse bias the intrinsic region is devoid of holes and electrons and there is a potential gradient which will sweep holes and electrons apart [128]. This creates a current that is dependent upon the number of photons absorbed, called a photocurrent.

# 6.3 Wafer Growth

The wafers used for the fabrication of the QCSE devices were grown by collaborators at Warwick University. The MQW structures were grown on Si wafers using an ASM Epsilon 2000E low pressure chemical vapour deposition tool. The structures are grown by chemical reaction between precursor gases and the wafer surface within a reaction chamber. The Ge is grown using germane (GeH<sub>4</sub>) precursor gas and Si using dichlorosilane (SiH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>). Dopants are added *in-situ* by the addition to the reaction chamber of phosphane (PH<sub>3</sub>) gas for P doped n-type, or diborane (B<sub>2</sub>H<sub>6</sub>) gas for B doped p-type layers. The ratio of gases and wafer temperature determine the quality of the growth structure and the Ge fraction. A change in gas ratio will not only change the Ge fraction in the layer but also the growth rate of the layer. The gas ratios and growth temperature must be carefully calibrated to achieve the desired wafer structure [32].

A 1  $\mu$ m thick Ge seed layer was first deposited on a 200 mm p-Si(001) wafer using the two temperature growth method [129]. This was followed by a 250 nm thick reverse graded Si<sub>x</sub>Ge<sub>1-x</sub> from x = 0 to x = 0.04 buffer grown at 850 °C. Next a virtual substrate of 500 nm thick Si<sub>0.04</sub>Ge<sub>0.96</sub> was grown. The active structure was grown on top of the virtual substrate in a pin structure with the quantum wells within the intrinsic region. Figure 6.2 shows a schematic of the structure as grown. The MQW region consists of 11 SiGe barriers and 10 Ge quantum wells. The thicknesses of the layers for the different wafers are tabulated below (Table 6.1).

The actual thicknesses of the layers were measured by collaborators at Warwick University using cross-sectional transmission electron microscopy (Fig. 6.3). The relaxation and composition was measured by x-ray diffraction using reciprocal space maps. The Ge seed layer was measured to be 104.5 percent relaxed relative to the Si(001) substrate, the Si<sub>0.04</sub>Ge<sub>0.96</sub> buffer layer was fully relaxed relative to the Ge seed layer, and the active layers were fully strained to the Si<sub>0.04</sub>Ge<sub>0.96</sub> buffer. The residual strain in the Ge and Si<sub>0.04</sub>Ge<sub>0.96</sub> layers is therefore ~0.18 percent tensile strain. The layer thicknesses and Si content of SiGe layers in the as grown structure differed from the designed structure and the differences are tabulated in tables 6.1 and 6.2.

n-Si <sub>0.04</sub> Ge <sub>0.96</sub> (5e19cm <sup>-3</sup> ) Top Contact	50 nm
Si <sub>0.04</sub> Ge <sub>0.96</sub> Spacer	50 nm
MQW Region	
Si <sub>0.04</sub> Ge <sub>0.96</sub> Spacer	50 nm
p-Si <sub>0.04</sub> Ge <sub>0.96</sub> (5e19cm <sup>-3</sup> ) Bottom Contact	400 nm
Si <sub>0.04</sub> Ge <sub>0.96</sub> Virtual Substrate	500 nm
SiGe Reverse Graded	250 nm
Ge	1000 nm
p-Si (001)	

**Figure 6.2:** Structure of the QCSE devices as grown and measured by Warwick University collaborators.

**Table 6.1:** Well and barrier widths of QCSE as designed and as grown from measurements made by collaborators at Warwick University.

Wafer	QW Design	QW Measured	Barrier Design	Barrier Measured
13-307	9 nm	$6.6 \pm 0.9 \text{ nm}$	4.5 nm	$8.2 \text{ nm} \pm 0.7 \text{ nm}$
13-308	12  nm	$9.7{\pm}0.7$ nm	6 nm	$10.3 \text{ nm} \pm 0.2 \text{ nm}$
13-309	14  nm	$11.3\pm0.3$ nm	7 nm	$11.5 \text{ nm} \pm 0.6 \text{ nm}$
13-310	16 nm	$13.6\pm0.3$ nm	8 nm	$12.5 \text{ nm} \pm 0.4 \text{ nm}$

# 6.4 Fabrication

A photodiode device fabricated from the QCSE wafers is required to have a mesa structure which defines the active area and connections to the top and bottom contact layers. As the light will be normal to the surface, the top contact must allow the transmission of light into the active area. The device will be wirebonded to a chip carrier to allow easy connection to external power supply and current measurement. The contacts must be connected to a bond pad which provides an area large enough to support wirebonding.



**Figure 6.3:** TEM image of the structure of the 13.6 nm QW QCSE wafer measured by Warwick University collaborators.

**Table 6.2:** Layer composition of QCSE as designed and as grown from measurements made by collaborators at Warwick University.

Layer	Design	Measured
Buffer	$\mathrm{Si}_{0.05}\mathrm{Ge}_{0.95}$	$\mathrm{Si}_{0.04}\mathrm{Ge}_{0.96}$
Barriers	$\mathrm{Si}_{0.15}\mathrm{Ge}_{0.85}$	$\mathrm{Si}_{0.18}\mathrm{Ge}_{0.82}$
Wells	Ge	Ge

# 6.4.1 Mask Design

A photomask was designed and produced containing patterns to fabricate the photodiodes. The photomask contains patterns to produce 21 small (100  $\mu$ m radius) photodiodes, 12 medium sized (200  $\mu$ m radius) photodiodes and 9 large (300  $\mu$ m radius) photodiodes. There are four layers in total, one each for the mesas, contacts, via holes, and bond pads. The mesa layer contains three sets of alignment markers, that match up with a set of alignment markers on each of the other layers. The photomask which was designed using L-edit CAD software (Fig. 6.4) also contains CTLM structures to test the contacts.



**Figure 6.4:** Design of photodiode mask from L-edit, showing alignment markers, and test structures alongside the photodiodes. A marker layer, which contains clamp areas, alignment markers, and alignment crosses for use with e-beam lithography processes is shown but was not transferred to the photomask.



Figure 6.5: Schematic diagram of the steps required to fabricate a QCSE photodiode.

# 6.4.2 Process

The process flow used for the fabrication of QCSE photodiodes is diagrammed in figure 6.5. Before the fabrication process is started a 15 cm<sup>2</sup> sample is cleaved from the wafer. The first step is to clean the sample and spin coat it with a layer of AZ2070 resist. The resist is then patterned by exposure using the mesa layer of the photomask and

development of the unexposed areas. The sample is then dry etched to create the mesa structure. Dry etch is performed with an ICP dry etch tool utilizing  $SF_6$  and  $C_4F_8$  for a nearly vertical etch. The etch depth is monitored using laser reflectometry to determine the correct etch stop time. The etch removes material down to slightly below the top of the bottom contact layer. After etching the resist is removed and sample cleaned using acetone and IPA. Again the sample is spun coated, this time with a layer of S1818 resist. The contacts layer of the photomask is used to expose the sample which is then developed to remove the exposed areas. Immediately after a 30 s dip in HF to remove any oxide on the contact layer due to exposure to atmosphere, a layer of 10 nm of Ni and 50 nm of Pt is deposited using an electron beam metal deposition tool. The unwanted metal is removed via liftoff of the resist using acetone in a 50 °C bath. The devices are now working photodiodes which can be tested using needle probes to contact he diode. The CTLM test structures are used to confirm good quality Ohmic contacts have been made to both the top and bottom contact layers.

The size of the top contact layer is much smaller than the size of the mesa in order to allow light into the device. This makes directly probing the devices difficult and directly wirebonding impractical. Large pads of aluminium are required for wirebonding but do not fit on the top of the mesa. In order to use the devices in the FTIR setup to measure the absorption spectrum the devices are required to be wirebonded to a chip carrier. This provides reliable contact to a device which can be easily switched between devices. To prepare the devices for wirebonding further steps are required.

After the contacts have been tested the sample is cleaned in acetone and IPA and then a 200 nm layer of  $Si_3N_4$  is deposited using an ICP nitride deposition tool. This insulates the surface to prevent the top contact bond pad from shorting to the bottom contact layer. This thickness of  $Si_3N_4$  also provides an anti-reflection coating for wavelengths around 1550 nm. Again a layer of S1818 resist is spun onto the sample. Small via holes are patterned above the contacts by exposure and development. The  $Si_3N_4$  in the patterned areas is then etched using  $CHF_3 / N_2$  gases in a RIE dry etch tool. The Pt on top of the contacts acts as an etch stop preventing overetching. A final layer of resist is spun. AZ2070 is used here due to its thickness and as it gives a large under cut when developed. The bond pad layer is patterned by exposure and the unexposed resist is developed away. A layer of Ti (10 nm) and a thick layer of aluminium (> 300 nm) is sputtered over the surface, filling the via holes and creating large pads for wirebonding connected to the contacts. The excess metal is lifted off as the resist is removed. Each device is tested electrically to ensure only devices with good rectifying behaviour are wirebonded. The sample is then cleaved into small (< 5 mm  $\times$  5 mm) chips and adhered to leadless chip carriers (LCCs) before the chosen devices are wirebonded to the LCC (Fig. 6.6).



Figure 6.6: Optical microscope image of a completed 100  $\mu$ m radius SiGe/Ge QCSE photodiode. Diode has been wirebonded to a leadless chip carrier.

# 6.5 Measurements

Once a device has been fabricated, measurements of the electrical and electro-optical properties can be made. The electrical and electro-optical properties of each device will depend on both the properties of the wafer and the quality of the fabrication process.

# 6.5.1 Contact Quality

Along with the photodiodes, CTLM structures are fabricated for both the top and bottom contacts. Electrical measurements are made using the CTLM structures before the layer of  $Si_3N_4$  is deposited. This allows for characterization of the contacts to the top and bottom contact layers. Four-point probe measurements are made for each gap spacing on the CTLM structures for both top and bottom contacts. This determines whether the contact is Ohmic or not and the specific contact resistivity. Since the CTLM structures are fabricated during the same process used to fabricate the top and bottom contacts of the devices, the specific contact resistivity of the CTLM structures can reasonably be expected to be the same as the device contacts.

# 6.5.2 Dark Current

Electrical measurements of the dark current is performed before wirebonding to ensure only functioning devices are wirebonded. After fabrication of the bond pads each photodiode is probed in the probe station and the current is measured as the voltage is swept between 1 V forward to 5 V reverse. The current is limited to 1 mA to prevent heating effects during forward bias from damaging the photodiode. A good diode will show rectifying behaviour with very little current during reverse bias and will reach 1 mA around 0.3 V forward bias. Defects in the wafer that coincide with the device can negatively effect the dark current behaviour of the device, leading to higher reverse current or even Ohmic behaviour. The dark current can also be affected by poor contact or bond pad fabrication.

### 6.5.3 FTIR

A Fourier transform infrared spectrometer (FTIR) was used to measure the photocurrent spectrum of the QCSE devices. The spectral response of a device or material can be accurately measured using an FTIR over a broad spectrum. Unlike dispersive spectrometers, where a single wavelength is measured at a time, an FTIR measures the collective response to multiple wavelengths providing a higher signal to noise ratio measurement. An FTIR uses a Michelson interferometer and a broadband infrared light source to create a beam of infrared light which contains a controllable spectrum. When the light enters the Michelson interferometer it is split into two paths by a beamsplitter. Both paths reflect the light back to the beamsplitter where it coherently recombines before traveling to the device under test. A movable mirror allows one of the path lengths to be modified. The optical path difference between the two paths will determine if the interference is constructive or destructive for each wavelength of light. As the mirror moves the light from each path will move in and out of phase, changing intensity sinusoidally. The period of the sinusoid will be different for each wavelength of light. The measurement from the detector as a function of mirror displacement is called an interferogram. The interferogram is simply Fourier transformed to recover the spectrum [130]. For a photocurrent measurement the device is used in place of the detector and the current through the device is the measured signal.



Figure 6.7: Calculated spectrum and interferogram of a photocurrent measurement for one and two wavelengths of light, and an example of a measurement from an FTIR. Measured spectrum and interferogram are from an QCSE photocurrent measurement. The one and two wavelength interferograms are sampled from one and two cosine functions respectively and Fourier transformed into spectra using MATLAB.

#### Rapid Scan Measurement

In a rapid scan measurement the mirror in the interferometer is continuously moving back and forth during the measurement and the interferograms are averaged together. A full spectrum is available immediately and the signal to noise ratio decreases as more interferograms are measured. To measure the photocurrent using the rapid scan method the current from the photodiode is amplified using a transimpedance amplifier to provide the FTIR with a voltage proportional to the photocurrent. The measurement setup did not provide for isolation of the diode from extraneous light sources such as the room light which if switched on or off during a measurement could ruin a data set. Another way to measure the photocurrent spectrum which is immune to these issues is to use a step scan method. This is the method used in this work when measuring the photocurrent with the FTIR.

#### **Step Scan Measurement**

The step scan method isolates the photocurrent due to the light from the interferometer during a photocurrent spectrum measurement using the FTIR. Any other sources of current in the device, such as stray light photocurrent or dark current will not contribute to the measurement. In a step scan measurement the mirror in the interferometer is held still while each point in the interferogram is measured before stepping to the next mirror position. The measured signal comes from a lock-in amplifier (LIA) which extracts the amplitude of the photocurrent at a reference frequency. If the source light is chopped at the referenced frequency before hitting the diode the LIA will extract the current due to the light from the source. A schematic of the FTIR step scan setup used for photocurrent spectrum measurements is shown in figure 6.8.



**Figure 6.8:** Schematic diagram of the setup of the FTIR system used to measure the photocurrent of the QCSE photodiodes.

### 6.5.4 Measuring Absorption Efficiency

The absorption efficiency of a photodiode can be accurately measured using a tunable laser setup. The tunable laser setup allows light of a known power to be focused on to a single device while the photocurrent is being measured. This allows an accurate absorption efficiency to be calculated. The light from a wavelength tunable laser diode source (TLS) is focused down to a small spot size using a lensed optical fibre. The optical fibre can then be aligned with the photodiode such that all of the light from the fibre is incident on the photodiode. The total light exiting the fibre can be measured using a calibrated optical power meter. The total light entering the photodiode can be calculated by taking into account the reflected light from the anti-reflection coating, which should be designed to be small over the wavelengths required. For a current I measured at a wavelength  $\lambda$  with incident power W the absorption efficiency  $\gamma$  is calculated, assuming one electron of current per photon absorbed, by

$$\gamma = \frac{\text{number of electrons in current}}{\text{number of photons in light}} = \frac{I}{q} \times \frac{\lambda}{Whc}$$
(6.1)

where h is Plank's constant, q is the electron charge, and c is the speed of light.

# 6.6 Electrical Analysis

### 6.6.1 Contacts

The quality of the contacts is tested after contact deposition using the CTLM test structures. CTLM test structures are fabricated during the same process step as the contacts. Both top and bottom contact CTLMs are fabricated. Since both the top and bottom contacts are Ohmic, the specific contact resistivities and sheet resistance can be extracted from the test structures (Fig. 6.9). The top contact gives a specific contact resistivity of  $1.0 \times 10^{-5} \ \Omega$ -cm<sup>2</sup> while the bottom contact give a specific contact resistivity of  $3.5 \times 10^{-5} \ \Omega$ -cm<sup>2</sup>. While both top and bottom contact layers are highly doped with similarly low resistivities the sheet resistances (proportional to slope in Fig.6.9) are quite different due to the difference in thicknesses of the layers. Since the contacts are Ohmic with a low resistance a higher fraction of the voltage drop across the device will be across the MQW region. This will allow a lower applied voltage for the same shift in absorption compared to devices with poorer quality contacts.



**Figure 6.9:** Measured and corrected resistance values from top and bottom contact CTLM test structures on QCSE photodiodes.

### 6.6.2 Diode Current-voltage

The current-voltage characteristics of the photodiodes are greatly affected by the presence of defects in the structure of the wafer (Fig. 6.10). The surface of the wafers contain a random pattern of pits which are over 400 nm deep (Fig. 6.11). The effect of a pit on the device's current-voltage characteristics has been examined.

#### Pit Distribution

Three randomly chosen small areas of a wafer  $(4 \text{ mm}^2)$  were examined and the number of pits counted. An average of 9.2 pits per mm<sup>2</sup> was found. Assuming each pit is randomly and independently placed, a Poisson distribution, and measuring the average number of pits in a given area, the probability of a diode of a given size containing a pit can be calculated. The Poisson distribution assumes a random distribution of pits with a known mean density of pits  $D_{\text{pits}}$ . The probability P of finding exactly n pits in an area A is [131]

$$P(n=x) = e^{-\lambda} \frac{\lambda^x}{x!}$$
(6.2)

where  $\lambda = D_{\text{pits}} \times A$ . The probability of a diode having at least one pit is the same as not finding zero pits within a device will be

$$P(n > 0) = 1 - P(0) = 1 - e^{-\lambda}$$
(6.3)

The probability of a device having a pit in the mesa will depend on the size of the mesa and the density of pits. For these wafers  $D_{\rm pits} = 9.2 \text{ mm}^{-2}$  and the mesas have a circular area with radius 100  $\mu$ m, 200  $\mu$ m, or 300  $\mu$ m. The expected fraction of devices which will contain a pit for each size is listed in table 6.3.

**Table 6.3:** Probability that a device with a mesa structure of the given size will contain a pit in the mesa structure.

Radius	Area	Probability
$100 \ \mu m$	$3.14 \times 10^{-2} \text{ mm}^2$	25.1~%
$200 \ \mu { m m}$	$1.26 \times 10^{-1} \mathrm{mm}^2$	68.5~%
$300 \ \mu \mathrm{m}$	$2.83\times10^{-1}~\mathrm{mm^2}$	92.6~%



**Figure 6.10:** Optical microscope image of surface of QCSE wafer showing pits. Inset shows single pit at higher magnification.

In order to fabricate a working device a large number of small devices were fabricated. Devices with and without pits were examined and the effect of pit location on the current voltage characteristics was investigated.



**Figure 6.11:** Trace of height across pit on surface of QCSE wafer before processing, using an atomic force microscope (AFM), inset shows contour map of pit also from AFM measurement. Pit depth of >400 nm is comparable to the height of the active layers of the QCSE wafers.

#### Effect of Pit on Dark Current

The current voltage characteristics of the diodes were measured by probing the bond pads and measuring the current as a function of applied bias. Three distinct groups of diode behaviour were found which depend on the absence or position of pits within the photodiode structure (Figs. 6.12, 6.13). The first group were photodiodes that showed rectifying behaviour and currents as low as a few nA at 5 V reverse bias. This first group did not contain any pits within the mesa area. The next group of photodiodes showed rectifying behaviour with much higher current levels. Currents as high as 1 mA at 1 V reverse bias were observed. These were the diodes that contained pits within the mesa structure but not in contact with the metallic top contact. The final group showed Ohmic behaviour for both forward and reverse biases. These diodes had pits which were in physical contact with the top contact layer.

#### Effect of Parasitic Resistances

The potential drop across the MQW region contributes to the peak shift via the QCSE. Any extra resistances outside of the MQW region will lower the observed QCSE for an applied voltage. The parasitic resistances will include the contact resistance and the resistance of the contact layers. The resistivity of the intrinsic spacer regions is assumed to be equal to the MQW region and taken into account by adding their thickness to the thickness of the MQW region when calculating the electric field. The



Figure 6.12: Comparison of current for diodes without pits, with pits on mesa and with pits under top contact.



**Figure 6.13:** Microscope image of diodes a) with pits under top contact, b) on mesa but not under top contact, c) and without pits on mesa.

contact resistances can be calculated from the contact area and the contact resistivity. The contact resistances will be compared to the total resistance of the device in reverse bias. For a 100  $\mu$ m radius photodiode the area, A, of the top contact is 0.0103 mm<sup>2</sup> while the bottom contact area is 0.115 mm<sup>2</sup>. The total contact resistance for each contact  $R_C$  is

$$R_C = \rho_c / A \tag{6.4}$$

The resistance  $R_{cl}$  through the top and bottom contact layers can be approximated by multiplying the thickness, t, of the contact layers by their respective resistivities,  $\rho$ , and dividing by the area.

$$R_{cl} = \rho \times \frac{t}{A} \tag{6.5}$$

This results in a resistance due to contacts and contact layers of  $\sim 127 \text{ m}\Omega$  and  $\sim 130 \mu\Omega$  respectively. The total resistance across the device can be calculated from the measured current voltage characteristics. For a dark current measurement of a 100

 $\mu$ m radius device at 1 V reverse bias, the measured resistance is ~4.23 M $\Omega$ . Therefore, the voltage drop across the contact and contact layers is negligible, resulting in efficient use of the applied voltage.

# 6.7 Electroabsorption Analysis

# 6.7.1 Quantum Well Width

The absorption spectra will be different for devices with different quantum well widths. The larger quantum well designs have a thicker structure between the top and bottom contacts, leading to a lower electric field across the MQW region at a given applied bias as well as a lower change in electric field for a given change in applied bias. The energy levels in the larger quantum wells will be closer to the band edge than the corresponding energy level in a thinner quantum well. This leads to a shift to higher wavelengths for the absorption edge as the quantum well width is increased. The difference in absorption between the three different quantum well thicknesses measured is shown in figure 6.14.



Figure 6.14: Photocurrent absorption spectrum for QCSE diodes at zero applied bias as measured with a FTIR.

# 6.7.2 Spectral Shift with Applied Bias

#### FTIR

The photocurrent spectra of the QCSE photodiodes were measured using a Fourier transform infrared spectrometer (FTIR). The resultant spectrum from a measurement is a combination of the output spectrum of the source, the transmission spectrum of the beamsplitter, the transmission spectrum of the air, and the absorption spectrum of the device. The source and beamsplitter are chosen so that in the area of interest the output and transmission spectrum are fairly flat (Fig 6.15). Since the main source of absorption in the air at the wavelengths of interest is from water vapour, the majority of the beam path is kept within a sealed compartment which is desiccated to remove water from the air.



Figure 6.15: Transmission spectrum of normal air,  $CaF_2$  beamsplitter and output spectrum of tungsten source. Peaks due to water vapour and wavelength range of interest to this work are highlighted. With water vapour removed spectrum is flat over the wavelength range of interest.

The spectra were measured as a function of bias voltage using unpolarized light at normal incidence at 293 K. The diodes were positioned in the sample chamber of a Bruker Vertex 70 FTIR. The FTIR was set up using a tungsten near-infrared source and a  $CaF_2$  beamsplitter. A lock-in amplifier (LIA) and mechanical chopper were used to allow step-scan measurements which eliminated the dark current from the measurement. A Keithley 230 programmable voltage source was used to set the applied bias on the device. A schematic of the setup used for the photocurrent spectrum measurement is shown in figure 6.8. A spot size of 2 mm was used to allow easy alignment of a diode under the beam. The mechanical chopper was placed in front of the diode and modulated the light at a rate of 1 kHz. The bottom contact from the photodiode was connected to the current measurement port on the LIA while the positive terminal on the voltage source was connected to the top contact. The grounds between the LIA and the voltage source where connected. The output signal from the LIA was connected to the detector input of the FTIR. For each bias voltage applied the FTIR ran once, measuring an interferogram and calculating the spectrum. The QCSE could be seen as a shift in the spectrum between measurements with different applied voltages (Fig. 6.16). The peak both shifts to higher wavelengths and broadens as expected due to the change in the electron and hole wavefunctions. The shifts as measured by the peak absorption nearest the absorption edge for the measured devices are show in figure 6.17. For these devices the shift in energy as a function of applied voltage is larger for the wider QWs than for the thinner QWs. The rate of the peak shift depends on both the thickness of the entire intrinsic region as well as the width of the QWs. The absorption peak of wider QWs will have a larger energy shift for a given electric field, while the electric field will be lower for a given applied voltage due to the increased width of the intrinsic region.



**Figure 6.16:** Spectra for various applied biases for a QCSE device (11.3 nm QW) as measured using FTIR setup.



**Figure 6.17:** Shift in absorption peak with applied bias for QCSE devices as measured using FTIR setup.

# 6.7.3 Absorption Efficiency

Although the FTIR allowed measurement of the photocurrent spectrum over a large bandwidth, the absorption coefficients were not calculated due to not knowing the incident optical power at each wavelength at the device. To accurately measure the absorption efficiency a known amount of incident power is required. In order to obtain values for the absorption efficiency, a TLS setup was used to measure the photocurrent of the devices.

#### **TLS Setup**

The photodiode to be characterized was connected in series with a Keithley 230 programmable voltage source and a Keithley 2000 digital multimeter with GPIB capabilities. The laser source, a Photonetics TUNICS-PRI tunable laser diode source (TLS), was wavelength controllable through GPIB. The TLS was set to 0.20 mW of output power, which was directed through a lensed fibre and aligned at normal incidence to the diode. The fibre was aligned with mirco-manipulators by maximizing the photocurrent at 0 V applied bias and at 1460 nm wavelength. The photocurrent was then measured as a function of applied bias and wavelength. The measurement process was automated using LABview software to step the laser wavelength between each current measurement and step up the applied voltage between each full wavelength sweep. The TLS allowed measurements over a narrow wavelength range (1460 to 1560 nm) and therefore was unable to measure the peak photocurrent of the 6.6 nm QW diodes. The output power from the lensed fibre was measured as a function of wavelength and the Fresnel reflection at the anti-reflection coating ARC was calculated to determine the maximum power reaching the QWs.

At 0 V bias for the 11.3 nm QW device the peak current, after subtracting the dark current, was 6.17  $\mu$ A at 1471 nm. The calculated reflectance from the ARC at this wavelength was 1.2% and the measured output at 1471 nm was 0.12 mW. Assuming that each electron in the current is due to one photon being absorbed, an absorption efficiency of 4.4% has been calculated. This value is nearly twice the maximum value obtained by Edwards *et al.* at 1425 nm [2].

#### Well Efficiency

It has been demonstrated that optical absorption normal to the plane of MQW structures should be specified as a fraction of light absorbed per well  $\gamma_{\text{well}}(\lambda)$  which is independent of well thickness. This can be calculated from the photocurrent  $(I_{\text{ph}}(\lambda))$ at each wavelength  $(\lambda)$  by: [132]

$$I_{\rm ph}(\lambda) = \frac{eI_0 N \gamma_{\rm well}(\lambda) \lambda}{hc}$$
(6.6)

under the assumption that  $\gamma_{\text{well}}(\lambda) \ll 1$ , where  $I_0$  is the incident power, N is the number of quantum wells, e is the electron charge, h is Plank's constant, and c is the speed of light.

#### **Absorption Coefficient**

Light propagating down a waveguide will be parallel to the plane of the MQW layers and therefore the well efficiency will not be a useful metric. In the case of light propagating in the plane of the MQW with the electric field also in the plane of the MQW layers (TE polarization) the absorption coefficient can be calculated from the well efficiency. The absorption coefficient of a QCSE photodiode ( $\alpha$ ) can be defined by: [61]

$$\frac{I_L}{I_0} = e^{-\alpha L} \tag{6.7}$$

where  $\frac{I_L}{I_0} = 1 - \gamma$  is the fraction of light remaining after propagating through a QW and barrier, a length of L. If  $\frac{I_L}{I_0} \approx 1$  then the absorption coefficient can be calculated using L equal to the total MQW region and  $\frac{I_L}{I_0}$  the fraction of light remaining after propagating through the MQW region. In this way the absorption coefficient for waveguided TE polarized light can be calculated from the normal incident absorption.

### 6.7.4 Contrast Ratios

The contrast ratio between the on and off state is an important figure of merit for an electroabsorption modulator [67]. For a QCSE device the contrast ratio is the absorption ratio between two applied voltages. This can be calculated for each wavelength by dividing the two spectra. The difference in voltage between the two biases is known as the swing voltage and the lower of the two voltages is known as the DC offset or bias

voltage. A device which requires a higher DC offset has higher excess energy dissipation from photocurrent and leakage current compared to one with a low or zero DC offset. A higher swing voltage also contributes to excess energy loss. When switching between the low and high voltages the energy dissipated is proportional to the square of the voltage swing [133]. Therefore a device that can operate at a low DC offset with a low swing voltage will be more energy efficient for use as a modulator.

The contrast ratio for a voltage swing of 1 V has been calculated using the measurements from the TLS setup. The 11.3 nm QW devices show a contrast ratio of over 6 dB at 1495 nm for a 0 V DC offset and decreases as the DC offset is increased with a ratio of 4.0 dB at 1550nm for 1.85 V DC offset (Fig. 6.18) above the minimum useful ratio of 4 dB [47] over a range of 65 nm. Trend in the shape and position of the contrast ratio spectrum is directly related to the trend in the shape of the absorption spectra. As the applied bias increases the absorption edge shifts faster and the peak lowers and broadens. While these two effects both lead to increasing the width of the contrast ratio peak, they have opposite effects on the height of the contrast ratio peak as a function of DC offset. The increase in peak shift leads to a higher contrast ratio while the peak lowering and broadening leads to a lower contrast ratio. For this device the overall effect is that the peak contrast ratio increases until around 0.4 V when the effect of the broadening on the peak contrast ratio becomes greater than the effect of the peak shift and the peak contrast ratio becomes greater.



**Figure 6.18:** (Left) Contrast ratios for a voltage swing of 1.0 V for DC bias voltages from 0.0 V to 2.0 V, measured using the TLS setup with 200 mW power and a 11.3 nm QW QCSE photodiode. (Right) Measurement data used to calculate contrast ratios.


**Figure 6.19:** Comparison between simulated absorption spectra (no marker) for 11.3 nm QW QCSE and measured absorption spectra (square markers) as measured using FTIR.

### 6.8 Comparison to Simulated Results

The absorption spectra as measured was compared to the absorption spectra from the simulations of the as grown structure. The absorption edge for the measured devices is at a higher wavelength then the absorption edge found in the simulations (Fig. 6.19). For the 11.3 nm QW structure a difference of  $\sim 30$  nm which is equal to 18 meV (1467.5 nm = 844 meV vs 1437.5 nm = 862 meV) was calculated between the absorption edges at 0 V applied bias. This small difference could be accounted for by the uncertainty in the measurement of the QW and barrier thicknesses. The uncertainty in the strain and Ge content of the virtual substrate could lead to differences in the absorption edge measured versus calculated. The simulations were run using the centre of the uncertainty band only. The absorption spectra could be recalculated using other values within the uncertainty. As the difference is only 18 meV a combination of larger QWs and a slightly higher Ge content or strain in the virtual substrate would lead to a better fit with the experimental data. The LH and HH transitions shift at different rates when the strain is increased, providing another parameter in addition to the absorption edge to match when fitting the strain and QW width.

### 6.9 Comparison to Literature

The devices fabricated in this thesis have shown the best results at 1550 nm for SiGe/Ge MQW QCSE devices. Most devices demonstrated have required high bias voltages (7 V)[67] or high operating temperatures  $(90^{\circ}\text{C})[63]$  in order to operate near

1550 nm and showed lower contrast ratios at 1 V than the devices demonstrated here. In terms of operation near 1550 nm the best SiGe/Ge MQW QCSE modulators demonstrated previous to this work have shown a contrast ratio of 6 dB for a voltage swing of 1V[2]. The comparable low voltage swing contrast ratio was achieved by a reduction in the number of QWs, five QWs instead of ten leading to lower absorption for the design. The decrease in intrinsic region width leads to a higher electric field for a given applied voltage. The devices demonstrated here show a similar contrast ratio with nearly twice the absorption compared to the previous state of the art.

QCSE electro-absorption modulators working at 1550 nm have been fabricated using III-V material systems much earlier than in the SiGe/Ge material system. The flexibility in terms of band edge engineering afforded by III-V systems made realisation of QCSE devices which can operate at a chosen wavelength relatively straightforward. Modulation of light had been demonstrated as early as 1987 using InGaAs/InP MQWs[134]. These devices demonstrated a 17 dB contrast ratio at 1640 nm wavelengths at a bias of 7 V at a modulation frequency of 3 GHz. InGaAs can be lattice matched to InP allowing high quality defect free growth of thick MQW regions. In 1994 InGaAs/InP MQW devices with 200 QWs were grown which showed 9 dB contrast ratio at 1550 nm using high voltages[135]. By 1996 InGaAs/InAlAs MQW devices had demonstrated contrast ratios at 1550 nm of 25 dB with a 1 V swing and a bias voltage of 1.5 V [136].

While there is an increase in performance when using the III-V materials for electroabsorptive modulation over SiGe/Ge, they suffer from lack of CMOS compatibility. The possibility of monolithic integration and the potential of mass fabrication associated with CMOS compatibility gives the SiGe/Ge QCSE designs an advantage over the more mature III-V QCSE designs.

### 6.10 Future Work

Fabrication issues resulted in many devices being unsuitable for photocurrent measurements. Many devices failed during the wirebonding stage which resulted in one of the wafer designs not having a photocurrent measurement. Some of the devices which showed good rectifying behaviour before wirebonding showed Ohmic behaviour afterwards, preventing their use for photocurrent measurements. An investigation into the causes could help prevent further wasted fabrication time and allow more devices to be measured. The top contact on the devices was a spider web pattern which was used to provide even distribution of the voltage across the top contact and ensure even electric field across the device. This was not an issue for the FTIR measurements in which the total power was unknown. Measuring the absorption coefficient using a lensed fibre to focus a beam onto the top surface the contact pattern made alignment of the fibre difficult and even with perfect alignment blocked a fraction of the light, leading to under reporting of the absorption coefficient. The larger devices had larger openings in the centre of the top contact but, due to the density of pit defects, few of the larger devices were defect free and were unable to be used for photocurrent measurements. These two issues could be resolved by changing the design by removing the larger photocurrent diodes and replacing them with small diodes which contain a larger open window in the top contact. The large windows would allow easier alignment with little or no light missing the photodiode. Comparison between the absorption spectra of the different top contact designs would reveal if there is a difference in electric fields due to the different contacts.

Improvement in the contrast ratio for QCSE devices would be possible if wafers are grown with thinner barriers. The thinner the barrier, the lower the required swing voltage will be for the same contrast ratio. The confinement will also decrease and it is expected that thinner barriers will also have the absorption edge shifted to higher wavelengths. The effects of thinner barriers could be demonstrated by fabricating devices from a series of wafers in which within the MQW region only the barrier thickness is changed. In order to keep the Ge content of the barriers and virtual substrate the same across the series of wafers, the Ge content of the spacer and contact regions may need to modified in order to keep the structure strain balanced. Other novel designs could be grown and devices fabricated based on the results of new simulated structures.

The simulations suggested that the LH and HH to  $c\Gamma$  transitions have similar energies. Surface normal illumination has the electric field polarized in the x or y direction which allows absorption between the LH or HH valley and the  $c\Gamma$  valley, where z is the direction normal to the surface and layers, and x and y directions are parallel to the layers. Due to the selection rules, the HH to  $c\Gamma$  transition is forbidden for light that is polarized along the z direction [124]. Fabrication of waveguide structures using the QCSE wafers would allow one to measure the absorption due to LH transitions separately.

Process induced strain has the potential to shift the operating frequency of a QCSE design. High stress silicon nitride can be used to add tensile strain to the structure.

Silicon nitride has been shown via photoluminescence to shrink the bandgap of Ge nano pillars and ridges [137]. A similar process could be used on thin QCSE structures with the additional requirement of electrical contacts.

### 6.11 Summary

Quantum confined Stark effect structures epitaxily grown on top of Si wafers have the potential to allow efficient modulation of infrared light in the communications wavelength bands. These can potentially be integrated into Si CMOS fabrication processes as modulators for an integrated optical communications on chip system. Ge/SiGe MQW structures with thin barriers have been shown to be able to support confinement of electrons and holes to allow the absorption peak to be shifted by the QCSE. While surface normal photodiodes were fabricated with radii of 100  $\mu$ m, 200  $\mu$ m, and 300  $\mu$ m, due to the density of surface defects only the smaller devices had a reasonable chance of being defect free. Measured absorption spectra and calculated contrast ratios show that the structures have the potential for efficiency modulation of optical signals in the communications bands. Comparison of the measured results were at a higher wavelength then expected from simulation using the measured layer thicknesses. The difference can be explained by the uncertainty of the measured layer thicknesses and compositions.

# Chapter 7

## Conclusions

Monolithic integration of photonic devices onto a Si chip is a potential solution to the problems created by electrical interconnects to the continued development of high speed processors. Chip to chip or core to core communications using optical signals provides a way to overcome the bottleneck faced with current metal interconnects. The ability to produced photonic devices in a way that is compatible with current CMOS fabrication processes would allow one to take advantage of the large infrastructure developed for CMOS electronics and could substantial reduce fabrication costs. Integration of epitaxially grown germanium on silicon substrates expands the potential for fabrication of active optical devices operating at the low loss optical fibre wavelengths used in long haul communications within a CMOS compatible fabrication process. A major issue with Ge on Si substrate technologies is the misfit dislocations which occur due to the large lattice mismatch between Ge and Si. For photonics using high Ge content the layers are required to be much thicker than the critical thickness. Lowering the surface defects due to the lattice mismatch is an active area of research. Growth techniques that have been developed using chemical vapour deposition, which lower the defect density substantially include growing on a fully relaxed SiGe buffer, the twostep growth technique, and selective area growth. The growth techniques have allowed the demonstration of high performance Ge on Si photodetectors and modulators.

### 7.1 Conclusions and Future Work

One issue with Ge on Si devices is the combination of the Fermi level of Ge being pinned near the valence band and the high diffusion rate of n-type dopants. Due to

124

the Fermi level pinning of Ge, Ohmic contacts to n-type Ge require high levels of n-type doping  $(N_D > 1 \times 10^{19} \text{ cm}^{-3})$ . For *in-situ* doped structures the high doping of bottom contact layers will lead to dopant diffusion into higher layers of the structure. This will greatly increase the leakage current through a device and change the electrical and optical properties. Therefore in these cases a process which does not rely on high *in-situ* doping is required. The use of ion-implantation to produce Ohmic contacts to n-type Ge does not require high *in-situ* doping but introduces a large number of unwanted defects into the material. Inserting an interfacial layer can also produce Ohmic contacts to n-type Ge but requires higher *in-situ* doped layers. Yttrium has been demonstrated to be able to produce Ohmic contacts to low doped n-type Ge layers but is less stable, requiring a protective cap layer before exposure to atmosphere. In this work an Ohmic contact to moderately doped  $(N_D > 1 \times 10^{18} \text{cm}^{-3})$  n-type Ge was fabricated by the deposition and annealing of a AgSb alloy. The AgSb alloy produces a contact resistivity  $(\rho_c)$  of  $(1.1 \pm 0.2) \times 10^{-5} \ \Omega$ -cm<sup>2</sup>, which is lower than reported for Yttrium based contacts. The resistivity is higher than other techniques mentioned but benefits from using a simple fabrication process which does not introduce defects or require a highly doped n-type Ge layer.

Precise control of the Ag:Sb ratio and thicknesses was not possible using the tools and materials available. Further research could use sequential deposition of Sb followed by Ag from separate targets without exposure to atmosphere in between to allow independent control of the thicknesses of Sb and Ag that are deposited. Optimization of the thicknesses could lead to improved contact quality and repeatability. Another route that could lead to better contact quality would be an investigation into replacing the Ag with other metals such as Ni which has been shown to form low resistivity NiGe alloys. The contact process was developed for use with n-type Ge contact layers with a doping concentration of  $N_D = 1 \times 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ . Investigation of the effect on contact quality of lowering the dopant concentration would allow one to determine the minimum dopant concentration required. Knowing the minimum required dopant concentration in n-type Ge for bottom contact layers would allow one to minimize the issue of dopant segregation during wafer growth and allow for the fabrication of devices requiring Ohmic bottom contacts such as n-type SiGe THz QCLs.

An important component required for integration of photonics onto Si chips is a CMOS compatible modulator. A modulator that operates near 1550 nm would have the benefit of compatibility with existing communications infrastructure which utilize the low loss wavelength region of optical fibres. The QCSE allows the modulation of the absorption spectrum of a quantum well and this effect can be used to design and produce electro-optic absorption modulators. Ge/SiGe MQW QCSE modulators can operate at lower voltages and with smaller sizes than other previously demonstrated Si compatible modulators. Lower voltage DC offset and swing voltages allow device operation with better energy efficiency. The accuracy of the absorption edge calculations was confirmed by simulating structures that have been presented in the literature. QCSE structures were designs with 10 QWs ranging from 9 nm to 16 nm separated by 11 barriers with widths equal to half the QW width. The barriers are designed to allow the QCSE structures to operate with lower voltages than previously reported designs by reducing the total size of the intrinsic region without reducing the number of QWs. The simulations of the design show that the 16 nm QW structure will provide useful modulation across the entire optical communications C band with a low voltage swing and low DC offset voltages.

The structures of the wafers that were grown differed from the design structures. The structures as grown were measured using TEM and the layer thicknesses were used in simulations to determine the expected absorption of devices with the as grown structure. It was shown that the differences in the as grown structures led to a shift of the absorption to lower wavelengths and a higher voltage requirement.

While the spectra from the simulation accurately matched the absorption edge of the measured spectra for the devices from the literature, the devices fabricated during this study did not match as well. The discrepancy could be resolved by improvements to the simulation which would take into account the uncertainty in the measured layer thicknesses. The measured spectra for both the literature and this thesis show stronger tails in the low energy side of the absorption than found in the simulated spectra. This could be due to absorption in other parts of the device such as the spacers and contacts. This requires further investigation in order to allow a more accurate spectrum calculation.

Photodiode devices were fabricated using the wafers grown by collaborators from Warwick University. The surface of the wafer showed pits which were detrimental to the operation of any device that contained one. Due to the density of the pits only devices with an active area with a diameter less than 100  $\mu$ m could be reasonably expected to be free of pits. A number of devices were able to be fabricated which showed good rectifying behaviour. The good devices were wirebonded and an FTIR was used to measure the absorption spectra for various applied voltages by measuring the photocurrent. A QCSE shift was able to be seen from the FTIR measurements and, in order to determine absolute values for the absorption, the photocurrent was also measured using a TLS setup. Contrast ratios over 6 dB at 1495 nm and 4 dB at 1550 nm for 1 V swing voltage were measured with an 11.3 nm QW device. The fabrication issues did not allow for a full characterization of all of the different wafers. Further research with these wafers could include a complete characterization of each of the designs in both TLS setups and FTIR measurements. Replacement of the large and medium sized devices with smaller devices would allow a higher yield of devices per sample. Creation of devices with larger windows in the top contact would allow for a more accurate measure of the absorption coefficient. Another avenue would be the growth of new wafers which more accurately reflect the original design structure. The thinner barriers and larger QW widths should provide a better contrast ratio at 1550 nm.

In conclusion I believe that the results demonstrated in this work show both a novel method for Ohmic contacts to low doped n-type Ge and advancement in the design and realization of QCSE devices. The Ohmic contact technology developed has the potential to allow previously unrealized technologies such as n-type Ge/SiGe THz QCL to be successfully developed. The improvements made by the QCSE devices in this work increase the possibility of the full integration of Si photonics with Si CMOS electronics.

# Bibliography

- G. Klimeck, F. Oyafuso, T. B. Boykin, R. C. Bowen, and P. von Allmen, Computer Modeling in Engineering and Science (CMES) (2002), No. 5, pp. 601–642.
- [2] E. H. Edwards, L. Lever, E. T. Fei, T. I. Kamins, Z. Ikonic, J. S. Harris, R. W. Kelsall, and D. A. B. Miller, "Low-voltage broad-band electroabsorption from thin Ge/SiGe quantum wells epitaxially grown on silicon," Opt. Express 21, 867–876 (2013).
- [3] G. E. Moore *et al.*, "Cramming more components onto integrated circuits,", 1965.
- [4] S. E. Thompson and S. Parthasarathy, "Moore's law: the future of Si microelectronics," Materials Today 9, 20 – 25 (2006).
- [5] D. A. Miller, "Rationale and challenges for optical interconnects to electronic chips," Proceedings of the IEEE 88, 728–749 (2000).
- [6] P. Gepner and M. Kowalik, "Multi-Core Processors: New Way to Achieve High System Performance," In *Parallel Computing in Electrical Engineering*, 2006. *PAR ELEC 2006. International Symposium on*, pp. 9–13 (2006).
- [7] G. P. Agrawal, *Fiber-Optic Communications*, 3rd ed. (Wiley-interscience, 2002).
- [8] I. Kaminow, T. Li, and A. Willner, Optical Fiber Telecommunications Volume VIA: Components and Subsystems, Optics and Photonics (Elsevier Science, 2013).
- [9] M. Hochberg, N. Harris, R. Ding, Y. Zhang, A. Novack, Z. Xuan, and T. Baehr-Jones, "Silicon photonics: the next fabless semiconductor industry," Solid-State Circuits Magazine, IEEE 5, 48–58 (2013).
- [10] R. E. Camacho-Aguilera, Y. Cai, N. Patel, J. T. Bessette, M. Romagnoli, L. C. Kimerling, and J. Michel, "An Electrically Pumped Germanium Laser," Opt. Exp. 20, 11316–11320 (2012).

- [11] N. Izhaky, M. Morse, S. Koehl, O. Cohen, D. Rubin, A. Barkai, G. Sarid, R. Cohen, and M. Paniccia, "Development of CMOS-Compatible Integrated Silicon Photonics Devices," Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics, IEEE Journal of 12, 1688–1698 (2006).
- [12] T. Hashimoto, Y. Nakasuga, Y. Yamada, H. Terui, M. Yanagisawa, Y. Akahori, Y. Tohmori, K. Kato, and Y. Suzuki, "Multichip optical hybrid integration technique with planar lightwave circuit platform," Lightwave Technology, Journal of 16, 1249–1258 (1998).
- [13] R. A. Soref and B. Bennett, "Electrooptical effects in silicon," Quantum Electronics, IEEE Journal of 23, 123–129 (1987).
- [14] R. A. Soref, "Silicon-based optoelectronics," Proceedings of the IEEE 81, 1687– 1706 (1993).
- [15] B. Jalali and S. Fathpour, "Silicon photonics," Lightwave Technology, Journal of 24, 4600–4615 (2006).
- [16] S. Zhu, M. B. Yu, G. Q. Lo, and D. L. Kwong, "Near-infrared waveguide-based nickel silicide Schottky-barrier photodetector for optical communications," Applied Physics Letters 92, - (2008).
- [17] H. Rong, R. Jones, A. Liu, O. Cohen, D. Hak, A. Fang, and M. Paniccia, "A continuous-wave Raman silicon laser," Nature 433, 725–728 (2005).
- [18] H.-S. Han, S.-Y. Seo, and J. H. Shin, "Optical gain at 1.54 m in erbium-doped silicon nanocluster sensitized waveguide," Applied Physics Letters 79, 4568–4570 (2001).
- [19] M. E. Groenert, C. W. Leitz, A. J. Pitera, V. Yang, H. Lee, R. J. Ram, and E. A. Fitzgerald, "Monolithic integration of room-temperature cw GaAs/AlGaAs lasers on Si substrates via relaxed graded GeSi buffer layers," Journal of Applied Physics 93, 362–367 (2003).
- [20] D. J. Paul, "Si/SiGe Heterostructures: From Material and Physics to Devices and Circuits," Semiconductor Science and Technology 19, R75 (2004).
- [21] V. A. Shah, A. Dobbie, M. Myronov, and D. R. Leadley, "High quality relaxed Ge layers grown directly on a Si(001) substrate," Solid-State Electronics 62, 189–194 (2011).
- [22] K. Kinoshita *et al.*, "Homogeneous SiGe crystal growth in microgravity by the travelling liquidus-zone method," Journal of Physics: Conference Series **327**, 012017 (2011).

- [23] E. Kasper and D. J. Paul, Silicon Germanium Heterostructure Devices: Basics and Realisations (Springer-Verlag, 2004).
- [24] J. M. Hartmann, A. Abbadie, and S. Favier, "Critical thickness for plastic relaxation of SiGe on Si(001) revisited," Journal of Applied Physics 110, - (2011).
- [25] E. Kasper, "Growth and properties of Si/SiGe superlattices," Surface Science 174, 630 – 639 (1986).
- [26] H. Chen, Y. K. Li, C. S. Peng, H. F. Liu, Y. L. Liu, Q. Huang, J. M. Zhou, and Q.-K. Xue, "Crosshatching on a SiGe film grown on a Si(001) substrate studied by Raman mapping and atomic force microscopy," Phys. Rev. B 65, 233303 (2002).
- [27] S. H. Olsen, A. G. O'Neill, D. J. Norris, A. G. Cullis, N. J. Woods, J. Zhang, K. Fobelets, and H. A. Kemhadjian, "Strained Si/SiGe n-channel MOSFETs: impact of cross-hatching on device performance," Semiconductor Science and Technology 17, 655 (2002).
- [28] R. Oshima, Y. Watanabe, M. Yamanaka, H. Kawanami, I. Sakamoto, K. Matsubara, and I. Sakata, "High-quality SiGe films grown with compositionally graded buffer layers for solar cell applications," Journal of Crystal Growth **378**, 226 – 229 (2013), the 17th International Conference on Molecular Beam Epitaxy.
- [29] Y. Shiraki, Y. Katayama, K. Kobayashi, and K. Komatsubara, "Molecular beam and solid-phase epitaxies of silicon under ultra-high vacuum," Journal of Crystal Growth 45, 287 – 291 (1978).
- [30] R. Willardson, E. Weber, J. Bean, and R. Hull, Germanium Silicon: Physics and Materials: Physics and Materials, Semiconductors and semimetals (Elsevier Science, 1998).
- [31] N. Archer, "Chemical vapour deposition," Physics in Technology 10, 152 (1979).
- [32] V. A. Shah, A. Dobbie, M. Myronov, D. J. F. Fulgoni, L. J. Nash, and D. R. Leadley, "Reverse Graded Relaxed Buffers for High Ge Content SiGe Virtual Substrates," Applied Physics Letters 93, (2008).
- [33] V. A. Shah, A. Dobbie, M. Myronov, and D. R. Leadley, "Reverse Graded SiGe/Ge/Si buffers for High-composition Virtual Substrates," Journal of Applied Physics 107, 064304 (2010).
- [34] R. R. Reeber and K. Wang, "Thermal expansion and lattice parameters of group {IV} semiconductors," Materials Chemistry and Physics 46, 259 – 264 (1996).

- [35] H. M. Manasevit, I. Gergis, and A. B. Jones, "Electron Mobility Enhancement in Epitaxial Multilayer Si-Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> Alloy Films on (100) Si," Applied Physics Letters **41**, 464–466 (1982).
- [36] S. Thompson, G. Sun, Y. S. Choi, and T. Nishida, "Uniaxial-process-induced strained-Si: extending the CMOS roadmap," Electron Devices, IEEE Transactions on 53, 1010–1020 (2006).
- [37] G. Ternent and D. J. Paul, "Si/SiGe Tunneling Static Random Access Memories," ECS Transactions 50, 987–990 (2013).
- [38] R. E. Warburton *et al.*, "Ge-on-Si Single-Photon Avalanche Diode Detectors: Design, Modeling, Fabrication, and Characterization at Wavelengths 1310 and 1550 nm," IEEE Trans. Elec. Dev. **60**, 3807 (2013).
- [39] J. Liu, X. Sun, R. Camacho-Aguilera, L. C. Kimerling, and J. Michel, "Ge-on-Si laser operating at room temperature," Opt. Lett. 35, 679–681 (2010).
- [40] D. Sene, J. Grantham, V. Bright, and J. Comtois, "Development and characterization of micro-mechanical gratings for optical modulation," In *Micro Electro Mechanical Systems, 1996, MEMS '96, Proceedings. An Investigation of Micro Structures, Sensors, Actuators, Machines and Systems. IEEE, The Ninth Annual International Workshop on*, pp. 222–227 (1996).
- [41] G. Cocorullo and I. Rendina, "Thermo-optical modulation at 1.5 mu m in silicon etalon," Electronics Letters 28, 83–85 (1992).
- [42] T. Alkeskjold, J. Lægsgaard, A. Bjarklev, D. Hermann, A. Anawati, J. Broeng, J. Li, and S.-T. Wu, "All-optical modulation in dye-doped nematic liquid crystal photonic bandgap fibers," Opt. Express 12, 5857–5871 (2004).
- [43] J. Clark and G. Lanzani, "Organic photonics for communications," Nature photonics 4, 438–446 (2010).
- [44] D. Pacifici, G. J. Lezec, and H. A. Atwater, "All-optical Modulation by Plasmonic Excitation of CdSe Quantum Dots," Nat Photon 1, 402 (2007).
- [45] W. Chang, Fundamentals of Guided-Wave Optoelectronic Devices (Cambridge University Press, 2010).
- [46] G. T. Reed, G. Z. Mashanovich, F. Y. Gardes, M. Nedeljkovic, Y. Hu, D. J. Thomson, K. Li, P. R. Wilson, S.-W. Chen, and S. S. Hsu, "Recent breakthroughs in carrier depletion based silicon optical modulators," Nanophotonics pp. 1–18 (2013).

- [47] G. T. Reed, G. Mashanovich, F. Y. Gardes, and D. J. Thomson, "Silicon optical modulators," Nat Photon 4, 518–526 (2010).
- [48] R. G. Hunsperger, Integrated Optics: Theory and Technology (New York, NY: Springer-Verlag New York, 2009).
- [49] M. Kawabe, S. Hirata, and S. Namba, "Ridge waveguides and electro-optical switches in LiNbO3fabricated by ion-bombardment-enhanced etching," Circuits and Systems, IEEE Transactions on 26, 1109–1113 (1979).
- [50] V. Ramaswamy, M. D. Divino, and R. D. Standley, "Balanced Bridge Modulator Switch Using Ti diffused LiNbO3 Strip Waveguides," Applied Physics Letters 32, 644–646 (1978).
- [51] M. Streshinsky *et al.*, "Low power 50 Gb/s silicon traveling wave Mach-Zehnder modulator near 1300 nm," Opt. Express **21**, 30350–30357 (2013).
- [52] G. Reed and A. Knights, Silicon Photonics: An Introduction (Wiley, 2004).
- [53] D. Feng et al., "High speed GeSi electro-absorption modulator at 1550 nm wavelength on SOI waveguide," Opt. Express 20, 22224–22232 (2012).
- [54] D. A. B. Miller, D. S. Chemla, T. C. Damen, A. C. Gossard, W. Wiegmann, T. H. Wood, and C. A. Burrus, "Band-Edge Electroabsorption in Quantum Well Structures: The Quantum-Confined Stark Effect," Phys. Rev. Lett. 53, 2173– 2176 (1984).
- [55] T. Ido, H. Sano, D. Moss, S. Tanaka, and A. Takai, "Strained InGaAs/InAlAs MQW electroabsorption modulators with large bandwidth and low driving voltage," Photonics Technology Letters, IEEE 6, 1207–1209 (1994).
- [56] H. Fukano, T. Yamanaka, and M. Tamura, "Design and Fabrication of Low-Driving-Voltage Electroabsorption Modulators Operating at 40 Gb/s," Lightwave Technology, Journal of 25, 1961–1969 (2007).
- [57] W. Kobayashi, M. Arai, T. Yamanaka, N. Fujiwara, T. Fujisawa, T. Tadokoro, K. Tsuzuki, Y. Kondo, and F. Kano, "Design and Fabrication of 10-/40-Gb/s, Uncooled Electroabsorption Modulator Integrated DFB Laser With Butt-Joint Structure," Lightwave Technology, Journal of 28, 164–171 (2010).
- [58] P. Chaisakul, D. Marris-Morini, M.-S. Rouifed, J. Frigerio, D. Chrastina, J.-R. Coudevylle, X. L. Roux, S. Edmond, G. Isella, and L. Vivien, "Recent progress in GeSi electro-absorption modulators," Science and Technology of Advanced Materials 15, 014601 (2014).

- [59] Y. H. Kuo, Y. K. Lee, Y. S. Ge, S. Ren, J. E. Roth, T. I. Kamins, D. A. B. Miller, and J. S. Harris, "Strong quantum-confined Stark effect in germanium quantum-well structures on silicon," Nature 437, 1334–1336 (2005).
- [60] L. Lever, Z. Ikonic, A. Valavanis, J. D. Cooper, and R. W. Kelsall, "Design of Ge–SiGe quantum-confined Stark effect electroabsorption heterostructures for CMOS compatible photonics," Lightwave Technology, Journal of 28, 3273–3281 (2010).
- [61] L. Lever *et al.*, "Modulation of the Absorption Coefficient at 1.3 μm in Ge/SiGe Multiple Quantum Well Heterostructures on Silicon," Opt. Lett. **36**, 4158–4160 (2011).
- [62] M. S. Rouifed, P. Chaisakul, D. Marris-Morini, J. Frigerio, G. Isella, D. Chrastina, S. Edmond, X. L. Roux, J.-R. Coudevylle, and L. Vivien, "Quantum-confined Stark Effect at 1.3 μm in Ge/Si<sub>0.35</sub>Ge<sub>0.65</sub> Quantum-well Structure," Opt. Lett. **37**, 3960–3962 (2012).
- [63] Y.-H. Kuo, Y.-K. Lee, Y. Ge, S. Ren, J. Roth, T. Kamins, D. Miller, and J. S. Harris, "Quantum-Confined Stark Effect in Ge/SiGe Quantum Wells on Si for Optical Modulators," Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics, IEEE Journal of 12, 1503–1513 (2006).
- [64] S. Ren, Y. Rong, T. I. Kamins, J. S. Harris, and D. A. B. Miller, "Selective epitaxial growth of Ge/Si0.15Ge0.85 quantum wells on Si substrate using reduced pressure chemical vapor deposition," Applied Physics Letters 98, - (2011).
- [65] Y. Chen, C. Li, H. Lai, and S. Chen, "Quantum-confined direct band transitions in tensile strained Ge/SiGe quantum wells on silicon substrates," Nanotechnology 21, 115207 (2010).
- [66] S. Ren, T. Kamins, and D. Miller, "Thin Dielectric Spacer for the Monolithic Integration of Bulk Germanium or Germanium Quantum Wells With Silicon-on-Insulator Waveguides," Photonics Journal, IEEE 3, 739–747 (2011).
- [67] S. Ren, Y. Rong, S. Claussen, R. Schaevitz, T. Kamins, J. Harris, and D. Miller, "Ge/SiGe Quantum Well Waveguide Modulator Monolithically Integrated With SOI Waveguides," Photonics Technology Letters, IEEE 24, 461–463 (2012).
- [68] D. Ahn, L. C. Kimerling, and J. Michel, "Efficient evanescent wave coupling conditions for waveguide-integrated thin-film Si/Ge photodetectors on silicon-oninsulator/germanium-on-insulator substrates," Journal of Applied Physics 110, - (2011).

- [69] C. E. Png, S. P. Chan, S. T. Lim, and G. T. Reed, "Optical phase modulators for MHz and GHz modulation in silicon-on-insulator (SOI)," Journal of lightwave technology 22, 1573 (2004).
- [70] A. Liu, R. Jones, L. Liao, D. Samara-Rubio, D. Rubin, O. Cohen, R. Nicolaescu, and M. Paniccia, "A high-speed silicon optical modulator based on a metal– oxide–semiconductor capacitor," Nature 427, 615–618 (2004).
- [71] A. Liu, L. Liao, D. Rubin, H. Nguyen, B. Ciftcioglu, Y. Chetrit, N. Izhaky, and M. Paniccia, "High-speed optical modulation based on carrier depletion in a silicon waveguide," Optics Express 15, 660–668 (2007).
- [72] D. A. Miller, "Device requirements for optical interconnects to silicon chips," Proceedings of the IEEE 97, 1166–1185 (2009).
- [73] P. Chaisakul, D. Marris-Morini, M.-S. Rouifed, G. Isella, D. Chrastina, J. Frigerio, X. L. Roux, S. Edmond, J.-R. Coudevylle, and L. Vivien, "23 GHz Ge/SiGe multiple quantum well electro-absorption modulator," Opt. Express 20, 3219– 3224 (2012).
- [74] D. Thomson *et al.*, "50-Gb/s Silicon Optical Modulator," Photonics Technology Letters, IEEE 24, 234–236 (2012).
- [75] H. Xiao, Introduction to Semiconductor Manufacturing Technology, 2nd ed. (SPIE, 2012).
- [76] Vectorbeam Operator Manual, Leica Microsystems.
- [77] T. H. P. Chang, "Proximity effect in electronbeam lithography," Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology 12, 1271–1275 (1975).
- [78] A. Tseng, K. Chen, C. Chen, and K. Ma, "Electron beam lithography in nanoscale fabrication: recent development," Electronics Packaging Manufacturing, IEEE Transactions on 26, 141–149 (2003).
- [79] K. Murata, D. F. Kyser, and C. H. Ting, "Monte Carlo simulation of fast secondary electron production in electron beam resists," Journal of Applied Physics 52, 4396–4405 (1981).
- [80] Handbook of Sputter Deposition Technology: Fundamentals and Applications for Functional Thin Films, Nano-materials and MEMS, 2nd ed., K. Wasa, I. Kanno, and H. Kotera, eds., (Elsevier, 2012).
- [81] K. Williams and R. Muller, "Etch rates for micromachining processing," Microelectromechanical Systems, Journal of 5, 256–269 (1996).

- [82] K. Williams, K. Gupta, and M. Wasilik, "Etch rates for micromachining processing-Part II," Microelectromechanical Systems, Journal of 12, 761–778 (2003).
- [83] D. E. Aspnes and A. A. Studna, "Dielectric functions and optical parameters of Si, Ge, GaP, GaAs, GaSb, InP, InAs, and InSb from 1.5 to 6.0 eV," Phys. Rev. B 27, 985–1009 (1983).
- [84] H. Zhou, K. Elgaid, C. Wilkinson, and I. Thayne, "Low-Hydrogen-Content Silicon Nitride Deposited at Room Temperature by Inductively Coupled Plasma Deposition," Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 45, 8388 (2006).
- [85] R. Pillarisetty, "Academic and Industry Research Progress in Germanium Nanodevices," Nature 479, 324 (2011).
- [86] D. J. Paul, "Silicon photonics: a bright future?," Elec. Lett. 45, 582–584 (2009).
- [87] S. J. Koester, J. D. Schaub, G. Dehlinger, and J. O. Chu, "Germanium-on-SOI infrared detectors for integrated photonic applications," IEEE J. Sel. Topics Quant. Elec. 12, 1489–1502 (2006).
- [88] C. Shen *et al.*, "Spin Transport in Germanium at Room Temperature," Appl. Phys. Letts. 97, 162104 (2010).
- [89] L. F. Llin *et al.*, "The cross-plane thermoelectric properties of p-Ge/Si<sub>0.5</sub>Ge<sub>0.5</sub> superlattices," Appl. Phys. Letts. **103**, 143507 (2013).
- [90] D. J. Paul, "The progress towards terahertz quantum cascade lasers on silicon substrates," Laser & Photonics Rev. 4, 610–632 (2010).
- [91] T. Dinh, A. Valavanis, Z. Ikonic, and R. Kelsall, "Design of Ge/SiGe Quantum Cascade Lasers Using The Density Matrix Model," In Group IV Photonics (GFP), 2011 8th IEEE International Conference on, pp. 293–295 (2011).
- [92] A. Dimoulas, P. Tsipas, A. Sotiropoulos, and E. K. Evangelou, "Fermi-level Pinning and Charge Neutrality Level in Germanium," Appl. Phys. Letts. 89, 252110 (2006).
- [93] T. Nishimura, K. Kita, and A. Toriumi, "Evidence for Strong Fermi-level Pinning Due to Metal-induced Gap States at Metal/Germanium Interface," Appl. Phys. Letts. 91, 123123 (2007).
- [94] Y. Zhou, M. Ogawa, X. Han, and K. L. Wang, "Alleviation of Fermi-level Pinning Effect on Metal/Germanium Interface by Insertion of an Ultrathin Aluminum Oxide," Appl. Phys. Letts. 93, 202105 (2008).

- [95] K. Gallacher, P. Velha, D. J. Paul, I. MacLaren, M. Myronov, and D. R. Leadley, "Ohmic contacts to n-type germanium with low specific contact resistivity," Appl. Phys. Letts. 100, 022113 (2012).
- [96] K. F. Gallacher, P. Velha, D. J. Paul, I. Maclaren, M. Myronov, and D. R. Leadly, "Low Specific Ohmic Contacts to n-type Germanium Using a Low Temperature NiGe Process," ECS Trans. 50, 1081–1084 (2013).
- [97] J. Hartmann, V. Loup, G. Rolland, P. Holliger, F. Laugier, C. Vannuffel, and M. Semeria, "SiGe Growth Kinetics and Doping in Reduced Pressure-chemical Vapor Deposition," J. Crystal Growth 236, 10 – 20 (2002).
- [98] M. Koike, Y. Kamata, T. Ino, D. Hagishima, K. Tatsumura, M. Koyama, and A. Nishiyama, "Diffusion and Activation of n-type Dopants in Germanium," J. Appl. Phys. **104**, 023523 (2008).
- [99] G. Thareja, S. L. Cheng, T. Kamins, K. Saraswat, and Y. Nishi, "Electrical Characteristics of Germanium n<sup>+</sup>/ p Junctions Obtained Using Rapid Thermal Annealing of Coimplanted P and Sb," IEEE Elec. Dev. Letts. **32**, 608–610 (2011).
- [100] Z. Li, X. An, M. Li, Q. Yun, M. Lin, M. Li, X. Zhang, and R. Huang, "Low Electron Schottky Barrier Height of NiGe/Ge Achieved by Ion Implantation After Germanidation Technique," IEEE Elec. Dev. Letts. 33, 1687–1689 (2012).
- [101] J.-Y. Lin, A. Roy, and K. Saraswat, "Reduction in Specific Contact Resistivity to n<sup>+</sup> Ge Using TiO<sub>2</sub> Interfacial Layer," Electron Device Letters, IEEE 33, 1541–1543 (2012).
- [102] J.-Y. J. Lin, A. M. Roy, A. Nainani, Y. Sun, and K. C. Saraswat, "Increase in Current Density for Metal Contacts to n-Germanium by Inserting TiO<sub>2</sub> Interfacial Layer to Reduce Schottky Barrier Height," Appl. Phys. Letts. 98, 092113 (2011).
- [103] P. Paramahans Manik, R. Kesh Mishra, V. Pavan Kishore, P. Ray, A. Nainani, Y.-C. Huang, M. C. Abraham, U. Ganguly, and S. Lodha, "Fermi-Level Unpinning and Low Resistivity in Contacts to n-type Ge with a Thin ZnO Interfacial Layer," Appl. Phys. Letts. 101, - (2012).
- [104] Z.-W. Zheng, T.-C. Ku, M. Liu, and A. Chin, "Ohmic Contact on n-type Ge Using Yb-germanide," Appl. Phys. Letts. 101, 223501–223501–3 (2012).
- [105] S. F. Nelson and T. N. Jackson, "Ohmic Contacts to n-type Silicon-germanium," Applied Physics Letters 69, 3563–3565 (1996).

- [106] D. Schroder, Semiconductor Material and Device Characterization (IEEE Press, 2006).
- [107] S. M. Sze and K. K. Ng, Physics of semiconductor devices (John Wiley & Sons, 2006).
- [108] V. Heine, "Theory of Surface States," Phys. Rev. 138, A1689–A1696 (1965).
- [109] S. Brotzmann and H. Bracht, "Intrinsic and Extrinsic Diffusion of Phosphorus, Arsenic, and Antimony in Germanium," Journal of Applied Physics 103, – (2008).
- [110] C. Claeys and E. Simoen, in Germanium-based Technologies: From Materials to Devices, First, ed., (Elsevier, 2007).
- [111] R. W. Kelsall *et al.*, "(Invited) Germanium/Silicon Heterostructures for Terahertz Emission," ECS Transactions 50, 763–771 (2013).
- [112] J. Klootwijk and C. Timmering, "Merits and Limitations of Circular TLM Structures for Contact Resistance Determination for Novel III-V HBTs," In Proc. Int. Conf. Microelect. Test Struc., pp. 247 – 252 (2004).
- [113] N. Stavitski, M. J. H. Van Dal, A. Lauwers, C. Vrancken, A. Kovalgin, and R. A. M. Wolters, "Systematic TLM Measurements of NiSi and PtSi Specific Contact Resistance to n- and p-Type Si in a Broad Doping Range," Electron Device Letters, IEEE 29, 378–381 (2008).
- [114] G. S. Marlow and M. B. Das, "The effects of contact size and non-zero metal resistance on the determination of specific contact resistance," Solid-State Electronics 25, 91 – 94 (1982).
- [115] R. F. Egerton, Electron Energy-Loss Specroscopy in the Electron Microscope, 3rd ed. (Springer, 2011).
- [116] G. Binnig, C. F. Quate, and C. Gerber, "Atomic Force Microscope," Phys. Rev. Lett. 56, 930–933 (1986).
- [117] P. P. Edwards and M. J. Sienko, "Universality aspects of the metal-nonmetal transition in condensed media," Phys. Rev. B 17, 2575–2581 (1978).
- [118] C. S. Hung and J. R. Gliessman, "Resistivity and Hall Effect of Germanium at Low Temperatures," Phys. Rev. 96, 1226–1236 (1954).
- [119] A. Firrincieli, K. Martens, R. Rooyackers, B. Vincent, E. Rosseel, E. Simoen, J. Geypen, H. Bender, C. Claeys, and J. A. Kittl, "Study of ohmic contacts"

to n-type Ge: Snowplow and laser activation," Applied Physics Letters **99**, – (2011).

- [120] J. Verbeeck and S. Van Aert, "Model Based Quantification of EELS Spectra," Ultramicroscopy 101, 207–224 (2004).
- [121] J. Verbeeck, S. Van Aert, and G. Bertoni, "Model-based Quantification of EELS Spectra: Including the Fine Structure," Ultramicroscopy 106, 976–980 (2006).
- [122] D. A. B. Miller, "Quantum Wells For Optical Information Processing," Optical Engineering 26, 265368–265368– (1987).
- [123] Y. Sun, S. E. Thompson, and T. Nishida, Strain effect in semiconductors (Springer, 2010), Vol. 1.
- [124] D. A. B. Miller, "Optical Physics of Quantum Wells," Quantum Dynamics of Simple Systems," ed. G.-L. Oppo, SM Barnett, E. Riis, and M. Wilkinson (Institute of Physics, London, 1996) pp. 239–266 (1996).
- [125] J. H. Davies, The Physics of Low-dimensional Semiconductors: an Introduction (Cambridge University Press, 1998).
- [126] A. Trellakis, T. Zibold, T. Andlauer, S. Birner, R. Smith, R. Morschl, and P. Vogl, "The 3D Nanometer Device Project Nextnano: Concepts, Methods, Results," Journal of Computational Electronics 5, 285–289 (2006).
- [127] D. Paul, "8-band k.p Modeling of the Quantum Confined Stark Effect in Ge Quantum Wells on Si Substrates," Physical Review B 77, 155323 (2008).
- [128] R. Pierret, Semiconductor Device Fundamentals (Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, 1996).
- [129] J. M. Hartmann, A. Abbadie, A. M. Papon, P. Holliger, G. Rolland, T. Billon, J. M. Fedeli, M. Rouviere, L. Vivien, and S. Laval, "Reduced Pressure-Chemical Vapor Deposition of Ge Thick Layers on Si(001) for 1.3-1.55λ m photodetection," Journal of Applied Physics 95, 5905–5913 (2004).
- [130] B. Smith, Fundamentals of Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy, Second Edition (Taylor & Francis, 2011).
- [131] A. Drake, Fundamentals of Applied Probability Theory, McGraw-Hill series in probability and statistics (McGraw-Hill, 1967).
- [132] P. Chaisakul, D. Marris-Morini, G. Isella, D. Chrastina, X. L. Roux, E. Gatti, S. Edmond, J. Osmond, E. Cassan, and L. Vivien, "Quantum-confined Stark effect

measurements in Ge/SiGe quantum-well structures," Opt. Lett. **35**, 2913–2915 (2010).

- [133] D. A. B. Miller, "Energy consumption in optical modulators for interconnects," Opt. Express 20, A293–A308 (2012).
- [134] U. Koren, B. I. Miller, T. L. Koch, G. Eisenstein, R. S. Tucker, I. BarJoseph, and D. S. Chemla, "Lowloss InGaAs/InP multiple quantum well optical electroabsorption waveguide modulator," Applied Physics Letters 51, 1132–1134 (1987).
- [135] R. Pathak, K. Goossen, J. Cunningham, and W. Jan, "InGaAs-InP P-I (MQW)-N surface-normal electroabsorption modulators exhibiting better than 8:1 contrast ratio for 1.55-/spl mu/m applications grown by gas-source MBE," Photonics Technology Letters, IEEE 6, 1439–1441 (1994).
- [136] T. Ido, S. Tanaka, M. Suzuki, M. Koizumi, H. Sano, and H. Inoue, "Ultra-highspeed multiple-quantum-well electro-absorption optical modulators with integrated waveguides," Lightwave Technology, Journal of 14, 2026–2034 (1996).
- [137] P. Velha, K. Gallacher, D. Dumas, D. Paul, M. Myronov, and D. Leadley, "Tuning the Electroluminescence of n-Ge LEDs Using Process Induced Strain," In *Group IV Photonics (GFP), 2012 IEEE 9th International Conference on*, pp. 337–339 (2012).